
 

 

November 15, 2012 
 
Dear Board Members and Invited Guests: 
 
It’s time to saddle up and move ‘em out! It is a pleasure to welcome you to the fall meeting of the NAEA 
Board of Directors. As you know, we will be meeting in Fort Worth, Texas, on Friday, December 7 
through 1:00 pm Sunday December 9.  The Executive Committee will meet on Friday, December 7 
from 2:00 pm until 5:00 pm. The Board of Directors meeting will begin at 9:00 am on Saturday 
morning at the Amon Carter Museum of American Art. You will find details about the business 
meetings included in this packet. Dress for the weekend is business casual. 
 
Since our Super Summer Summit meeting, many things have been happening and a lot of very hard work 
has been done by each of you and I appreciate it. Elizabeth Willett and the NAEA staff have been 
working very hard to arrange a fabulous Convention and to insure that this Convention will provide the 
very best professional development experiences possible for all attendees. Many surprises are in store! 
Work on creating the new national visual arts standards through the National Coalition for Core Arts 
Standards (NCCAS) has been progressing very well. Dennis Inhulsen, Kathi Levin, and the standards 
writing team have shown stellar commitment to this historic contribution to art education. Dr. John Howell 
White and I led a group of 16 NAEA members who traveled to India as part of the second annual NAEA 
International Art Education Research Program. We learned a great deal about art education policy 
and programs. I made a trip to Tokyo, Japan to speak with our Japanese colleagues about current 
issues in art education in the US and what NAEA has been doing to shape national discussions. The 
committee appointed to create a proposal for establishing a new NAEA Student Division has concluded 
its work and submitted its report with recommendations for our consideration. Dr. White also will provide 
an update on the ongoing work of the NAEA Research Commission. Work on these and many other 
NAEA initiatives are progressing and your contributions to all of this work is of the utmost importance.   
 
Board materials that follow include the agenda, reports, financial information, and other information items 
needed for actions we will be taking or considering. As you can see, we have a full business agenda with 
some time set aside for Vice Presidents to make Delegates Assembly preparations, update work on 
position statements, and plan for your regional meetings at the Convention and for next summer’s 
regional meetings. Division Directors will have time to meet to continue your ongoing work with the 
Instructional Resources Gallery, regional award showcases, position statements, and Conversations with 
Colleagues business meetings at the Convention. All of these necessary activities help us meet our 
strategic plan and provide exemplary member services and professional development. 
 
As each of you knows, our field and the field of education are changing on an unprecedented scale. We 
are providing national leadership and NAEA represents the vanguard of professionalism in our field. 
NAEA has worked hard and it has grown in order to keep pace with these changes. We chose to see the 
evolving world of education as a set of opportunities to continuously improve the quality of art education 
in each art classroom, for every student, and for all art educators. We have many opportunities ahead 
and I am confident that each of you will provide the leadership and wisdom to shape the future of art 
education for all.  I look forward to continuing work with each of you in carrying the mission of the NAEA 
forward!  
 
Safe travels. See you soon. 

 
F. Robert Sabol, Ph. D. 
President,  
National Art Education Association 



FRIDAY,  DECEMBER 7
Omni Fort Worth Hotel
1300 Houston Street | Fort Worth, TX

Continued >>

A G E N D A

FALL 2012
BOARD MEETING

December 7-9 | Fort Worth, TX

2:00 – 5:00  Executive/Finance Committee 
Meeting
Room: Sundance 1

2:00 – 5:00 Informal Meetings: Regional VPs and
Division Directors
Room: Sundance 2

5:30 Yeehaw! 
Meet in the hotel lobby ready to 
experience Fort Worth culture �rsthand. 
Dress for Texas-style fun—jeans, boots, hats, 
and good humor!

SATURDAY,  DECEMBER 8

SATURDAY,  CONTINUED

Amon Carter Museum of American Art | Members Lounge
3501 Camp Bowie Boulevard | Fort Worth, TX

9:00 – 9:15  Welcome and Introductions
NAEA President, Bob Sabol

9:15 – 9:30  Welcome to Amon Carter Museum 
Stacy Fuller, Director of Education 

9:30 – 9:45   Overview of  Timed Agenda 

9:45 – 10:15     NAEA �scal year 2012 Audit Report 
Darrin Rogers, CPA Rogers and Company
 – Item 400/1 | Page 71

10:15 – 10:30 Break

10:30 – 11:15 NAEA Research Commission Report, 
John Howell White, Chair 
 – Item 3000/1 | Page 173

11:15 - Noon President’s Report
NAEA President, Bob Sabol    
 – Executive Committee
 – Action: Consent Agenda
        Item 100/1| Page 4
 – NAEA Delegation to India
 – NAEA Representation

Noon – 1:30  Lunch 

1:30 – 3:00 Student Chapter Proposal 
 – Ad hoc Committee report 
    Item 300/3 | Page 65
 – Discussion and action

3:00 – 3:45 Past President’s Report
NAEA Past President, Barry Shauck
 – Finance Committee
 – Action: Audit report
        Item 400/1 | Page 71
 – Action: Financial Reports
    Item 400/2 | Page 98
 – Action: Midyear Budget Revision
        Item 400/3 | Page 107
 – Update on Eisner Award Candidates

3:45 – 4:00 Break

4:00 – 4:45 President-Elect’s Report
NAEA President-Elect Dennis Inhulsen
 – Professional Materials Committee (PMC)
 – Core Arts Standards Writing Team Update
        and Project Timeline
 – NAEA Representation

5:00 – 6:00 To See as Artists See: American Art from 
The Phillips Collection



8:00 Breakfast 

8:30 – 9:30 Division Director Reports
 – Elementary, Kirby Meng 
 – Middle Level, Linda Kieling
 – Secondary, Lynn Felts 
 – Higher Education, James Rolling, Jr.
 – Supervision/Administration, Barbara Laws
 – Museum Education, Anne Manning

9:30 – 10:15 Vice President Reports 
 – Eastern, Linda Popp
 – Paci�c, Penelope Venola
 – Southeastern, Debra Pylypiw
 – Western, Laura Milas

10:15 – 10:30 Break

10:30 – 11:15 Governance Legal Review
 – Action: Amendments to Bylaws
    Item 4000/1 | Page 210

11:15 – 11:45 NAEA Awards Program 
 – Discussion and appointment of Board
        Ad-hoc Committee  
        Item 800/5 | Page 157  

11:45- Noon Wrap Up and Adjourn 

SUNDAY,  DECEMBER 9
Omni Fort Worth Hotel | Sundance 1
1300 Houston Street | Fort Worth, TX



 

NAEA Board of Directors      Item Number: 100/1  
     
 
ITEM:  CALL TO ORDER AND CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Approval of Schedule of Activities and December Meeting Agenda  
 
Friday, December 7 - The Executive/Finance Committee will meet from 2:00 – 5:00 pm in Sundance 1 (3

rd
 

floor, Omni Fort Worth, 1300 Houston Street).   Meeting space has been reserved for the Vice Presidents 
and Division Directors to meet informally from 2:00 – 5:00 in Sundance 2 (3

rd
 floor, Omni) at their 

discretion for planning and development work related to the Platform Working Group and 2013 Delegates 
Assembly and the Instructional Resources Gallery/Virtual Community of Practice. There will be an 
evening event at the Stockyards which will include dinner and a rodeo.  Come dressed in your best Texas 
outfit!  Please meet in the hotel lobby at 5:30 pm. 
 
Saturday, December 8 - The Board will meet at the Amon Carter Museum (3501 Camp Bowie Boulevard, 
Fort Worth, TX 76107) from 9:00 am – 5:00 pm in meeting room Members Lounge.  Please have 
breakfast on your own before leaving for the Amon Carter Museum. Everyone will meet in the main lobby 
of the hotel at 8:30 am and we will take a short cab ride in small groups over to the Amon Carter.  Since 
we are a small group, this will cut down on expenses for travel.  Please keep all receipts for 
reimbursement. Lunch will be brought into the meeting room.  Stacy Fuller, Director of Education, will 
greet the Board and welcome everyone to the museum.  Beginning at 5:00 pm, there will be a private 
guided tour of the museum‘s current special exhibition, To See as Artists See: American Art from The 
Phillips Collection (http://www.cartermuseum.org/exhibitions/to-see-as-artists-see-american-art-from-the-
phillips-collection) which will conclude at approximately 6:00 pm.  Stacy Fuller will also conduct this 
private tour for the Board. Dinner will be on your own.  
 
As a reminder, NAEA reimburses a daily per diem of $64; receipts not required.  The daily per diem is 
available to use, at each Board member‘s discretion for incidental expenses; including expenses used for 
meals, beverages, snacks and tips not already covered by NAEA. 
 
Sunday, December 9 – The Board will meet from 8:30 am - 12:00 noon in Sundance 1 (3

rd
 floor, Omni 

Fort Worth).  Breakfast will be available beginning at 8:00 am.  
 
NAEA staff in attendance will be Chief Operating Officer, Melanie Dixon.   Also in attendance will be John 
Howell White, Chair of the NAEA Research Commission, and Darrin Rogers, CPA, Rogers & Company, 
NAEA auditors. 
 
The Omni is providing everyone with complimentary Internet in your sleeping rooms and complimentary 
access to the fitness center.  Please verify this information upon your check in. 
 
All board members are encouraged to review the full agenda for informational and discussion purposes 
and action as so deemed. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
 
In an effort to increase meeting effectiveness and free up time for strategic thinking and discussion, 
NAEA began using the consent agenda format fall 2007.  The consent agenda groups routine and self-
explanatory issues under one umbrella to be acted upon in one motion and includes items that the 
Executive/Finance Committee has acted upon between meetings that require ratification. The items do 
not require discussion before being voted on. Supporting documents are included in the Board Agenda 
Book for review. The following items are included: 
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•Schedule of Activities and Meeting Agenda   
•July 2012 Board of Director Meeting Minutes 
•Board Meeting Dates (Spring/Summer 2013) (we will be confirming dates/location for fall in near future) 
•Ratification of approval of extension of NAEA‘s lease agreement with NAfME for an additional term of 
August 1, 2012 – July 31, 2015 (Item 4000/2).   
•Ratification of 2013 Election Candidates (Item 200/1) 
•Ratification of Affiliation Request from Art Education District of Columbia (Item 800/3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 
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NAEA BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
December 7-9, 2012 

Omni Fort Worth 
1300 Houston Street 

Fort Worth, TX 
 

AGENDA 
 

AREA 100 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
100/1  Call to Order and Consent Agenda 
 
  •July 2012 Board of Director Meeting Minutes 

•Board Meeting Dates (Spring Summer 2013) (we will be confirming dates/location for fall 
in near future) 
•Ratification of approval of extension of NAEA‘s lease agreement with NAfME for an 
additional term of August 1, 2012 – July 31, 2015 (Item 4000/2).   
•Ratification of 2013 Election Candidates (Item 200/1) 
•Ratification of Affiliation Request from Art Education District of Columbia (Item 800/3) 

 
100/2  President Report                 page 18 
  Regional Leadership Conferences (Item 700/2)  

Special Committees (Purposes, Facilities, and Board Ad-Hoc Committee to Study the 
Creation of a Student Division)  

  NAEA Research Commission  
  National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) Leadership Update 
 
100/3  Executive Director Report        page 22 
  Staffing (Item 600/1)       

Membership (Item 800/1) 
  Convention (Item 500/1)   
  Policy and Planning (Item 4000) 
       
100/4  Past President Report                 page 28 

Audit Report FY2012 Finance Committee Reports and Recommendations (Item 400/2) 
FY2013 Midyear Budget Revision (Item 400/3)   

  
100/5  President-Elect Report               page 29 
  Professional Materials Committee Update 
  NAEA Awards 
  National Standards Writing Team Update (Item 3000/2)      
 
100/6  Division Director Reports          page 31 

Elementary, Kirby Meng  
Middle, Linda Kieling 
Secondary, Lynn Felts  
Higher Education, James Rolling, Jr.  
Supervision/Administration, Barbara Laws 
Museum, Anne Manning  

 
100/7  Vice President Reports           page 46 
  Platform Working Group Report   
  Eastern Region, Linda Popp 

Pacific Region, Penelope Venola 
Southeastern Region, Debra Pylypiw 
Western Region, Laura Milas 
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AREA 200 – ELECTION OF OFFICERS  
 
200/1  2013 Candidates for President-Elect, Division Directors-elect 

and Special Election for Eastern Region Vice President-elect             page 62 
 
AREA 300 – SPECIAL COMMITTEES  
 
300/1  Purposes, Principles and Standards for School Art Programs Revision Committee  

page 63 
 
300/2  Design Standards for School Art Facilities Review Committee        page 64 
 
300/3  Board Ad-hoc Committee to Study Student Division Status       page 65 
 
AREA 400 – FINANCE    
   
400/1  FY2012 Audited Financial Statements   page 71 
 
400/2  FY2013 Financial Reports   page 98 
  
400/3  FY2013 Midyear Budget Revision page 107 
 
400/4  NAEA Group Tax Exemption – Annual Update page 116 
   
AREA 500 – NATIONAL CONVENTION 
 
500/1 2013 National Convention Overview   page 117 
 
500/2 2014 and Beyond    page 119 
 
500/3 Appointment of 2015 NAEA National Convention Program Co-Coordinators    page 120 
 
AREA 600 – PERSONNEL  
 
600/1  Headquarters Staff page 121 
   
AREA 700 – CONFERENCES 
 
700/1 State Conferences    page 122 
   
700/2 Regional Leadership Conferences   page 123 
  
AREA 800 – MEMBERSHIP  
 
800/1  Member Services Overview   page 124 
 
800/2  Class of 2013 Distinguished Fellows  page 130 
 
800/3  Affiliation Request from Art Education District of Columbia       page 131 
 
800/4  2013 NAEA Member Needs Assessment Survey                     page 149 
   
800/5  Awards Program   page 157 
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AREA 900 – MARKETING/COMMUNICATIONS  
 
900/1  NAEA Website      page 159 
 
900/2  Visual Communications/Marketing    page 162 
    
AREA 1000 – PUBLICATIONS AND SUBSCRIPTIONS   
 
1000/1   Publications Overview    page 164 
 
AREA 2000 - PUBLIC RELATIONS AND OUTREACH 
   
2000/1  SummerVision DC 2013    page 166 
 
2000/2  NAEA Cooperative Partnerships           page 168 
 
2000/3  Alliance for Young Artists & Writers Memorandum of Understanding        page 170 
 
AREA 3000 – RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE  
 
3000/1      NAEA Research Commission Update               page 173 
 
3000/2  National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) page 192 
 
3000/3  Position Paper on Media Arts                 page 196 
 
AREA 4000 – POLICY AND PLANNING 
 
4000/1  NAEA Constitution/Bylaws Legal Review and Recommendations      page 210 
 
4000/2  NAEA Interim Headquarters Lease Agreement                            page 223 
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Spring Board Meeting:  The sitting Board will meet in Fort Worth at the Omni Fort Worth; travel days will 
be Tuesday, March 5 and Sunday, March 10 unless distance requires earlier travel.   
 
March 5 & 10, 2013 
Omni Fort Worth 
 
Tuesday, March 5 — The Executive/Finance Committee will meet from 10:00 am – 1:00 pm.  The sitting 
Board will meet from 2:00 – 5:00 pm. 
 
Sunday, March 10 — The Sitting Board will meet from 10:30 am – 1:00 pm. 
 
Summer 2013 Board Meeting:  The sitting Board, Elects, Student Officers, and Advisor will meet at the 
NAEA headquarters in Reston, VA; travel days will be Friday, July 19 and Sunday, July 21 unless 
distance requires earlier travel.   
 
July 19-21, 2013 
NAEA headquarters, Reston, VA and Hyatt Regency Reston 
 
Friday, July 19 – The Executive/Finance Committee will meet from 2:00 – 5:00 pm. 
 
Saturday, July 20 – The Sitting Board, Elects, and Student Officers and Advisor will meet from 9:00 am – 
5:00 pm.  Dinner will be on your own. 
 
Sunday, July 21 – The Sitting Board, Elects, and Student Officers and Advisor will meet from 9:00 am – 
1:00 pm.   
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NATIONAL ART EDUCATION ASSOCIATION 
1806 Robert Fulton Drive, Suite 300 

Reston, VA 20191 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Louisville, Kentucky 

July 21 – 22, 2012 
 

MINUTES 
(Not official until approved) 

 
The meeting of the NAEA Board of Directors was called to order by President Sabol at 9:11 am on 
Saturday, July 21, 2012 at the Marriott Downtown Louisville, in Louisville, KY.     
 
Present were: 

 
President: F. Robert Sabol 
President-Elect: Dennis Inhulsen 
Past President: R. Barry Shauck 
Director, Elementary: Kirby Meng 
Director-Elect, Elementary: Nancy Walkup 
Director, Middle: Linda Kieling 
Director-Elect, Middle: Kimberly Cairy 
Director, Secondary: Lynn Felts 
Director-Elect, Secondary: James Rees 
Director, Higher Education: James Rolling, Jr. 
Director-Elect, Higher Education: Flavia Bastos 
Director, Supervision/Administration: Barbara Laws 
Director-Elect, Supervision/Administration: Angela Fischer 
Director, Museum: Anne Manning 
Vice President, Eastern: Linda Popp 
Vice President, Pacific: Penelope Venola 
Vice President-Elect, Pacific: Patrick Fahey 
Vice President, Southeastern: Debra Pylypiw 
Vice President-Elect, Southeastern: Debi West 
Vice President, Western: Laura Milas 
Vice President-Elect, Western: Elizabeth Willett 
Student Chapter Advisor: Amy Pfeiler-Wunder 
Student Chapter President-Elect: Kayla Gale 
Student Chapter Past President: Amanda Batson 
NAEA Executive Director: Deborah B. Reeve 
 
Not Present: 
 
Direct-Elect, Museum: Jacqueline Terrassa 
Student Chapter President: Melissa Schaefer 
 
NAEA Staff Present: 
 
Chief Operating Officer:  Melanie Dixon 
 
Prior to calling the full meeting of the Board of Directors to order, the Executive/Finance Committee met 
from 2:00 pm – 5:00 pm ET on Friday, July 20, 2012 in meeting room Bluegrass I/II at the Marriott 
Downtown Louisville.  Comprehensive financial and investment reports for the period ending May 31, 
2012 were reviewed and discussed.   Additional agenda items included discussion on the interim lease 
agreement for NAEA Headquarters, a presentation of the association‘s investment portfolio by Dennis 
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Gogarty from Raffa Wealth Management, discussion and review of the Executive Directors‘ Annual 
Performance Evaluation (conducted in Executive Session).   Minutes from this meeting are recorded and 
maintained at NAEA Headquarters. 
 
President Sabol called the meeting to order and acknowledged the tragic events that recently occurred in 
Colorado and ended the lives of twelve individuals by calling for a moment of silence.   
 
President Sabol welcomed all to Louisville, noting that many had long trips and adventurous travels to 
Kentucky – noting all as part of the commitment to Board service and leadership.  President Sabol 
reflected on the full meeting agenda and work ahead, highlighting that Saturday‘s meeting focuses on 
Board development engaging both Board members and Elects while Sunday‘s agenda addresses the 
business of the Board and provides the unique opportunity for those in Elect roles to observe the Board‘s 
work.  The intention of the development activities is to provide an overview of association operations; to 
orient new Board members and Elects – as well as the remaining Board members – to reflect upon each 
individual‘s role as a Board leader.  President Sabol also acknowledged MacArthur Goodwin, Chair of the 
National Art education Foundation and former NAEA President, and student chapter representatives 
present. He invited all in attendance to give a brief introduction of their name, membership division, and 
hometown.   
 
President Sabol underscored the important responsibility of Board service that relies upon the ability to 
effectively communicate with NAEA‘s membership in meaningful ways.  The role of Board leaders is to 
guide, nurture, and inform members in terms of national issues and in support of the association‘s 
mission.  President Sabol noted key components of board service, to include the importance of 
transparency and leaders‘ roles as both teachers and students.  
 
President Sabol recognized the incoming Vice Presidents: Vice President Eastern, Linda Popp; Vice 
President Southeastern, Deb Pylypiw; Vice President Pacific, Penelope Venola; and Vice President 
Western, Laura Milas,  by presenting an NAEA Board of Directors lapel pin and special canvas laptop 
bag.   
 
NAEA FINANCIAL POLICIES/INVESTMENTS 
 
President Sabol reported that the NAEA Executive/Finance Committee met on Friday, July 20 and 
recognized NAEA Chief Operating Officer, Melanie Dixon, for her work in providing the Committee and 
Board with meaningful reports, guidance, and financial analysis.  Past President and Finance Committee 
Chair, Barry Shauck, was commended for his leadership of the Committee and stewardship of the 
financial reporting.  President Sabol introduced special guest, Dennis Gogarty, President of Raffa Wealth 
Management, as NAEA‘s investment advisor to provide a report on the status of NAEA‘s investment 
portfolio. 
 
Mr. Gogarty provided background information on Raffa Wealth Management, noting the firm‘s 
commitment to service within the nonprofit industry with enhanced transparency, guidance, and strategic 
support.  Mr. Gogarty reported on how Raffa Wealth Management was selected by the NAEA Board of 
Directors in 2009 and reflected on the process of drafting the Board-approved Investment Policies that 
align the association‘s strategic plan and operations with the investment portfolio.  Per the Board‘s 
direction in 2009, Raffa assisted the association with establishing policies that support NAEA reserve 
accounts in three areas: operating reserve, short-term reserve, and long-term reserve.   
 
Investment Performance reports were reviewed, in detail, noting a year-to-date return of 0.7% for the 
Short-Term Reserve; which held assets of $441,818 as of June 30, 2012.  The Long-Term Reserve 
showed a year-to-date return of 4.0% and assets of $1,615,375 as of June 30, 2012. Further, Mr. Gogarty 
reviewed the asset allocation for each portfolio and discussed NAEA‘s performance as consistent with 
applicable market benchmarks. 
 
ORGANIZATIONAL VIBRANCY 
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President Sabol introduced a presentation on NAEA‘s history, mission, and vision and spoke to the 
organization‘s 65 years of rich history, progress, and organizational transformation.  Past President 
Shauck presented information related to NAEA‘s governance structure, roles of the Board of Directors 
and of the Executive/Finance Committee, roles of each of the Division Directors and Vice Presidents, and 
role of the Executive Director.  Executive Director Reeve reported on NAEA‘s organizational and staffing 
structure.  President-Elect Inhulsen noted that service on the Board fulfills the need to be a part of a high 
functioning team.  President-Elect Inhulsen highlighted the aspects of Board leadership that ensure 
organizational vibrancy, including Board leaders as ambassadors, with direct oversight of legal, fiscal, 
and ethical responsibilities.  President Sabol presented an interactive conversation on the 12 Principles of 
Governance that Power Exceptional Boards; including constructive partnerships, being mission driven, 
engaging in strategic thinking and inquiry, and having an ethos of transparency.   
 
NAEA AND THE NATIONAL ART EDUCATION FOUNDATION 
 
President Sabol recognized special guest, Mac Arthur Goodwin, Chair of the National Art Education 
Foundation and an NAEA Past President.  NAEF Chair Goodwin provided an overview of the role of 
NAEF and of the relationship between NAEA and NAEF noting that NAEF was established for the 
purpose of supporting the goals and mission of NAEA.   
 
2011-2014 STRATEGIC PLAN:  YEAR 1 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 
Executive Director Reeve presented data and information on Year I progress towards goals as outlined in 
the 2011 – 2014 NAEA Strategic Plan.  Highlights included growth of just over 500 new members with 31 
states experiencing an overall increase in membership during the NAEA fiscal year 2012; launch of the 
NAEA Convention App at the 2012 NAEA National Convention in New York; an increase in NAHS/NJAHS 
Chapters, reaching an all-time high number of students (46,114); launch of the Art Matters advocacy 
merchandise; introduction of the advocacy White Papers for Art Education; participation in the National 
Coalition for Core Arts Standards; record attendance at the NAEA National Convention in New York; an 
increase in the number of lesson plans added to the Instructional Resource Gallery; establishment of the 
NAEA Visual Arts Standards Writing Team and the NAEA Research Commission; publication of 4 new 
books; increased sales of NAEA products by 8% compared to the prior year; launch of the Art Education 
Resource Guide; introduction of member exit surveys; branding of the NAEA Regional Conferences; and 
an increase of 13% in the growth of net assets as of May 31, 2012. 
 
She ended the presentation by acknowledging the tremendous efforts put forth by President Sabol, and 
NAEA Officers, Board members and Elects and NAEA staff that have resulted in a banner year for NAEA. 
She presented each Board member and Elect with HD Flip Cameras and challenged each to capture the 
stories that make compelling cases for ‗why‘ Art Matters by creating short 1 ½ - 3 minute video essays 
that align with each of the five NAEA goals to be used as NAEA introduces its own YouTube channel this 
next year.   
 
LEADERS AS BUILDERS OF STRONG PROFESSIONAL COMMUNITIES 
 
President Sabol facilitated a brief discussion on the assigned pre-readings that were included in the 
Board meeting materials related to building community in membership organizations.  The Board was 
assigned to small groups to discuss their assigned reading and to create a short instructional film that 
highlights the meaning of the reading.   
 
Following a viewing of the short instructional films, President Sabol called for Executive Session at 4:40 
p.m. for the Board to discuss the Performance Review of the Executive Director.  Minutes of this meeting 
were captured and filed at NAEA Headquarters.   
 
Sunday, July 22, 2012 
 
President Sabol called the meeting of the NAEA Board of Directors to order at 8:06 am at the Marriott 
Downtown Louisville.  President Sabol acknowledged the Board‘s time spent the previous night in the 
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NuLu District, as hosted by the Louisville Convention and Visitors Bureau.  Introducing the ambitious 
agenda ahead, President Sabol reminded the Board and Elects of protocols that limit discussion and 
action by the sitting Board only.   
 
APPROVAL OF SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITIES AND AGENDA 
 
President Sabol concluded his welcome by reviewing the meeting agenda, upcoming meeting dates, and 
consent agenda items. 
 

Motion 1 was MOVED and CARRIED by Barbara Laws, seconded by Barry Shauck, to 
approve the Consent Agenda: 

 
•Schedule of Activities and Meeting Agenda   
•March 2012 Board of Director Meeting Minutes 
•Board Meeting Dates (Fall 12 – Summer 13)  
•Ratification of 2013 Nominating Committee (Item 200/2) 
•Special Election for Vice President-Elect position (Item 200/1) 
•SEADAE White Paper on the Roles of Certified Arts Educators, Certified Non-     Arts 
Educators, & Providers of Supplemental Arts Instruction (Item 3000/1) 
•Appointment of individuals to the NAEA Visual Arts Writing Team (Item 4000/1) 
•DCAEA Termination of Affiliation with NAEA (Item 800/2) 

 
PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
President Sabol referenced his written President‘s Report which provided comprehensive details for the 
President‘s activities in support of NAEA‘s strategic plan and goals.  President Sabol highlighted his 
participation in conference calls with members of the Leadership Team of the National Coalition for Core 
Arts Standards (NCCAS) and attendance at the NCCAS Leadership and Visual Arts Standards Writing 
Team meeting in Reston, VA.  President Sabol commended President-Elect Inhulsen for his leadership in 
chairing the Visual Arts Writing Team as the new standards will impact how art is taught throughout the 
world.   
 
President Sabol reported on the invitation to attend the Art Education of Association of Japan‘s annual 
conference and authorship of an article for their professional journal.  President Sabol also reported on 
the work of the NAEA Research Commission that met in Alexandria, VA in June 2012.  Commission Co-
Chair, John Howell White, will attend the December 2012 Board of Directors meeting to provide a full 
update on the work of the Commission.   
 
President Sabol gave an update on the termination of NAEA affiliate status for the District of Columbia Art 
Education Association (DCAEA).  In response to ongoing member complaints, NAEA staff leaders met 
with DCAEA‘s leadership to express concern on the organization‘s lack of adherence to their 
Constitution/Bylaws.  After careful thought and consideration, the Executive/Finance Committee took 
action to terminate DCAEA affiliation status with NAEA.  Additionally, Executive Director Reeve shared 
that a group of leaders in DC are interested in forming a new organization in the District to represent the 
visual arts educators in our nation‘s capitol – and expects to submit a formal proposal for affiliation to the 
NAEA Board in the near future. 
 
President Sabol presented an agenda item related to implementation of an NAEA State Association 
Affiliation Agreement that clarifies the expectations for affiliation with NAEA and further defines the 
relationship between NAEA and state organizations. 
 

Motion 2 was MOVED and CARRIED by Kirby Meng, seconded by Barbara Laws to approve and 
implement the NAEA State Association Affiliate Agreement, as presented.   
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Executive Director Reeve was called upon to present proposed revisions to the NAEA definition of Visual 
Arts originally created in 1994.  The revision acknowledges media arts and emerging technologies that 
refine the definition to reflect contemporary instructional practices in visual arts education. 
 

Motion 3 was MOVED and CARRIED by Linda Popp, seconded by James Rolling, Jr. to accept 
the revised definition of Visual Arts, as presented.   
 
VISUAL ARTS, as defined by the National Art Education Association, include the traditional fine 
arts such as drawing, painting, printmaking, photography and sculpture; media arts including film, 
graphic communications, animation and emerging technologies;  architectural,  environmental 
and industrial arts such as urban, interior, product and landscape design; folk arts; and works of 
art such as ceramics, fibers, jewelry, works in wood, paper, and other materials. (NAEA, revised 
July 2012) 
 

President Sabol presented the appointments for 2013 Nominating Committee and thanked Board 
members for their recommendations.  He noted the use of a rubric for making committee assignments 
that ensures applicable representation based on region and division.   
 

Motion 4 was MOVED and CARRIED by Debra Pylypiw, seconded by Penelope Venola, to 
accept the 2013 Nominating Committee, as presented.   

 
President Sabol called attention to Agenda Item 4000/7:  NAEA Policy:  Part I, Section H. Nominations 
and Elections. He acknowledged that this item represented the final component of revisions to the NAEA 
Policy Manual.  Reflecting on the very deliberate and reflective process which began four years ago and 
Co-Chaired with Susan Gabbard, President Sabol presented the newly proposed policy related to 
Election Violations.  The Board discussed the need to establish similar policies related to conflicts of 
interest and ethics for the NAEA Awards Program; this item will be added to the December 2012 Board of 
Directors meeting agenda. 
 

Motion 5 was MOVED and CARRIED by Laura Milas, seconded by Lynn Felts to accept the new 
policy, Part I, Section H. 7b, regarding Election Violations. 

 
President Sabol called attention to Item 200/3: Student Chapter Proposal.  He noted the presentation 
made during the March 2012 meeting of the Board and invited discussion and comments among Board 
members. He reminded Board members that deliberation and action will be taken during the December 
meeting of the Board and called for further identification of additional elements that need to be explored.  
The Board engaged in a dynamic discussion and identified a number of items for further information, 
including:  clarification around the overlap of current NAEA membership divisions and classes of 
membership with the proposed Early Professional Division; impact of expanding the definition of Division 
Director in recognition that current Board Director positions are based on job category and the proposed 
Early Professional Division would be based on a period of time category; the impact on the current 2,600 
students in the Student Member category; impact on cross-division research, the NAEA Research 
Commission, and NAEA Awards programs; how does NAEA best serve the needs of the existing Student 
Member and what benefits or services will be needed to serve the needs of the proposed Early 
Professional Division and how that may differ; impact on dues structure both nationally and at the state 
level and potential impact on the state association Bylaws; system limitations on setting time restraints on 
a membership category – NAEA‘s current database cannot track or manage this type of dynamic 
information; potential impact on convention registration rates and member benefits; and clarification of 
student representation through the regional directors under each Division Director.  President Sabol 
appointed an ad hoc committee to further explore and completely vet the proposed Early Professional 
Division. The ad hoc committee will report back to the Board with responses to the issues identified as 
part of the Board‘s meeting agenda for deliberation December 2012.  President Sabol appointed Past 
President Shauck to Chair the ad hoc committee; members include James Rolling, Jr., Anne Manning, 
Barbara Laws, and Debra Pylypiw. Student chapter leaders were recognized for their efforts in bringing 
such a discussion to the forefront as NAEA continues to address ember engagement in timely and 
meaningful ways.   
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President Sabol reported on the proposed appointment of Dr. Cris Guenter to serve as the 2014 NAEA 
National Convention Program Coordinator.  
 

Motion 6 was MOVED and CARRIED by Penelope Venola, seconded by Lynn Felts to approve 
the appointment of Dr. Cris Guenter as the 2014 NAEA National Convention Program 
Coordinator.   

 
PRESIDENT-ELECT REPORT 
 
President-Elect Inhulsen reported on progress related to writing the next generation of standards for 
visual arts education.  He engaged Elects in a presentation of the framework being used to guide the 
work. The Board was encouraged to review progress as the work develops by visiting 
http://nccas.wikispaces.com.  The Board commended the transparency of the work of NCCAS and the 
writing team and applauded President-Elect Inhulsen‘s leadership.  President-Elect Inhulsen noted that 
distribution of the new standards, once complete and approved, is an opportunity for the NAEA Board 
members to provide world-class leadership in educating members about the standards and addressing 
professional development implications related to the new standards as a historical development in the 
field of education.   
 
Within the role as Chair of the Professional Materials Committee (PMC), President-Elect Inhulsen 
expressed gratitude to NAEA Publications Manager, Lynn Ezell, for her assistance in supporting the work 
of the committee and noted that two proposals are out for review. 
 
PAST PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
President Sabol called upon Past President Shauck to present the Past President‘s report.  
As Finance Committee Chair, Past President Shauck called attention to the FY2012 Financial Reports for 
period ending May 31, 2012.  Providing a thorough explanation of the Board-approved action in 2007 to 
reallocate $1 million from NAEA‘s reserve to fund key strategic initiatives, Past President Shauck 
commended Executive Director Reeve for her initiative and oversight of this important action which was 
key to NAEA‘s organizational transformation.   
 
Past President Shauck called upon NAEA Chief Operating Officer, Melanie Dixon, to provide an overview 
of the association‘s Statements of Financial Position and Activities for period ending May 31, 2012 and 
discussed in detail by the Executive/Finance Committee on Friday, July 20, 2012. 
 
For the period ending May 31, 2012, Ms. Dixon noted that the NAEA‘s Statement of Financial Position 
showed unaudited net assets of $2,755,564. The Statement of Activities was also reviewed, showing an 
unaudited surplus of $516,588 as compared to the FY12 Board-approved operating budget.  Ms. Dixon 
further noted that NAEA‘s investment portfolio is performing consistent with market trends, and as 
reported by Mr. Gogarty, showing a year-to-date return of  4% for the long-term reserve and a year-to-
date gain of .7% for the short-term reserve. The NAEA portfolio, totaled $2,126,223 for the period ending 
May 31, 2012. 
 

Motion 7 was MOVED and CARRIED by Kirby Meng, seconded by Linda Kieling, to 
accept the FY2012 financial reports, as recommended by the NAEA Executive/Finance 
Committee.   

 
DIVISION DIRECTOR REPORTS 
 
President Sabol recognized the important leadership roles shared by the Division Directors in carrying out 
their responsibilities and called upon each to present highlights from their written reports and other 
updates.  
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Anne Manning, Museum Division Director, referenced her written report and commended the work of 
Museum Division Director-Elect, Jacqueline Terrassa, for planning the NAEA Museum Division 
Preconference.  Preconference statistics were shared, including 32% attending the Preconference were 
first time attendees; 22% were second or third Preconference attendees; and 16% were students or new 
to the field.  The Museum Education Division overall has experienced growth over the last year with 130 
new members.  Ms. Manning further reported that plans are underway for next year‘s Preconference in 
Fort Worth, with the potential theme of ―participatory museum.‖  Referencing the layoffs at the J. Paul 
Getty Museum and NAEA‘s written response, Ms. Manning noted that the activities and NAEA‘s response 
generated critical conversations in the field.  President Sabol commended Ms. Manning and Kim 
Kanatani/Guggenheim, Peggy Fogelman/Metropolitan, Randi Korn, and Jackie Terrassa for their work in 
addressing the Getty Museum layoffs and NAEA response; he also cited the value of NAEA position 
statements and particularly, the position statement on Museum Education.   Ms. Manning also reported 
that she and Ms. Terrassa were able to attend the last day of programming at SummerVision DC 2012 
and were very impressed with the depth of learning and the community connections that are imbedded in 
this rich professional development experience.   
 
Elementary Division Director, Kirby Meng, referenced her written report and highlighted the division‘s 
work and activities, including work to grow the Instructional Resources Gallery (IRG) with the review of 7 
lessons for the current review cycle.  Additionally, the IRG review cycle has been enhanced to include a 
blind review of the lessons.  The IRG continues to grow organically and the Division Directors are 
responding to member feedback and continuing to improve the lessons, resources, and content.  Ms. 
Meng also reported that the Elementary NING continues to grow with almost 1,100 members; an increase 
of 100 people since the March 2012 report.  President Sabol applauded the efforts of the Division 
Directors in continuing to enhance the IRG.   
 
In addition to her written report, Linda Kieling, Middle Level Division Director, presented an update on 
revisions to the IRG form in response to author feedback.  Ms. Kieling noted that the Division is exploring 
the development of a newsletter to further build community and to share stories among division members.  
Further, Ms. Kieling also thanked Division Director-Elect Kim Cairy for setting up web tools for the division 
to use in sharing information and resources.   
 
Lynn Felts, Secondary Division Director, referenced her written report that included a highlight of activities 
related to the IRG and the recommendation by several readers to include a rubric for scope and 
sequence, which is not included in the lesson plan template.  Ms. Felts also reported on issues and 
concerns related to getting qualified teachers to submit lesson plans and the challenge to recruit authors 
for new plans.  Ms. Felts noted attendance at the Western and Southeastern conferences.   
 
Higher Education Division Director, James Rolling, Jr. reported on the Cross Division Action Research 
Working Group (CDRC) comprised of members across divisions and charged with developing structures 
that support and enable cross-division research collaboration.  The working group is planning a summer 
workshop, intended for developing short, medium, and long-range goals in alignment with the work of the 
Research Commission.  An update was also provided on the work of the Ad Hoc Research Steering 
Committee; and the Research Steering Committee.  Mr. Rolling commended Division Director-Elect, 
Flavia Bastos for her diligence, preparation, and support. 
 
Supervision and Administration Division Director, Barbara Laws, reported on the activities within the 
division including exploring a possible summer Supervision/Administration Conference to create time and 
space for renewal of the supervisor/administrator.  Dr. Laws also reported on the challenges of supporting 
one another that is inherent in working within a small division.  A proposal was submitted by the Division 
for continuation of the Issues Forum on Assessment in Fort Worth.  Dr. Laws also reported that 
professional development points are being awarded to teachers within her school district who submit a 
lesson plan to the IRG.    
 
Attention was called to the appointment of two new regional division directors. 
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Motion 8 was MOVED and CARRIED by Linda Kieling, seconded by Kirby Meng, to 1) 
approve LynnAlison McGavack Martin as the Pacific Region Elementary Director; and 2) 
approve Flowerree Galetovic as the Southeastern Region Secondary Director.   

 
President Sabol applauded the work of the Division Directors and thanked them for their leadership and 
service in advancing the mission of the association.   
 
VICE PRESIDENT REPORTS 
 
Eastern Region Vice President Linda Popp referenced her written report and provided an overview of 
recent activities including the Eastern Region Leadership Conference; an update on the status of DCAEA 
as previously reported; and the resignation of Vice President-Elect Patty Bode and special election for 
eastern region VP-Elect.    
 
Pacific Region Vice President, Penelope Venola, reported on the Pacific Region Leadership Conference 
and the continued focus on membership growth for upcoming fall conferences.  Additionally, Ms. Venola 
noted challenges expressed by the Hawaii leadership through legal litigation to address the relationship 
between the Hawaii State Department of Education and the Hawaii Art Education Association as it relates 
to the Scholastic Awards Program and the handling of related fees. Executive Director Reeve 
underscored NAEA as separate from HAEA and the recommendation to HAEA to seek legal counsel to 
represent and guide HAEA in this matter.    
 
Southeastern Vice President, Debra Pylypiw, referenced her written report and shared highlights from the 
Southeastern Region Leadership Conference; she reported the priority position statements identified by 
those in attendance at the leadership conference. 
 
Western Region Vice President, Laura Milas, reported on the Western Region Leadership Conference 
where 16 ideas were generated for position statements.  Additionally, she cited the need identified by 
leaders for concise data to effectively impact advocacy activities.   
 
President Sabol thanked the Vice Presidents for their leadership and support of leaders within their 
respective regions. He noted the value of the common agenda for the regional leadership conferences 
that ensures consistency toward addressing NAEA strategic goals and the exploration of a national 
leadership conference in the future.     
 
President Sabol recognized all in attendance for their dedication and commitment to the Board‘s work; 
and for the significant impact the Board is making on the profession, students, and future leaders.  
President Sabol expressed that it was an honor to serve on the Board and as President of NAEA; he 
thanked the Elects for their roles and activities carried out within the field.  He wished all safe travels with 
special thanks for the productivity exhibited over the weekend; the meeting was adjourned at 11:53 am. 
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/2 
 
 
ITEM:  PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

NAEA President’s Report 
National Art Education Association 
Fort Worth, Texas, December 2012 

 
Since the July board meeting in Louisville, Kentucky, I have been involved in a number of activities that 
support our strategic plan and the duties of the office of President.  
 
Community: “NAEA is a dynamic, inclusive and diverse professional community that shares a 
commitment to NAEA’s mission and vision.” 
 

 Participated in the Alabama Art Education Association fall Conference in October in Perdido 
Beach, Alabama. Spoke about current education issues of national concern and NAEA 
involvement in them and about recent national studies with art education implications. 
 

 Participated in the Washington Art Education Association fall Conference in September in Seattle, 
Washington. Spoke about current education issues of national concern and NAEA involvement in 
them and about recent national studies with art education implications. 

 

 Participated in selected conference calls with members of the Leadership Team of the National 
Consortium for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS), Kathi Levin, Dennis Inhulsen, Barry Shauck, and 
Deborah Reeve to discuss issues about governance, finance, public relations, copyrights, media 
arts, and other topics related to development of the next generation of national standards for the 
arts. 
 

 Attended NCCAS Leadership and Visual Arts Standards Writing Team meeting in Reston, 
Virginia in September to discuss the next generation of national visual arts standards framework 
and other issues related to development of the standards.    
 

 Contributed to Young Audiences grant proposal to the U. S. Department of Education Grant 
proposal in September asking for funding to study the effects of the new arts standards in at-risk 
student populations across the United States.  

 
Advocacy: “NAEA influences stakeholders and decision makers to support visual arts education.” 

 

 Interviewed in September and November by Larry Jacobs from Education Talk Radio about 
various topics of concern for education in the visual arts. The recording of the interviews may be 
found on the NAEA and Public Radio for Education websites www.education-talkradio.org and 
www.higher educationtalkradio.org and through the link at the NAEA website.   
  

 Interviewed by six reporters from the various print media and two independent writers between 
August and November about educational policy and current educational issues and questions.   
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Learning: “NAEA provides exemplary learning opportunities that help members become more effective 
educators, artists, leaders, and advocates for visual arts education.” 
 

 Agreed to participate in the American Institute for Research (AIR) “Hard to Measure National 
Summit of Experts” on December 12 through 14 in Washington, DC to discuss the issues and 
problems of assessment in disciplines that have learning and content that are hard to accurately 
and effectively measure.  
 

 Agreed to serve in November on the NCCAS Review Process Committee for New National 
Standards. This committee will establish a review process and an instrument for conducting the 
review process for draft standards. 

 

 Attended the National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) meeting in Reston, Virginia in 
October with Dennis Inhulsen, NAEA President Elect and Chair of the NAEA Curriculum 
Standards Writing Committee and Dr. Deborah Reeve, NAEA Executive Director, to discuss work 
for creation of new national visual arts standards. Participated in organizational and strategic 
planning with leaders from SEADAE, the other professional arts education associations, AEP, 
and the College Board at this meeting. This initiative is ongoing.  

 

 Attended the Arts Education Partnership National Forum in Chattanooga, Tennessee in 
September with Deborah Reeve, Dennis Inhulsen, and Kathi Levin. The topic of the forum was 
“Arts Learning without Boarders.” 
 

Research and Knowledge: “NAEA conducts research and generates knowledge that enriches and 
expands visual arts education, and widely shares that research and knowledge.” 
 

 Traveled to Tokyo, Japan in November to speak at the national meeting of the International 
Society for Art Education in Japan and at the meeting of the program leaders of Archiving of Arts 
Education Literature program. Shared information about NAEA’s role in a number of national 
issues in general education and more specifically in art education and about our efforts to provide 
leadership, resources, and professional development for members in addressing these questions 
for the nation. Also discussed research related to NCLB, FRSS, Metlife study, 21

st
 Century Skills, 

2008 NAEP, Secondary Course Descriptions, the new national visual arts standards, Common 
Core, teacher evaluation, assessment, and other topics currently influencing American education 
reform. Additional discussions will follow this set of presentations this coming spring and through 
the following year.  

 

 Wrote an article for Arts Education Policy Review in October about the current national issues 
and questions of importance for the field of art education and related policy questions these 
issues raise. The article will be published in December or in the early spring.  
 

 Worked with the Indiana Arts Commission and the Indiana Commission on Higher Education in 
October on a proposal to participate in the National Endowment for the Arts Educational Leaders 
Institute in Chicago this December. 
 

 Co-led the NAEA International Research Delegation with Dr. John White, Chair of the NAEA 
Research Commission, on a ten day trip to India in October. The trip included visits to Delhi, 
Agra, and Jaipur. Schools, universities, and national education department offices were included 
on the visit. Conversations with teachers, administrators, students, and other educational leaders 
were critically important for informing the delegation about curriculum, instruction, assessment, 
and preservice preparation of art educators in India. The tour included a number of cultural 
emersion experiences that included visits to artists’ studios, galleries, museums, and historic sites 
which provided aesthetic, cultural, social, political, and historical perspectives about the education 
systems in India and about how these aspects of Indiana culture are incorporated into art 
education curricula. A session at the coming national convention will provide an opportunity for 
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members of the delegation to report to the NAEA membership about how they utilized the 
research information gained on the visit to India in their classrooms, programs, communities, and 
states.   
 

 Communicated with and answered research-related questions in September from members who 
participated in the research trip to India. 
 

 Agreed in September to write a book chapter with Scott Schuler, Past President of the National 
Association for Music Education (NAfME) and Susan McGreevy Nichols, of the National Dance 
Organization (NDO) in a forthcoming book titled, Meeting the Challenges of Assessment in an 
Era of Accountability. The book will cover a wide range of psychometric content about 
assessment in the arts and in many other academic disciplines. The book will be published this 
coming spring or summer. 

 

 Discussed the revised Vision Statement for the NAEA Research Commission and establishing a 
timeline and agenda for the commission in September with John White, Deborah Reeve, Dennis 
Inhulsen, and Barry Shauck. 
  

 Agreed in August to write a paper about public perceptions related to the value and need for art 
education in a forthcoming group of NAEA white papers being written by a group of NAEA 
members and edited by Dr. Read Diket. These white papers will address selected issues of 
importance for the field. This generation of write papers is an extension of the initial group of 
white papers edited by Dr. Enid Zimmerman and released by NAEA last year. 
 

 Continued work on a study commissioned by the Indiana Arts Commission, the Indiana 
Department of Education, and the Indiana Commission on Higher Education to study five years of 
high school graduation data from the state of Indiana and the relationships between students who 
took arts education courses and those who do not take arts education courses and high school 
GPAs, SAT scores, graduation and attendance rates, disciplinary actions, dropout rates, and 16 
other variables for which data were collected by the Indiana Department of Education.    
 

Organizational Vibrancy: “NAEA’s culture, systems, structures, and resources facilitate its mission of 
advancing visual arts education.” 
 

 Attended a meeting in Reston held at the end of November to discuss steps needed for the 
orderly transition of President-Elect Inhulsen into the presidency following the national convention 
this March. 
 

 Discussed with Deborah Reeve in September development of member surveys for gathering 
information about implementation of the NAEA Strategic Plan and member needs with Deborah 
Reeve. Development of guidelines and procedures for this ongoing data collection are under 
discussion. 
 

 Communicated with leaders of several state associations about governance and management of 
their associations and participation in NAEA activities. 

 
Miscellaneous Activities: 
 

 Conferred with Executive Director Reeve, Past President Shauck, President-Elect Dennis 
Inhulsen, and national convention coordinator Elizabeth Willett about the Fort Worth national 
convention. 
 

 Reviewed NAEA membership records and the NAEA budget, financial statements, and financial 
status. 
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 Engaged in discussions with Past President Shauck, President Elect Inhulsen, and Executive 
Director Reeve about NAEA members’ professional development programming needs and 
opportunities for the near and long ranged future and how to best utilize NAEA resources in 
meeting those needs.  
 

 Conferred with Past President Shauck, President-Elect Inhulsen, and Executive Director Reeve 
about initiatives and the business of the NAEA. 
 
 

Respectfully submitted: F. Robert Sabol, NAEA President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/3 
 
 
ITEM:  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
July 1, 2012 began NAEA‘s new fiscal year and December 31 will mark the completion of the second 
quarter; much is underway as staff, Board members and elects work together to address the Year II 
priorities toward achieving the goals set forth in the 2011 – 2014 Strategic Plan – all  while implementing 
NAEA‘s  existing slate of robust programs, services and activities.  As evidenced by the reports provided 
throughout the Board Agenda Book, energetic and substantive work is taking place throughout the entire 
NAEA community. 
 
The Executive/Finance Committee will meet with Darrin Rogers, Principal, Rogers & Company, to review 
and discuss the Draft Audit Report presented for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012.  Darrin Rogers will 
present a brief overview of the Audit Report to the full Board Saturday morning and entertain any 
questions and/or comments. NAEA Year to date financial reports through September 30 indicate net 
assets total $3,046,460; this compares to net assets of $2,319,159 as of September 30, 2011.   
   
NAEA continues to grow in a number of ways:  membership; the National Art Honor Society chapters and 
student members; publication sales; cooperative partnerships; and visibility!  And – while quite a stretch, 
we are working hard to meet the record Convention participation benchmark set in NYC. Building upon 
our rich organizational history, NAEA is recognized as a leading force and respected voice for visual arts 
education.  
 
NAEA is setting expectations for our diverse community to think together about why art matters and how 
to succinctly communicate ‗why‘ to others.  Leaders, staff and members continue to develop the field of 
visual arts education and our profession as art educators in ways that clearly communicate that teaching 
and learning in the visual arts are essential.  
 
The following highlights capture timely efforts and information aligned with goals; the Board Agenda Book 
provides a comprehensive report of NAEA operations and activities. Note that icons have been created 
for each of the five goals and are aligned with agenda items to clearly connect all aspects of NAEA 
operations and activities with the 2011 – 2014 Strategic Plan.      
 
Community:  NAEA is a dynamic, inclusive and diverse professional community that shares a 
commitment to NAEA’s vision and mission.  
 
Leadership  Building upon an aggressive plan for NAEA‘s transformation of systems and structures to 
ensure organizational health, NAEA is meeting the challenges of a new era posed by the realities of life in 
the 21st century. The Board of Directors developed a strategic plan and identified priority goals for focus; 
NAEA executive staff identified strategic initiatives to address NAEA‘s aging infrastructure and to identify 
and implement benchmarks for organizational practices. This ambitious work was positioned against what 
has been described as the worst economic crisis in three decades. NAEA has remained stable and strong 
throughout the economic turbulence and has continued a modest but steady pattern of growth when 
many membership organizations continue to experience significant downturns. The NAEA Board (past 
and present), staff and all NAEA leaders are commended for their excellent stewardship of NAEA and our 
resources.   
 
NAEA Officers and Executive Director supported state association leaders and members through full 
participation in state conferences throughout the fall including Nebraska/Iowa; Oklahoma; Virginia; 

22



Alabama; Missouri; Michigan; and Pennsylvania. Additionally, regional VPs participated in one or more 
state conferences within their respective regions; and NAEA staff exhibited at the Texas and California 
state conferences creating great visibility for NAEA in anticipation of bringing the convention to those 
states. To date, NAEA officers have participated in thirty three states conferences with a goal of 
participating in every state association conference. Combined with the leadership of the Vice Presidents 
in planning and facilitating strategic Regional Leadership Conferences, the work of Division Directors in 
developing and implementing activities within the Divisions in support of the Strategic Plan, and ongoing 
support to state leaders through Leadership Link and NAEA services through the State Association 
Partnership program, we continue to create and implement strategies that develop and support leaders 
throughout the NAEA community. 
 
President Bob Sabol and President-elect Dennis Inhulsen will meet November 29-30 in the NAEA offices 
in preparation for the upcoming Presidential transition that will occur immediately following the Fort Worth 
Convention.  Planning will focus on upcoming priorities identified within the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan 
including the establishment of a national leadership development program with an emphasis on diversity 
and intergenerational issues; development of an NAHS student conference; and preliminary planning for 
the 2015 - 2018 Strategic Plan.  
 
Membership  NAEA continues to stay fully focused on enhancing the experience of all members while 
significantly growing membership over the coming years. A comprehensive plan is being implemented for 
membership recruitment and retention including the development of fresh recruitment and retention 
efforts, tracking and assessing results, and modifying strategies. Strategies in support of the 2011-2014 
Strategic Plan include: 

 Developing and implementing membership growth plan for all membership categories 

 Convention/Membership E-mail Recruitment Campaign 

 Member Exit Survey 

 Continued Enhancement of Member Only Sections of the NAEA Website 
 
Over the coming months, NAEA will conduct a planned needs assessment among members and 
nonmembers. The preliminary report is expected in early June and analysis will include a data 
comparison between 2008 and 2013.  The findings will be presented to the NAEA Board and elects 
during the July Board and used to inform planning and development efforts going forward.   
 
To date, NAEA has gained 608 new members:  Elementary Division: 153; Middle/Junior High:  52; 
Secondary: 121; Combined K-12:  34; Administrator/Supervisor:  7; Museum: 22; Higher Ed: 11; College 
Students: 198; and 10 members with undesignated membership categories.  Additionally, the new 
members are located in the following regions: 101 Eastern, 254 Western, 177 Southeastern, 71 Pacific, 
and 5 Foreign/Canada.  
 
Art Education DC (AEDC), NAEA‘s newest affiliate and state association partner, reached a historic 
membership of 99 Washington DC art educators.   
 
NAEA is collaborating with cooperative partner Blick Art Materials for the third consecutive year on a 
member recruitment campaign. This year‘s campaign targets K-12 art educators in Texas, Arkansas, and 
Oklahoma, offering a $65 Blick gift coupon (equivalent to the cost of NAEA dues) to all new members that 
join NAEA while marketing the 2013 National Convention.  
 
The renewed visibility of the National Art Honor Society (NAHS) and National Junior Art Honor Society 
(NJAHS) continues to show program growth in all areas.  Offering new and exciting program opportunities 
is at the forefront while exploring new social media and educational connections that will benefit chapter 
sponsors and student members.   
 
Website The NAEA website holds the collective space for a virtual community of practice among 
art educators.  Visits to the website are up by 40% compared to the same period last year; NAEA has 
experienced a 63% reduction in pageviews indicating that information is organized in a user-friendly 
fashion reducing the number of clicks to locate information. Top 10 Content: Homepage, National 
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Convention, Membership, National Convention microsite, News, NAHS, Advocacy, Community, 
Research, and Grants.  Top 10 Downloads: National Visual Arts Standards, NAEA White Papers: Section 
III, 2013 Awards Program Booklet, membership form PDF, Visual Arts Education e-Flyer, 2011 Lowenfeld 
Lecture, 2013 NAEF Grants Booklet, 10 Lesson the Arts Teach PDF, 2013 NAEA National Convention 
Schedule-at-a-Glance PDF, and Learning in a Visual Age monograph.  
 
Social Media  While the website‘s primary function is communications, NAEA is building and cultivating 
relationships through the strategic use of social media. Plans allow us to reach a broader audience and 
expand NAEA‘s online presence by deepening member-to-member connections; distributing relevant 
content across various platforms and media channels; and enhancing NAEA‘s overall visibility as the only 
national professional organization established exclusively for visual arts educators.  Since July 1, 
Facebook ‗likes‘ have increased by 12%; LinkedIn connections have increased by 25%; and Twitter 
followers have increased by 18%.  
 
National Convention Mobile App  Planning and development for the 2013 NAEA National 
Convention mobile app is well underway with the app slated to launch February 1, 2013.  
 
Microsite  Planning and development are underway for a microsite for the NAEA Research 
Commission; the site is scheduled to launch March 2013. 
 
Advocacy: NAEA influences stakeholders and decision makers to support visual arts education. 
 
NAEA is actively engaged as a member of the Arts Education Partnership (AEP) Advisory Committee, the 
Arts Education Legislative Working Group, and collaborates with a number of national arts organizations 
to develop and support a cohesive federal advocacy and policy agenda. NAEA leadership participated in 
the fall Arts Education Partnership Forum: Are We There Yet?, held in Chattanooga, TN.  I will be 
participating in a post-election briefing for education organizations related to upcoming advocacy and 
legislative action.    
 
The NAEA White Papers that support Learning in a Visual Age continue to be informative and helpful. 
The introduction of Art Matters as a new byline has been well received as we continue to develop 
compelling facts and stories that tell why Art Matters. Board members and elects will be submitting their 
2-3 minute video essays on Why Art Matters by December 31.   
 
Learning: NAEA provides exemplary learning opportunities that help members become more 
effective educators, artists, leaders and advocates for visual arts education.  
 
Instructional Resources Gallery: Under the leadership of NAEA Division Directors, work continues as 
new lesson plans are vetted for the Gallery and submission procedures are refined and institutionalized. 
Progress and outcomes will be carefully assessed as this member benefit continues to be developed and 
aligned with the next generation of visual arts standards. The release of the next generation of Visual Arts 
Standards affords another exceptional opportunity to leverage the IRG and for NAEA to create 
professional learning communities focused on the development of curriculum/instructional content and 
assessments. 
 
National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS)   NAEA leadership continues engagement in the 
collaborative project to create the next generation of the Arts Standards developed in 1994. Colleagues 
from the arts education professional associations including, NAEA, NAfME, EdTA, AATE and NDEO, the 
State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education (SEADAE) and the College Board and the Arts 
Education Partnership (AEP) are also members of the NCCAS leadership team.  Coalition leaders and 
Writing Teams will meet in NYC in January, 2013. Writing teams have work well underway; further 
progress and timelines will be reported by Writing Team Chair, Dennis Inhulsen.  
 
NAEA Creative Industries Studio for NAHS Students  The National Art Education Association (NAEA) 
founded the National Art Honor Society (NAHS) in 1978 to recognize and inspire high school students in 
grades 9-12 who demonstrate outstanding visual art ability. The 47,000+ member NAHS inspires talented 
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middle and high school students to continue to hone their creative and technical abilities while also raising 
school and community awareness for art education. NAEA considers these exceptional students to be a 
valuable national resource. Their ability to excel is needed more than ever at a time when business 
leaders continue to say that innovation and creativity are critical to our nation‘s future economic well-
being. Based on the interest and success of national summer programs for students, NAEA is developing 
a 4-5 day program geared specifically for NAHS students. Given the ambitious agenda and turnover in 
leadership at the Industrial Designers Society of America (IDSA), the pilot tentatively planned for summer 
2013 has been rescheduled for June 2014.    
 
Cooperative Partnerships: NAEA has cultivated a number of strategic partners who participate in 
cooperative activities that advance NAEA‘s mission and goals. A complete listing is found under Agenda 
Item 2000/2. We continue to identify potential collaborative work that will advance our mission, help 
achieve strategic goals and add value for members. Recently, I met with Kris Bakke, Chair of the Council 
for Art Education, to explore how NAEA might work with the Council to more fully position and leverage 
Youth Art Month as a significant advocacy program. Additionally, I met with representatives of the 
National Art Materials Association to gain a better understanding of how they might work more closely 
with NAEA:  Reggie Hall, Executive Director; Richard Goodban, President; and Hayley Prendergast, 
President-elect. They will be holding their winter Board meeting Thursday, March 7, in conjunction with 
the 2013 NAEA National Convention.   
 
Research and Knowledge: NAEA conducts research and generates knowledge that enriches and 
expands visual arts education, and widely shares that research and knowledge.  
 
NAEA Research Commission  Inaugurated March 2012, the Research Commission has undertaken the 
important foundational work over its first year considering institutional communication, professional 
development, and research structures. Since the June Planning Retreat, the Research Commission has 
worked to develop and begin implementation of the initial infrastructure and communications systems. 
The NAEA Research Commission has focused its meeting discussions on the following topical areas 
during the timeframe from July - November 2012: 
Review of Feedback from the Vice Presidents gathered during the Summer Leadership Meetings; 
microsite architecture; and outreach by Commissioners to NAEA Contact Liaisons. Upcoming work 
includes: 
a) Continued development toward launch of Research Commission Microsite.  
b) Development of Protocols for Research Initiatives -  how to respond to inquiries, including research 
concerns, requests for information to be distributed, including but not limited to: 

o Commission Generated Initiatives 
o Member Generated Initiatives 
o Group Generated initiatives 
o Commission Endorsed initiatives 

c) Further Development of National Convention Session: NAEA Research Commission: Progress Report 
and Discussion 

Friday, March 8 from 2:00 – 3:25 pm 
The NAEA Research Commission will provide an up to date overview of the Commission's work 
on the development of goals, policies and procedures, and a research agenda. This will be 
followed with an open discussion with the NAEA membership. Open to all members. 
Presenter(s): John Howell White, Chair; Graeme Sullivan, Associate Chair; Members of Research 
Commission       

 
Research Commission Chair, John Howell White, will meet with the Board and present a full report on all 
activities.    
 
Journal of Art Education Leveraging opportunities to better connect the number one NAEA 
member benefit, as reported by members through exit surveys and the 2008 member needs assessment, 
articles appearing in the Journal are now ―pushed‖ via email to members and non-members to encourage 
readership and to strengthen the member-value proposition. Further strengthening the connections 
between NAEA‘s print media and our virtual home at www.arteducators.org, the January issue of the 
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Journal will begin a regular column to highlight member-only benefits accessed through the website in a 
―Get Connected‖ page;  similar marketing may be added to upcoming issues of NAEA News.  Bridging 
print and online resources, recent Journal articles on advocacy will be posted to the website for member-
only access. Education Digest recently requested permission to condense the September 2012 article, 
"Toward a STEM + Arts Curriculum: Creating the Teacher Team" by Toni Wynn and Juliette Harris, 
stating that it ―is sure to interest our audience.‖  In her final issue, Editor Christine Ballengee Morris 
reminded us of ―Our Primary Focus: Students First,‖ expressing her hope that the Journal helps explore 
and create the strategies that our field demands. Incoming Editor Robert Sweeny takes ―New!‖ as his 
January issue theme and delineates his resolutions for his editorship and the journal. 
 
Studies  The winter issue focuses on ways of increasing student engagement with art. PDFs of 
Volume 53 (Fall 2010 through Summer 2011) are now posted on the website and are free to NAEA 
members. The Fall issue included a Table of Contents for each of those 4 issues as a way to better 
promote this valuable subscription resource. 
 
Advisorys    Three new Advisorys have been posted, including an article on ―Contemporary Art and Early 
Childhood‖ and two on ―Tips for Getting Hired.‖ 
 
New Books   Two new NAEA titles were published in the fall and are available for sale through the NAEA 
Bookstore and Amazon: 

The Heart of Art Education: Contemporary Approaches to Holistic Human Development and 
Integration — Seymour Simmons III and Laurel Campbell  
Conversations in Art: The Dialectics of Teaching and Learning — Judith Burton and Mary Hafeli  
 
Titles slated for publication in the spring 2013, include: 
Teaching Comprehension Strategies through Visual Art: Lesson Plans for Teachers — Lisa Stuart and 
Jennifer Klein (co-publish with Roman & Littlefield; scheduled for Winter 2012) 
Studio Thinking: The Real Benefits of Visual Arts Education — Lois Hetland, et al. (co-publish with 
Teachers College Press; scheduled for Spring 2013) 
Stand(ing) Up, for a Change: Voices of Art Educators — Kevin Tavin and Christine Ballengee Morris  
(in design and last edits) 
 

Art Education Delegation to India:  NAEA hosted an Art Education Delegation to India October 13-
21, 2012  led by NAEA President, Bob Sabol, and Chair of the NAEA Research Commission, John 
Howell White, in cooperation with Professionals Abroad.  The program was enthusiastically supported as 
evidenced by a full delegation.  Program evaluations are expected from Professionals Abroad in the 
coming weeks. Sites for the 2013 delegation to be hosted by President-elect Dennis Inhulsen are under 
consideration and will be announced in January, 2013.     
 
Research to Inform Policy: As a member of the Arts Education Partnership Advisory Council, NAEA is 
promoting ArtsEdSearch, http://www.artsedsearch.org/, an online clearinghouse that collects and 
summarizes high quality arts education research studies and analyzes their implications for educational 
policy and practice. 
 
Organizational Vibrancy: NAEA’s culture, systems, structures, and resources facilitate its mission 
of advancing visual arts education.  
 
2011 – 2014 Strategic Planning   The Board of Directors led a dynamic planning process including a 
study of NAEA‘s mission and vision and the development of a strategic framework that identifies the goals 
and objectives that will continue to direct and prioritize NAEA efforts over the next two years.   
 
Staff work continues to be team-based using data to inform planning and development work. All work has 
been prioritized over years 1, 2 and 3 and is monitored, analyzed and modified as needed within the 
context of human/financial resource capacities and expected returns on investment. The ‗work plan‘ is an 
internal working document further supported by the development of related action plans interfaced with 
performance goals.  
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As with the 2007 – 2010 Strategic Plan, successful implementation of the 2011 – 2014 Strategic Plan 
requires the NAEA Board, all organizational leaders and staff to meet specific responsibilities within the 
‗work plan‘ to ensure goals are met. Throughout the Board materials, you will see one or more icons that 
represent the five goals displayed on each agenda item. This format clearly connects all aspects of 
Association work to the goals set forth within our strategic planning framework.     
 
Governance   In fulfilling leadership responsibilities, the Board and elects continue to challenge 
themselves to identify and nurture emerging leaders through the appointment of regional directors and by 
ensuring a slate of diverse candidates for annual elections. Leadership development is a critical issue for 
state leaders and the Board and staff continue to model exemplary leadership and support emerging and 
new leaders.   
 
Administration and Finance    NAEA operations and staffing have been streamlined to ensure 
efficiencies and we continue to carefully assess the ROI (return on investment) in all areas of the 
Association. Fiscal year success is dependent upon earned income through membership, Convention 
and/or publication sales. The Association is financially healthy with invested reserves and sound financial 
policies. Under the 2011- 2014 Strategic Plan, maintaining organizational vibrancy is contingent upon 
continued membership growth, Convention attendance, publication/advertising sales, as well as growing 
revenues through diversification - adding new revenue generating programs and/or corporate 
partnerships and foundation grants.  
 
The Executive/Finance Committee and staff remain both diligent and prudent and continue to study 
recommendations by executive staff and financial advisors to determine how best to ensure fiscal health 
going forward.  
 
Staff   NAEA‘s mighty staff of thirteen talented professionals reflects our members‘ passion and 
commitment to NAEA. Each member of the staff brings a particular knowledge and skill set coupled with 
initiative, innovation and creativity. NAEA welcomes the newest member of our staff, Publications 
Coordinator, Becky Rivard, to the NAEA publications team. She will begin interfacing with the Board and 
other NAEA News columnists, while assisting in all aspects of NAEA publication production. Rounding out 
the work of the Publications Team, Staff Editor Elizabeth Snow will take the lead in Studies and Art 
Education editing and file organization; Lynn Ezell, NAEA Publications Manager, will continue to manage 
the team and provide accountability for the production of all NAEA publications. 
 
Year I Successes The NAEA Board of Directors, organizational leaders and staff have successfully 
developed and implemented plans and activities that advance the strategic objectives identified in the 
new plan. An overview of Year I accomplishments are posted to NAEA‘s website to ensure organizational 
transparency and encourage member engagement toward advancing NAEA‘s mission and goals.       
 
Year II Challenges   NAEA policies and procedures ensure timely communications, transparency and 
effectiveness; operations have been streamlined to reduce costs, enhance efficiencies and build 
organizational capacity. These accomplishments ensure agility toward addressing the ambitious goals 
and strategic initiatives set forth in the 2011- 2014 Strategic Plan. The continued volatility of the economy 
and its impact on revenue and expenses remains a challenge for NAEA as well as all nonprofit and for 
profit businesses. While our staff remains diligent in implementing plans to achieve our goals, NAEA 
leaders are key to maintaining a strong professional community and ensuring our membership grows.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/4 
 
 
ITEM:  PAST PRESIDENT REPORT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Date: Friday, November 16, 2012 

To: Members of the Board 

Fr: R. Barry Shauck   

RE: PAST PRESIDENT’S REPORT JULY THROUGH NOVEMBER 

Since July of this year I have worked with Melanie Dixon, Board members who volunteered for the Ad 
Hoc Committee (Barbara Laws, Anne Manning, Debra Pylypiw, James Rolling, Jr.), and Amy Pfeiler-
Wunder to review the proposal of a student division.  Notes from those meetings are available upon 
request.  Board materials for this meeting will include both a summary report of the work of the committee 
to-date, prepared by Melanie Dixon, and the results of a survey sent to state leaders inquiring about the 
potential impact of the implementation of a student division (to be shared on site). 
 
Thanks are extended to student leaders, Amy, members of the Ad Hoc committee, and Melanie for their 
time and contributions to this effort. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/5 
 
 
ITEM:  PRESIDENT-ELECT REPORT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

NAEA President Elect’s Report 
National Art Education Association 

Fort Worth, TX – Fall 2012 
 

Momentum continues to grow as we continue our partnership to write 
next generation standards for visual arts education included with other 
arts disciplines. Please refer to the NCCAS Wiki for full information 
including meeting archives, research reports, agendas, and the 
consensus document. Many conference calls ensued throughout 
summer and fall. Two face-to-face meetings were held; one with the 
writing chairs September 8

th
 and 9

th
 and again in conjunction with 

NCCAS Leadership September 30
th
 through October 2

nd
. The focus 

was to define a framework for the standards, strive toward common language, and to examine other 
parallel structures among the arts disciplines. Our writing team has met consistently for about 8 months. 
While no release date is set we expect review processes to begin by spring and completion by late 2013 
or sooner. It should be noted that through NAEA leadership we would continue to contribute to the 
development of the standards assisting visitors with example lessons, projects and assessments over 
time. 
 
http://nccas.wikispaces.com                  Please see Kathi Levin’s full report within this board packet. 
 
June – 2012 
Attended and spoke at USSEA, United States Society for Education through Art, annual conference in 
Indianapolis. Met face-to-face with our Visual Arts Writing Teams in Reston. 
 
July – 2012 
Attended a VSA - Special Education Symposium at the Kennedy Center, Washington, DC. Attended the 
summer Southeast Region Leadership Meeting in Mobile, AL and the NAEA Board Meeting in Louisville, 
KY. 
 
August – 2012 
Was Keynote Speaker at “Arts First”, a daylong in-service for 200+ arts educators in Oakland County, MI. 
 
September – 2012 
Attended the Writing Chairs Meeting held in New York, NY at the College Board. 
 
October – 2012 
Spoke with art education students at Oakland University, Rochester, MI. Attended as a guest, the 
presentation of the Distinguished Principals Awards hosted by the National Association of Elementary 
Principals in Washington DC. Attended and spoke at the Michigan Art Education Association Conference, 
Traverse City, MI. 
 
November – 2012 
Attended a Design Education Symposium at Henry Ford Museum, Dearborn, MI. This event was 
facilitated by the ISDA, Industrial Design Society of America. NAEA graphic designer Krista Brooke was in 
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attendance. Attended the Art Educators Conference at Kutztown University, PA. Attended a one-day 
planning meeting at NAEA’s Reston Office preparing for my presidency.  
 

Other activities: 
 

 Submitted NAEA convention proposals for the PMC, Standards Session and Lowenfeld Lectures.   
 

 Conferred with President Sabol, Past President Shauck, and Executive Director Reeve about 
initiatives and the business of the NAEA. Preliminary planning meetings for a joint pre-conference 
with the members of the National Association of Elementary Principals, NAESP to be held in Fort 
Worth during our convention and a duplicate pre-conference to held in July with NAESP. 

 

 Conferred with Lynn Ezell, Kathy Duse, and members of the PMC about the work of the PMC and 
related publications activities. At this writing there are no proposals under review. Please see 
Lynn Ezell’s full report within this board packet. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dennis Inhulsen – NAEA President Elect 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

30



A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/6 
 
 
ITEM:  DIVISION DIRECTOR REPORTS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Elementary, Kirby Meng    
Middle Level, Linda Kieling   
Secondary, Lynn Felts   
Higher Education, James Rolling, Jr. 
Supervision/Administration, Barbara Laws   
Museum Education, Anne Manning 
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NAEA November 2012 Board Report 
Kirby Meng Elementary Division 

 
Learning - We are in our second round of reviews using the new timeline, process and rubric. Some of 
the lessons from the first round are still going through review and changes; we hope to have those posted 
to the IRG very soon.  Although we revised the lesson plan template to make it appear a bit shorter, it is 
still a very intimidating document and we continue to meet resistance when asking people to put a lesson 
into the format. It is very time consuming and time seems to be at a premium for people right now. I also 
think that sites that pay teachers and others where people are potentially paid to write a lesson plan 
makes it hard to get people to go through the longer NAEA process. We continue to ask people to write 
and will work on getting more quality lessons on the IRG in the next few months.  
 
I completed 10 proposals for the Elementary Division for the 2013 Convention in Fort Worth based on the 
feedback we received from our members in New York and they were all accepted!  The regional directors 
have been charged with finding presenters for our 3 carousels and I am working on putting together our 
technology presentation. I have not had any luck with distributors so I think it will be a presentation by our 
membership, for our membership. I am also going to contact some of the people individually who have 
told me they have stories to tell so that we can record them at the convention. If professionals are not 
available to come and record, we will use the Bloggies to do the recording.  In addition, I will participate in 
the IRG session which Linda Kieling proposed. It is our hope to have people come in and put a lesson in 
the format during the session. This will also require us to target some people ahead of time to make this 
work.  
 
Community – The Elementary NING continues to grow and we have around 1200 members! There has 
been a recent increase in questionable people requesting membership for some reason, but since we 
monitor that, we have been able to keep most of them off and have had only minimal problems with spam 
on the site. Heidi O’Hanley was our most recent Monthly Mentor and had some wonderful discussions 
about the beginning of the school year and how people do things at their school.  The Monthly Mentor still 
does not seem to generate huge conversations and I am not sure why. We will continue to try to reach 
out through different people and topics to reach as many elementary teachers as possible.   
 
We have a Face Book page which is used by a handful of our members giving them the opportunity to 
post information about things which might be of interest to other Elementary art educators, but for which 
the NING is not the right avenue.  I posted information about voting on both the NING and Facebook.  
Soon Nancy and I and the Regional Directors will begin reviewing awards applications.  
 
Advocacy – I am most excited about our Art Stories that we plan to collect at the Convention in March. I 
think this will be a great opportunity to put a face on the advocacy message. I will be asking members to 
come and tell their stories in short videos for us to share through the website. We are opening this up to 
all divisions and hope to record about 30 during our session.  
 
Research – Kelly Berwager is the Elementary representative on the CDRC committee. She recently 
contacted me to ask for ideas for potential research. I suggested that one thing that seems to be 
impacting a number of us is the idea of tying teacher evaluation to student growth and the testing required 
measuring that growth. Because growth in Art is hard to measure, we need some direction on how our 
―square‖ discipline can fit into this round education hole! I think that most art teachers are very happy to 
have growth in Art be the measure of success as opposed to just tying us to the reading or math growth; 
we just need to find a way to do that in a way that doesn’t take away from our class time and also 
includes some performance based measures of growth.  We have also been contacted by several people 
doing independent research. Some people post their research requests to the NING and ask people to 
respond if interested, others contact me directly to ask a request to be sent out to members through the 
Listserv and some do both. I think our membership is pretty responsive to these requests.   
 
I would like to thank Nancy Walkup, Nate Morgan, Lorinda Rice,  LynAllison McGavack Martin and Scott 
Russell for all of their continued help. I would also like to thank everyone who has written  and submitted 
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a lesson for IRG review, Samantha Melvin for coordinating that process and the cross divisional reviewers 
for their commitment to the project.  
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NAEA Middle Level Division Board Report 
December 2012 

Linda W. Kieling, NAEA Middle Level Director 
 
 
COMMUNITY  
NAEA is a dynamic, inclusive, and diverse professional community that shares a commitment to NAEA’s 
mission and vision. 
 
Goal: Deepen member-to-member connections and sharing within the NAEA community. 
Action: Director has developed a new newsletter specifically to share stories from members about how 
they came to teach middle level, those experiences and the uniqueness of teaching this level. The 
second edition was published at the beginning of December. 
Action: Western Region Director, Chris Grodoski has developed accounts, logins and passwords 
that can be passed on to subsequent Directors for social networking that now includes Facebook, Ning, 
Listserv and Twitter. He also created a login for Hootsuite which facilitates updates on all media via one 
post. 
Goal: Connect members working in diverse roles and settings to the NAEA Divisions that best address 
their needs and express their interests. 
Action: Ning membership is now 331. NAEA Middle Level Director-Elect, Kim Cairy, oversees 
moderation, advancement and management of the site. A current discussion topic centers on 
assessment.  
Action: Director developed, distributed and analyzed survey for Middle Level members to be used for 
future planning. See two chart examples at the end of report. 325 members have completed the survey 
and continue to do so. 
Action: Developed e-mail list of contacts from surveys (both hardcopy from Convention and electronic via 
Survey Monkey) which the Director has used to contact individuals directly. 
 
ADVOCACY 
NAEA influences stakeholders and decision makers to support visual arts education. 
 
Goal: Provide advocacy training, information, and tools that NAEA members and allies use to influence 
decision makers. 
Action: Director serving on the board for the Council for Art Education. 
Action: Director developed and distributed information for the Youth Art Month (YAM) program. 
Action: Director is acting as the national contact person for the YAM program. 
Action: Director is acting as mentor to state YAM chairpersons. 
Action: Director compiled and created advocacy video, ―Art Matters‖ for NAEA use. 
 
LEARNING  
NAEA provides exemplary learning opportunities that help members become more effective educators, 
artists, leaders, and advocates for visual arts education. 
 
Goal: Strengthen and expand live learning opportunities. 
Action: Director used survey to identify what members want from their convention experience. 325 
members have responded. (Figure 1) 
Goal: Strengthen and expand virtual learning experiences. 
Action: Working with Division Directors for long-term vision of the IRG. 
Action: Solicited authors and reviewers for lesson plans to be published in the Instructional Resources 
Gallery (IRG). 
Action: Mentoring authors thorough the IRG submission process. 
Goal: Strengthen and expand publications, resources, and materials to further professional development 
and personal growth. 
Action: Director has developed new newsletter specifically to share stories and get information to middle 
level members directly related to their concerns. 
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RESEARCH and KNOWLEDGE  
NAEA conducts research and generates knowledge that enriches and expands visual arts education, and 
widely shares that research and knowledge. 
 
Goal: Share research and knowledge with multiple audiences within and beyond NAEA membership. 
Action: Western Region Director, Chris Grodoski, is presenting during two sessions at the Convention in 
regards to the Research Commission and its initiatives. He serves as the Middle Level representative.  
 
ORGANIZATIONAL VIBRANCY 
NAEA’s culture, systems, structures, and resources facilitate its mission of advancing visual arts 
education. 
 
Goal: Strengthen NAEA’s identity and strategic messages. 
Action: Director is Co-Chair for writing team for the Position Statement: Art Integration 
Action: Director participated in numerous conference calls during the review process of current Position 
Statements as well as the development of the new Position Statements. 
Goal: Develop national and state leadership. 
Action: Using survey results to contact interested individuals. 43.5% expressed interest  
in leadership possibilities. Individuals that left contact information have been communicated to personally 
by the Director. (Figure 2) 
Action: Collaborating with Regional Directors to identify individuals interested in working on association 
projects.  
Action: Personal invitations to members to participate in specific leadership roles. 
Action: Celebrating the efforts of educators through the new newsletter. 
Action: Soliciting leadership through the through the new newsletter. 
Action: Identified Editor for the new Middle Level newsletter. 
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Figure 1: Other – additionally 45 open responses included how to align with Common Core, Standards 
based, scope and sequence help, working with special needs students, technology  
 

 
Figure 2: results from ongoing survey 
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NAEA Secondary Division Report 
Fall Board Meeting 

December 9, 2012 

Fort Worth, Texas 
Presented by Lynn Felts, NAEA Secondary Division Director  

 
The National Art Education Association generously gave each member of the sitting board a Sony 
Bloggie Touch to create visually-demonstrating video essays, in the areas of: Community, Advocacy, 
Learning, Research and Knowledge and Organizational Vibrancy.  
 
Community:  
Our visual art community is part of a larger community, the fine arts. Even though the common core 
standards are embedded into each specific curriculum, the beginnings of every educational 
experience must be the connections an educator makes with each student. The rich soil of an 
educator’s passion provides the nutrients required for student interest to take root. Not only the key ideas 
but also the purpose, i.e. the central concepts each specific fine arts curriculum, are absorbed by the 
student through the tender nurturing of a caring teacher. In literacy terms, the craft and structure of the 
fine arts curriculum consists of direct instruction of technical terminology. Being able to converse 
effectively teacher-to-student as well as student-to-student is a main strength of this area. The intensity of 
a student’s ability to master the technical terms provides the channel through which all further 
developments depend. Whether the art teachers asks for more contrast in the value gradation, or the 
music teachers request crescendo, or the librarians assist students in navigating the numerous 
information resources, or the gifted teachers provide workshops that help gifted students to better 
understand the differences in development of themselves and others, student success in the courses of 
each disciple relies, just as it does with common core standards, with students being able to understand 
information and adjust behaviors. After students have demonstrated mastery in the introductory course of 
each fine arts discipline, the growth of knowledge, unfolding of skills and self-expression take place 
though the numerous elective choices. Sometimes growth can be painful, setbacks impede the students' 
ability to grasp how further instruction and increased practice leads to heightened skill levels. To 
measure student growth in productions and performances, fine arts educators use the 
established national standards of their specific discipline. As the fine arts teachers continue their 
movement of positive encouragement and illumination of unique talents and affective learning, students 
reach new heights. Ultimately, fine arts students are expected to apply their cognitive abilities and skills to 
synthesize their products and performances. However, the blossoming of student originality is not the 
ultimate target of the fine arts department. Once abilities begin to flourish, the range of what the 
students have learned in their fine arts courses expands into real world situations, where society 
evaluates the beauty of the individual.  
 
Advocacy: 
NAEA board members were requested to write a brief ' 50 word ' essay about ―Why Art Matters‖. My 
revised version is as follows. Because humans connect viscerally through art, appreciation and 
production of art measures a society's civility. When art instructors guide young artists toward 
understanding themselves through their works and the works of others, the impact is life changing. As 
generations learn to express their human essence artistically, humanity advances-- art matters.  
Advocacy for the arts is more important now than ever. We all need to be effective advocates for art 
education. A good reference is the ―Kennedy Alliance for Art Education Network‖, accessible at 
www.kennedy-center.org/education/kcaaen. We must all know our beliefs if we are to advocate for 
them.  
 
Learning:  
The Secondary Division continued its work through the summer and into the first part of fall reviewing and 
preparing lesson plans for the secondary section of the NAEA Instructional Resource Gallery. These new 
authors can add published at the national level to their list of accomplishments! Congratulations and 
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thanks to these fabulous individuals! Andrea Haas: ―Acrylic Self-Portrait‖, Donna Anderson: ―The 
Printing Part of Printmaking‖, Nicole Brisco: ―Reflective Identity‖, Shawny Montgomery : ―Spirit Animals-
Finding Your Spirit Animal‖, Ethan Pignataro : ―Introduction to Modeling, Value and Space‖ and Joye 
Melby: ―Shoes, Hats and Gloves‖. Currently an additional four art educators have submitted lesson plans 
that will go through the review process for possible publication in the IRG. Following this, James Rees, 
Secondary Division Director-Elect will take over this process when he assumes his position as sitting 
Director in March 2013.  
 
In the first of my video essays, James Rees explains the importance of Art 21 as a vital piece for learning 
about contemporary artists and art, in art education. Art 21 encourages creative thinking, is 
thematically driven and approaches art making in many divergent ways. Through focusing on 
contemporary artists and current relevant issues, Art 21 helps young artists to understand and appreciate 
the artist of today as well as masters of the past. 
 
Research and Knowledge: 
Since early September NAEA board members have been busy developing positions statements. Kathi 
Levin, outside consultant for NAEA and Laura Milas, Western Region Vice-President, headed this work. 
At the Regional Leadership Retreats this summer, each Vice-President was charged with finding the 
pertinent issues common to the regions. From this, topics for position statements were narrowed down to: 
*Position Statement on CTE Concerns [Platform Category: Students]  
Writing team - Laura Milas and Kirby Meng, Co-Chairs; Lynn Felts  
*Position Statement on Arts Integration [Platform Category: Curriculum]  
Writing Team - Linda Kieling & Linda Popp, Co-Chairs; Penny Venola 
*Position Statement on Online Instruction (online art education) [Platform Category: Instruction]  
Writing Team – Debra Pylypiw, Chair; James Rolling (Higher Education); Anne Manning (or other 
museum education representative) 
Position Statement on Student Assessment in the Visual Arts Classroom [Platform Category: 
Assessment] Writing Team – Platform Working Group – Committee of the whole. 
Position Statement on Teacher Evaluation based on Student Assessment [Platform Category: Art 
Educators or Assessment] Writing Team – Barbara Laws, Chair and Kirby Meng (they will work on draft 
and see if more people are needed). 
NAEA board members and other experts outside the board, were formed to work on this position 
statements. Conference calls began September 10 and have continued through the writing of this report, 
November 6, 2012. It is expected that the positions statements will be ready sooner this year for 
presentation at the Fort Worth, Texas National Convention March 7-10, 2013.  
 
Organizational Vibrancy: 
Reaching out to potential members to join professional art education organizations at their state and 
national level has been a continuing process. Secondary NAEA members have been encouraged to 
develop their leadership potential. A number of secondary members ran for Secondary Division Director-
Elect. Others have expressed willingness to serve on committees, lead discussions on the secondary 
social network, volunteer to help with workshops and awards. This is an ongoing process. 
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National Art Education Association 

Higher Education Division Report, Fall 2012 

 

Since the Summer 2012 Board Meeting the Higher Education Division and membership has 
executed or been deeply involved in the following actions and activities: 

Community: The goal of community points toward efficient, effective, and substantial governance and 
membership communications. 

 
1. Lesson Plan Initiative: The review of materials for the new NAEA Instructional Resources 

Gallery (IRG), which is intended to host both a multitude and a variety of resources for the 
professional development of visual arts & design educators, continues to be ongoing. Initial 
Higher Ed volunteers to serve on IRG Lesson Review Teams are: Ami Kantawala, Teachers 
College, Columbia University; Carrie Nordlund, Kutztown University; Renee Sandell, George 
Mason University; Cynthia Colbert, University of South Carolina; Jessica Poser, SUNY New 
Paltz; Shari Savage, The Ohio State University; Pamela G Taylor, Virginia Commonwealth 
University; Olivia Gude, University of Illinois at Chicago; and Alice Wexler; SUNY New Paltz. 

 
2. Student Chapter Evolution: An ad hoc committee has been formed, led by Barry Shauck, to 

examine and assess the likely impact of the inception of a new division with the purpose of better 
representing student members of NAEA. This ad hoc committee was charged to: clarify the 
overlap of current NAEA membership divisions and classes of membership with the proposed 
Early Professional Division; examine the impact of expanding the definition of Division Director in 
recognition that current Board Director positions are based on job category and the proposed 
Early Professional Division would be based on a period of time category; examine the impact on 
the current 2,600 students in the Student Member category; examine the impact on cross-division 
research, the NAEA Research Commission, and NAEA Awards programs; examine the question, 
―How does NAEA best serve the needs of the existing Student Member and what benefits or 
services will be needed to serve the needs of the proposed Student Division and how that may 
differ?; examine the impact on dues structure both nationally and at the state level and potential 
impact on the state association Bylaws; examine system limitations on setting time restraints on a 
membership category – NAEA’s current database cannot track or manage this type of dynamic 
information; examine potential impact on convention registration rates and member benefits; 
clarify the impact on student representation through the regional directors under each Division 
Director. A letter has been sent from NAEA to state association leaders to survey the potential 
impact of a new Student Division from the point of view of affiliated state art education 
organizations. 

 
Action Item: NAEA Vice Presidents will distribute a survey along with a personal invitation to 
participate in the survey. 

Learning: The Learning goal identifies sites of professional development of the membership. The 
Strategic Goal of Learning is realized through the work of the Ad Hoc Professional Development 
Committee. 

Advocacy: The goal of the advocacy is to reach out to other organizations, associations, interest groups 
and the public at large to promote the interests of NAEA and the Division of Higher Education. 

 
1. National Arts Standards: The next generation of National Arts Standards is rapidly developing, 

a matter of great interest to Higher Ed members, especially those involved in teacher education. 
The National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) is comprised of stakeholders including 
representatives from the State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education, the National 
Association for Music Education, National Art Education Association, Educational Theatre 
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Association, National Dance Education Organization, American Alliance for Theatre and 
Education, The College Board, and Arts Education Partnership. 
 
In November 2011, a report was prepared with the primary purpose of informing the NCCAS in 
their revision of the National Standards for Arts Education. This document was divided into three 
separate but related sections, aimed at examining different aspects of current arts education 
standards in the United States. The first was a review of recently revised arts education 
standards of eight states and districts within the United States. This review included the 
standards of all arts disciplines – dance, music, theatre, and visual arts – and examined their 
overall structure and organization, as well as the content and philosophies guiding the standards. 
In recognition of a growing national trend, NCCAS has also recognized the need for national, 
voluntary standards in the discipline of media arts. Given the growing interest and diversity of 
media arts as a new mode of expression within public education, NCCAS has formed a team of 
media arts writers and leadership to lead the work. NCCAS is committed to creating re-
envisioned voluntary, web-based arts standards that will build on the 1994 National Arts 
Standards (and the 2005 Standards for Learning and Teaching Dance in the Arts), that have 
helped guide curriculum designers, pre-professional training programs, funders, and federal and 
state policy makers in their PreK-12 decision making. 
 
The second portion of this 2011 report presented an examination of the media arts standards of 
four U.S. states or districts, seeking to identify commonalities and differences in the ways media 
arts are defined, and the benchmarks of student progress that have been established in this 
discipline. The members of NCCAS have additionally expressed an interest in examining possible 
links between the National Standards for Arts Education and the Common Core State Standards 
in English Language Arts and Math. The final portion of this document offered an overview of 
potential connections between these two sets of standards. 
 
In December 2011, the NCCAS completed the selection of writing teams and chairs from 
throughout the country to serve on one of the four writing teams of dance, music, theatre and 
visual arts. The coalition’s professional arts education organizations chose team writers based on 
breadth of experience and skills in teaching, standards and curriculum writing, assessment and 
leadership, and practical knowledge in their area of expertise. These teams began their work in 
January 2012. Writing team chairs are: Dance—Rima Faber, President, Capitol Region 
Educators of Dance Organization, and Founding President, National Dance Education 
Organization; Music—Scott Shuler, President, National Association for Music Education, and 
Richard Wells, Simsbury Public Schools (retired) and Music Chair for the Connecticut Common 
Arts Assessment Project; Theatre—Rachel Evans, Assistant Professor of Theatre Education and 
Theatre Education Coordinator, Kean University, Union, New Jersey; Visual Arts—our own 
Dennis Inhulsen, President-elect of the National Art Education Association and Principal, 
Patterson Elementary School, Holly, Michigan. 

 
Action Item: Continue to inform NAEA member and general education community stakeholders 
with a deep interest in the role of the arts in education about the progress of this important 
initiative. 
 
Research: The research goal is directed toward the advancement of the association and independent 
research interests of the membership. 
 

1. Research Commission: The NAEA Research Commission has recently reconvened. The 
mission of the NAEA Research Commission is to contribute to ―a global network of knowledge 
about art education that advances the NAEA Mission and Strategic Plan, impacts student learning 
and teacher practice in P-16 schools and in art museums and communities, exercises leadership 
in art education research that encourages NAEA members and the broader education community 
to understand, utilize, and value research, and connects research, practice, advocacy, and policy 
through its programs, and services.‖ The vision statement of the Research Commission is as 
follows: 
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Teaching and learning in the visual arts in P-16 classrooms, art museums, and community 
programs are strengthened through knowledge gained through research. The National Art 
Education Association is a respected leader in educational research and the hub of a 
global research knowledge network. The NAEA Research Commission promotes a variety 
of research methods at every level of NAEA membership that demonstrates how art 
education fulfills human potential and promotes global understanding. The NAEA 
Research Commission establishes research priorities, coordinates working groups to 
encourage sound ethical research, identifies sources of funding for research, serves as an 
advisor for philanthropic organizations considering funding visual arts research, facilitates 
research partnerships, aids in the dissemination of research information and findings, 
undertakes professional development for research initiatives, contributes to leadership 
development in the area of research, encourages the use of research to influence 
education policy, and advocates for a vibrant research culture within NAEA and in the field 
of education. 

 
Melody Milbrandt has been designated as the Higher Ed Division representative and is pleased 
to serve as the primary liaison for our constituency and a conduit for questions and the 
dissemination of information between the Research Commission and the Higher Ed Division 
Director. The Commission will be hosting several conference sessions at the 2013 Convention in 
Ft. Worth, Texas to reach out to the NAEA leadership and members. Please make plans to attend 
at least one of the sessions. 

 
Report drafted and submitted by James Haywood Rolling, Jr. - 11/12/12 
Higher Education Division Director, National Art Education Association 
Chair and Associate Professor of Art Education, Syracuse University 
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NAEA Supervision and Administration Division Report 
December 2012 

 
 

Division Goals 
To support the NAEA strategic plan by identifying and completing division activities and/or assisting 
others where necessary. 
 
To continue to develop community among division members and means for sharing of information on 
identified areas of need. 
 
Advocacy 

 Participated with Division Directors and Vice Presidents on Platform Working Group conference calls. 

 With Kirby Meng, Elementary Division Director, worked on Teacher Evaluation and Student Growth 
policy statement. 

 
Community  

 Requested information for news columns through the division listserv. 

 Completed October and December newsletter columns. 

 Contacted regional division directors regarding preconference and 2013 Convention division 
presentations. 

 Worked with Angie Fischer, S/A Division Director-Elect, to identify 2013-15 regional Supervision and 
Administration Division Directors. 

 Developed and sent strategic message to S/A division members regarding Ft. Worth Convention and 
preconference. 

 
Learning  

 Worked with Kathy Duse on Fort Worth Supervision and Administration sessions. 

 Worked with S/A Convention presenters on sessions which address issues identified by the division.   

 Worked with Elizabeth Willett, 2013 Program Chair, and Beverly Fletcher, Western Division 
Supervision and Administration Division Director to schedule March 6, 2013, museum workshop 
which was cancelled by the museum due to programming cutbacks. 

 Worked collaboratively with other division directors on the Instructional Resource Gallery and lesson 
plan review process.   

 Reviewed Secondary lesson plans for Instructional Resources Gallery. 
 
Research and Knowledge 

 Worked on the development of the Administration and Supervision Division-sponsored preconference 
on the Next Generation of National Standards in the Visual Arts, March 6, 2013 in the Omni Hotel, 
Fort Worth: 
o Participated in conference call with Deborah Reeve and Angie Fischer regarding logistics and 

framing of content. 
o Scheduled conference call with Angie Fischer and Dennis Inhulsen, Chair of the Visual Arts 

Writing Team to discuss content and timing of released materials standards. 
o Invited members of the National Standards Writing Team to join in planning and facilitate 

discussion. 
o Submitted preconference description for Convention registration materials. 
o Had additional discussion with Deborah Reeve regarding schedule for released materials. 

 As part of the Professional Materials Committee, reviewed book proposal. 
 

Organizational Vibrancy 

 Participated in several conference calls as member of the ad hoc Committee on Early Professionals 
Proposal. 

42



 Solicited regional Division Directors to serve on panel for Convention Student-Supervisor Answer and 
Question Session.  Other division members have also been invited to participate in discussion with 
the students.  Contacted student leaders and mentor regarding the session. 

 Communicated and collaborated with Angie Fischer to support smooth transition. 
 

Next Steps:  

 Continue plans for preconference and Convention division sessions. 

 Work in collaboration with Angie Fischer, NAEA Supervision and Administration Division Director, to 
identify additional ways to support division members and for division members to support NAEA 
goals. 

 Complete awards selection. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Barbara B. Laws 
NAEA Supervision and Administration Division Director 
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NAEA Museum Division Report 
Covering activities from July-November 2012 
Prepared by Anne Manning, Museum Education Division Director 
Submitted November 10, 2012 
 

I. COMMUNITY 
• Worked with Emily Holtrop, Western Region Representative, and Ben Garcia, Pacific 

Region Representative, on the 2013 Museum Education Division Awards. 

• Wrote two columns for NAEA News. 

• Michelle Grohe, Easter Region Representative, Emily Holtrop, Western Region 

Representative, Emily Goetz (Museum of Contemporary Art, Chicago)), Chelsea Kelly 

(Milwaukee Art Museum) and Brigid Globensky (Milwaukee Art Museum) have been working 

to develop a new Peer-to-Peer Learning Initiative that the Division will launch at the 2012 

Preconference. The Initiative will utilize Google Hangouts to facilitate conversations around 

topics of interest throughout the year, helping members stay connected and engaged beyond 

the annual Convention. 

 

II. ADVOCACY 
• Participated in Platform Working Group conference calls. Identified museum education 

representatives for Position Statement Writing Groups. 

 

III. LEARNING 
• Jackie Terrassa has developed a beautiful Museum Education Preconference on the topic 

Visitor Engagement in a Participatory Culture, to be held on March 6, 2013. The day will 

begin at the Fort Worth Museum of Modern Art with a panel discussion with cultural leaders 

who will discuss conditions for co-creating engagement with visitors. Panelists include Rob 

Stein (Director of Research, Technology, and Engagement, Dallas Museum of Art), Sandra 

Jackson-Dumont (Deputy Director of Education and Public Programs/Adjunct Curator, Seattle 

Art Museum), and other experts. Anne Manning will moderate the panel. 

 

Following the panel, participants will head into the galleries of the Modern, Kimbell Museum 

of Art, and Amon Carter Museum of American Art for interactive galleries sessions that will 

offer models for participatory learning. 

 

Following lunch, participants will gather in small groups to co-develop solutions to challenges 

and opportunities that art museums are facing in fostering meaningful engagement with 

visitors. Reflection, remarks from NAEA leaders, and a wine reception close the day. 

 

• With Elizabeth Gerber, Stacy Fuller, Kate Rawlinson, and Jackie Terrassa, read and scored 

Convention Proposals. 

 

IV. ORGANIZATIONAL VIBRANCY 
• Submitted two candidates for the Museum Division Director-elect position to the 

Nominations Committee. 

• Working with Jackie Terrassa on potential candidates for the next group of Regional 

Representatives. 

 

V. MISCELLANEOUS 
• Submitted this report for the December Board meeting 
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• Regular planning calls with Jackie Terrassa, Director-elect, as well as other members of the 

development committee to work on award nominations, peer-to-peer learning initiative, 

preconference, proposal review. 

• Contacted Fort Work museums to arrange for free or reduced admission during convention. 

• Attended July Board meeting in Louisville, KT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 100/7 
 
 
ITEM:  VICE PRESIDENT REPORTS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Eastern, Linda Popp 
Pacific, Penelope Venola 
Southeastern, Debra Pylypiw 
Western, Laura Milas 
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NAEA Platform Working Group 
Report for December 2012 NAEA Board Meeting 

 
November 14, 2012 
TO:  NAEA Board of Directors 
FROM:  Laura Milas, Chair, on behalf of the NAEA Platform Working Group 
RE:  Committee Report  
 
1. The Platform Working Group established the following meeting schedule for this fall: 
Committee Meetings convened: (generally 90 minutes; some meetings have ended at 9:00 pm) 
Monday, September 10 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
Monday, September 24 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time  
Monday, October 8 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
Monday, October 29 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
Monday, November 12 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
 
Platform Working Group meetings are scheduled for:  
Monday, November 26 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
Monday, December 17 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time  
Monday, January 7 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
Monday, January 28 from 7:00 – 8:30 p.m. eastern time 
 
2. Prioritizing Recommendations for Position Statements 
The Platform Working Group has prioritized which position statements would be drafted during this fiscal 
year as follows: 
 
Position Statements to be developed this year: (final titles are determined as part of the process) 
*● Position Statement on Visual Art and its Relationship to CTE [Platform Category: Students]  
● Position Statement on Arts Integration [Platform Category: Curriculum]  
*● Position Statement on Distance Learning in Art Education (or Virtual/online art education) 
[Platform Category: Instruction]  
*● Position Statement on Student Assessment in the Visual Arts Classroom [Platform Category: 
Assessment]  
*● Position Statement on Teacher Evaluation and Student Growth [Platform Category: Art Educators 
or Assessment]  
* Initial Drafts Complete 
 
A writing team has been identified to develop a draft for each Position Statement with the deadline of 
December 1 for all drafts. Members of the Platform Working Group have been identified to manage each 
writing team. Division Directors-elects have also been identified to serve on one writing team in order to 
assist with the transition next year.  
 
3. Discussions at Summer Leadership Meetings  
The Vice Presidents included discussions about issues for Position Statements during the summer 2012 
meetings. Recommendations for new Position Statements were gathered from each region and factored 
into the priorities for Position Statements identified for this year. In addition, in-depth conversations were 
held during the Summer Leadership Meetings to get input into these issues: 

a) Assessment. Feedback about the draft Position Statement on the Purposes of Assessment was 
gathered, and led to the prioritizing of two Position Statements (Student Assessment in the Visual 
Arts Classroom and Teacher Evaluation and Student Growth) being developed this year.  

b) Arts Integration. Reflection and information was shared about this topic in preparation for the 
development of a possible Position Statement.  

c) Media Arts. Reflection and information was shared about this topic in preparation for the 
development of a possible Position Statement.  

 
4. Review of Position Statements Adopted in April 2010 
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The process for development and review of NAEA Position Statements provides for a review of existing 
statements every three years. This year is the first time that this process will be implemented, with the 
adoption of the first Position Statements in 2010.  
 
The Platform Working Group will make a recommendation to the Delegates Assembly and the NAEA 
Board regarding each of the following Position Statements, with the recommendation of 1) maintaining, 2) 
maintaining with proposed changes, or 3) archiving the Position Statement.  
 
The following Position Statements are in the process of being reviewed by the Platform Working Group.   

 Position Statement on Certified Visual Art Educators in Pre-K through 12 School 
Settings [Adopted April 2010] 

 Position Statement on College and University Art Museums [Adopted April 2010] 

 Position Statement on Early Childhood Art Education [Adopted April 2010] 

 Position Statement Regarding the Use of Race Based Mascots in Educational Settings [Adopted 
April 2010] 

 Position Statement on 21
st
 Century Skills and Visual Arts Education [Adopted April 2010] 

 
5. Next Steps – prior to preparation of materials for the Delegates Assembly and the March NAEA 
Board Meeting in February 2013 

 Each writing team will finalize a draft of their Position Statement(s) by December 1. (Two Position 
Statements have already been drafted and reviewed as of the date of this report.) 

 By mid-January, the Platform Working Group will review each draft Position Statement and notify 
the writing teams if the drafts are fine or if more work is needed prior to the vetting process. 

 By mid-January, the Platform Working Group will review the five Position Statements scheduled 
for review this year and make a recommendation regarding each Position Statement as part of 
the report(s) to the Delegates Assembly and the NAEA Board. 

 In early February, draft Position Statements will be vetted by posting them on the NAEA website, 
with an email blast notification to the Delegates Assembly, NAEA Board, Chairs of the Issues 
Groups, Division-Director Elects.  Additional steps are noted in the timeline.  

 
Attachments: 
NAEA Platform Working Group Timeline 2012-2013 (FYI) 
Process for the Development, Adoption and Review of Position Statements 
 
Vice Presidents 
Laura Milas, Chair, Platform Working Group, and Vice President, Western Region (Illinois) 
Linda Popp, Vice President, Eastern Region (Maryland) 
Debra S. Pylypiw, Vice President, Southeastern Region (North Carolina) 
Penelope (“Penny”) Venola, Vice President, Pacific Region (California) 
 
Division Directors 
Kirby Meng, Division Director, Elementary Division (Georgia) 
Linda W. Kieling, Division Director, Middle Level Division (Oregon) 
Lynn Felts, Division Director, Secondary Division (Kansas) 
Barbara Boswell Laws, Division Director, Supervision and Administration Division (Virginia) 
James Haywood Rolling, Jr., Division Director, Higher Education Division (New York) 
Anne Manning, Division Director, Museum Education Division (Maryland) 
 
Kathi R. Levin, NAEA Consultant, (Virginia) 
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NAEA Platform Working Group 2012 - 2013 

 
Note: As the six Platform Statements have been finalized, the Platform Working Group will meet monthly 
to work on Draft Position Statements and review drafts as they are completed. Position Statements can 
be recommended at any time for consideration. 
 
September 10 and 24, 2012, Platform Working Group Conference Calls 

 Review of charge and materials adopted to date 

 Reporting on topics/issues for Position Statements recommended during Regional Meetings 
(incorporated into documents for this meeting) 

 Platform Working Group reviews recommendations for Position Statements, prioritizing 3-6 
Position Statements for development during 2012-2013 and review by the Delegates Assembly, 
including consideration of who should draft each statement.  

 Begin review of five Position Statements from 2010 up for three-year review. 
   
October 8 and 29, 2012 Platform Working Group Conference Calls 
Further discussion of this year‟s work plan, to focus on: 

 If not already completed, finalize prioritizing recommendations for which Position Statements will 
be developed during 2011-2012 and identifying who should draft each statement and who will 
contact them. Establish a deadline of December 1, 2012 for drafts. 

 Prior to the next meeting - Assignments made to groups/individuals to develop draft Position 
Statements for consideration by the Platform Working Group 

 Review of any incoming draft Position Statements 
 
November 12, 2012 Platform Working Group Conference Calls 

 Update on assignment of Position Statements for drafting by others 

 Preparation/Approval of report for December 2012 NAEA Board Meeting by mid-November 

 Review of any incoming draft Position Statements 
 
December 1, 2012 - Deadline requested for submission of draft Position Statements 
 
December date(s) TBD Platform Working Group Conference Call 

 Review of any incoming draft Position Statements 

 Continue review of five Position Statements from 2010 up for three-year review. Make any 
changes/revisions to these Position Statements.  

 
January 2013 (dates TBD) Platform Working Group Conference Calls  
(number of calls determined by workflow) 

 Review draft Position Statements developed to date. 

 Determine if additional redrafting is needed for any statements and implement a timeline for doing 
so in order to finalize drafts prior to the vetting process. 

o Timeline continues on the next page →→→ 
January 2013 (dates TBD) Platform Working Group Conference Calls continued  

 Determine if additional redrafting is needed for any statements and implement a timeline for doing 
so in order to finalize drafts prior to the vetting process. 

 Finalize review of five Position Statements from 2010 up for three-year review. Finalize 
recommendations (maintain, maintain with changes, archive). 

 Prepare for vetting process by late January 2013. 
 
End of January/First week in February 2013 Conference Calls 

 Platform Working Group reviews any additional Position Statements and final documents for 
vetting process 

 Finalize cover memo and draft Position Statements to implement vetting process (by February 1, 
2013).  
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February 2013 

 Vetting process implemented first week in February 
 
February 2013 Platform Working Group Conference Call 

 Documents for Delegates Assembly finalized by early February 

 Committee report finalized for NAEA Board meeting by early February.  

 Platform Working Group convenes to review any feedback from the vetting process. (For the last 
three years this has happened after the reports are submitted to allow the maximum amount of 
time for the vetting process. If there isn‟t a lot of feedback, there is no meeting held.) 

 Vice Presidents prepare for Delegates Assembly presentation. 
 
February 28, 2013 – NAEA Board Meeting (see March 2013 below) 

 Platform Working Group reports on progress at NAEA Board Meeting  
 
March 7 and March 8, 2013 – NAEA Delegates Assembly 

 NAEA Delegates Assembly discusses & recommends NAEA Board adoption of  
Position Statements drafted this year.  

 
March 10, 2013 – NAEA Board Meeting (see February and March 2013 above) 

 NAEA takes action on items recommended by the NAEA Delegates Assembly. 
 
March/April 2013 

 Further action on Platform Statements and Position Statements depending on March 2013 
Delegates Assembly and Board Meetings. 

 Updates to NAEA website to reflect action. 

 Conference call to assist incoming Vice Presidents transitioning to this work.  
 
April/May 2013 – If needed, Platform Working Group convenes to review action  
 from March 2012 and begin next steps 
 
June and July 2013 – Regional Meetings include discussion of ideas for Position  
 Statements. 
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Process for the Development, Adoption and Review of Position Statements 
 

Recommended for adoption by the Delegates Assembly, April 2009 
Adopted by the NAEA Board, July 2009 

 
About NAEA Position Statements 
NAEA Position Statements should be reflective of a national issue or topic of interest to the profession 
and/or field of visual art education and should advance the mission of the Association. Once adopted by 
the NAEA Board of Directors, NAEA Position Statements represent the „official‟ position of the 
Association, and should be useful to both members and the national office, when responding to requests 
from the media, school board members and school administrators, legislators, Congressional offices, and 
other policy makers regarding the view of the visual arts education community pertaining to an issue or 
topic. Position Statements can also be used to guide direction for the association‟s programming and 
activities. 
 
Adoption of NAEA Position Statements 
In the interest of participation and transparency, all members are invited to participate in the identification 
of salient issues and trends within the profession and the field and in the recommendation and 
development of Position Statements to be reviewed and discussed by the Delegates Assembly. All NAEA 
leaders are invited to participate in the discussion at the Delegates Assembly meeting. The Delegates 
Assembly will vote on a recommendation to the NAEA Board for action on each Position Statement 
presented. All NAEA Position Statements are adopted by the NAEA Board.  
 
How to Recommend a Position Statement 
Recommendations for position statements may be initiated from several sources, such as:  

 The NAEA Board (includes Regional Vice Presidents and Division Directors),  

 The Delegates Assembly,  

 NAEA Issues Groups,  

 State Associations,  

 Individual NAEA members  
 
NAEA members who are interested in recommending that NAEA create and adopt a Position Statement 
on a particular issue should contact their representative(s) to the NAEA Board (Division or Region) or 
their state association.  
 
Recommendations may take the form of: 
1) A suggestion for an issue or topic to be addressed in a Position Statement, or  
2) An actual draft of a Position Statement. 
   
Management of the Process for Developing, Vetting, and Recommending Position Statements for 
Action by the NAEA Board. 
 
In order to begin NAEA‟s work on the development of NAEA‟s Platform and Position Statements, the 
Platform Working Group was formed in early 2008.  Originally comprised of the four Vice Presidents, the 
Division Director-elects were added to the group in November 2008. The Division Director-elects were 
added rather than the Division Directors in order to have continuity in 2009 when (in a few months) the 
elects would become the Division Directors. One of the Vice Presidents was chosen to serve as chair. We 
will continue the work of the current ad-hoc committee for the time being until the Board takes action on 
the formulation of a standing committee.  (The Platform Working Group became a Standing Committee in 
April 2010.) 
 
The Platform Working Group is charged with managing NAEA‟s Platform and Position Statements.  All 
recommendations for new Position Statements are referred to the Chair of the Platform Working Group. It 
is the responsibility of the Chair to see that recommendations are placed on the agenda for the next 
Platform Working Group meeting. The Platform Working Group meets in advance of each NAEA Board 
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meeting. (October, January, May) and at additional times throughout the year as needed to complete its 
work.  
 
While recommendations for new Position Statements can come forward at any time, it is most expedient if 
these recommendations are made prior to the October meeting of the Platform Working Group so that 
they can be reviewed prior to the Delegates Assembly meeting at the national convention.  
 
The following process is employed when developing and adopting Position Statements for the 
association.   
 
Step 1:  Recommendation is Received by the Platform Working Group          
The Chair of the Platform Working Group receives a recommendation. 
 
Step 2:  Recommendation is Discussed by the Platform Working Group. The Platform Working 
Group Determines the Course of Action for Each Recommendation.        
The Platform Working Group discusses the recommendation at one of its scheduled meetings.  
 
A. If the recommendation is presented as a suggestion for an issue or topic to be addressed in a 
Position Statement these steps are followed: 
  

1. The Platform Working Group agrees that NAEA should develop and adopt a Position Statement 
regarding the suggested issue or topic.  

2. (optional step) If the Platform Working Group feels it needs input from the NAEA Board regarding 
whether or not a Position Statement on this issue or topic should be prepared, this will be secured 
at the next NAEA Board meeting. The NAEA Board may determine that - 

a. the Platform Working Group should move forward with the development of a draft 
Position Statement on this issue or topic, or  

b. that development of a draft Position Statement should be delayed for a period of time, or  
c. that it is not in the best interest of NAEA to develop a Position Statement regarding this 

issue or topic at this time. 
3. The Platform Working Group identifies appropriate expertise to develop the draft Position 

Statement. This could be the Platform Working Group itself, members of an Issues Group, staff 
members, or another group of individuals with knowledge of the issue or topic. 

4. The Platform Working Group establishes a deadline for the draft to be finalized. Once the draft 
has been received, the process for reviewing a draft of a Position Statement is implemented. 

 
B. If the recommendation is presented as the draft of a Position Statement, the Platform Working 
Group recommends one of the following options: 

 
1. The Platform Working Group reviews the draft and approves it as is, and the draft goes to the 

Delegates Assembly for review and action. 
2. The Platform Working Group reviews the draft, makes modifications, and approves it with those 

modifications, and the draft goes to the Delegates Assembly for review and action. 
3. The Platform Working Group feels that the draft of the Position Statement needs more work, 

provides comments back to the group that drafted the Position Statement for more writing work 
and a deadline for returning a new draft to the Platform Working Group;  

a. The Platform Working Group receives a new draft and approves it as is, or modifies it 
further, followed by presenting it to the Delegates Assembly for review and action. 

 
Step 3: Vetting Process Prior to the Delegates Assembly  
Any Draft Position Statements that will be discussed at the Delegates Assembly will also be posted 
electronically for review by the membership prior to the Delegates Assembly. Comments may be 
forwarded to the Chair of the Platform Working Group prior to the Delegates Assembly.  There will be time 
for discussion about drafts of Position Statements during the Delegates Assembly meeting, and all NAEA 
leaders are welcome to participate in these discussions. 
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Step 4: Delegates Assembly - Discussion and Determination of a Recommendation to the NAEA 
Board regarding the Position Statement 
Following discussion, the NAEA Delegates Assembly will vote on their recommendation regarding the 
draft of the Position Statement as a recommendation to the NAEA Board for action at their next meeting. 

1. The Delegates Assembly approves the draft of the Position Statement as is, or approves it with 
modifications, and recommends that the modified Position Statement be adopted by the NAEA 
Board, or 

2. The Delegates Assembly rejects the draft of the Position Statement and recommends that the 
NAEA Board not adopt it. 

 
Step 5: NAEA Board Action on the Position Statement   
The NAEA Board, at its next meeting, will consider the recommendations and take action based on the 
recommendations of the Delegates Assembly. 

 
The NAEA Board can vote to: 

1. Adopt the Position Statement as is, or  
2. Modify and adopt the Position Statement, or 
3. Send it back to the Platform Working Group for further work, or  
4. Reject it entirely, meaning that there will not be a NAEA Position Statement on this issue or topic 

at this time. 
 
Approved Position Statements will be posted on the NAEA website. 
Once adopted by the NAEA Board, statements will become the „official‟ position of the Association, and 
part of NAEA‟s Platform and published via appropriate NAEA communications vehicles, including the 
NAEA website. The NAEA website contains a location to house information about the NAEA Platform and 
Position Statements and a listing of the Chair and other members of the Platform Working Group with 
contact information. 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Regularly Scheduled Reviews – Every 3 Years 
After approval by the NAEA Board, each NAEA Position Statement is automatically reviewed by the 
NAEA Platform Working Group every 3 years.  In completing this review, the Platform Working Group 
makes a recommendation to the Delegates Assembly to reaffirm, modify or archive each Position 
Statement. The new language to modify Position Statements should be provided with the 
recommendation.   
 
The Delegates Assembly reviews the recommendation of the Platform Working Group for each Position 
Statement. The Delegates Assembly approves or further modifies the recommendations for all of the 
Position Statements under review and submits them to the NAEA Board.  The NAEA Board then takes 
action by vote on each Position Statement under review.  
 

 
NAEA Board Action on Position Statements When Action Cannot Wait for Delegates Assembly 
Recognizing the NAEA Board of Directors as the governing authority of the Association, there are times 
when NAEA needs a Position Statement on an issue, given its visibility in the media or other discussion in 
the education community, and it will not be possible to wait up to a year for the next meeting of the 
Delegates Assembly. The following process outlines steps for adopting a new Position Statement falling 
outside the regular approval process as previously described.  
 
Positions of NAEA 
In its role as leading advocate for visual arts education, NAEA routinely takes positions on many issues 
related to legislation and national policy. 
 
1. The NAEA Board develops policy positions at its meetings throughout the year as required by 
circumstances that arise. 
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2. Throughout the year as required, the NAEA Board in consultation with the Executive Director develops 
policy positions on behalf of the association. 
 
3. All positions established to either influence a decision of other organizations or bodies external to 
NAEA, or define the thinking of NAEA members on issues of public concern, shall be developed through 
one of three processes:  

1) Action by the NAEA Board, or 
2) Action by the NAEA Board as recommended action by the Delegates Assembly, or 
3) Action by the NAEA Board as recommended by the Platform Working Group.   
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NAEA Platform Working Group 
Item for December 2012 NAEA Board Meeting 

 
November 14, 2012 
TO:  NAEA Board of Directors 
FROM:  Laura Milas, Chair, on behalf of the NAEA Platform Working Group 
RE:  CCCR Consensus Statement on Teacher Evaluation 
 
The Platform Working Group is working on drafting five new Position Statements this year for the March 
2013 Delegates Assembly and NAEA Board Meeting.  This includes a new Position Statement on 
Teacher Evaluation and Student Growth.   
 
In preparing the draft position statement, the Platform Working Group has reviewed the NAEA Position 
Statement on PreK-12 Teacher Evaluation in the Visual Arts (Adopted March 2011) to ensure alignment 
without duplication.  
 
In addition, the College, Career, and Citizenship Readiness Coalition (CCCR), which NAEA is part of, has 
prepared the attached Consensus Statement on Teacher Evaluation. We reviewed this document as part 
of our work in order to make sure that 1) we weren‟t missing something in our draft statement, and 2) to 
see if our statement was in alignment with this one.  
 
It is our understanding that NAEA has the opportunity to sign-on to this CCCR Position Statement as a 
member of the College, Career, and Citizenship Readiness Coalition and the Whole Child Partnership 
Initiative at ASCD.   
 
There is nothing in this statement that we have a conflict with.  
We would recommend that NAEA sign on to this statement.  
 
Attachments: 
College, Career, and Citizenship Readiness Coalition (CCCR) Consensus Statement on Teacher 
Evaluation 
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College, Career, and Citizenship Readiness Coalition 
Consensus Statement on Teacher Evaluation 

 
Teacher quality is the most important in-school factor influencing student learning and achievement. 
Research shows that students with high-performing teachers can progress three times as fast as students 
with low-performing teachers. Each student deserves access to highly effective teachers in every subject. 
In turn, all teachers deserve a fair and accurate assessment of their skills. Teacher effectiveness is 
dependent on accurate and fair evaluations based on multiple measures, including their students‟ 
performance in the subjects they teach.  
 
Unfortunately, many school systems that use student test scores as a measure in evaluating teacher 
effectiveness use only math and language arts scores. This evaluation strategy results in inaccurate, 
unfair, and misleading data about teacher performance that hinder both teacher practice and student 
learning. The consequences of evaluating teachers on student test scores in subjects unrelated to the 
ones they teach can be harmful, be financially wasteful, and cause good teachers to leave the profession.  
 
Teachers should be evaluated based on their performance in their own subject area using a range of 
criteria, including observations, peer reviews, parental or student input, and analysis of agreed-on student 
learning evidence. Evaluations that use these criteria are more likely to produce results that are relevant 
to the improvement of teaching and can serve as a catalyst for continued growth and learning for both 
teachers and students.  
 
Although student test scores can be a valuable component of teacher evaluation, care must be given to 
ensure that this metric produces results that truly benefit students, schools, and educators. The following 
recommendations are intended to guide the creation and implementation of successful and fair teacher 
evaluation protocols.  
 
Teacher evaluation systems should  
 
 Include student achievement measures that are directly attributable to the individual teacher‟s subject 
area in a manner that clearly reflects the teacher‟s contributions to students‟ learning.  
 
 Rely on evaluation instruments that accurately reflect the achievements being measured. These 
instruments should be used by individuals with sufficient expertise to accurately observe and interpret the 
outcomes under measurement.  
 
 Be based on curricula that are taught under model national, state, and local standards using clear 
criteria made available to the teacher in advance.  
 
 Take into account the number of students taught and the instruction time available.  
 
 Capture all levels of achievement from the beginning level of knowledge, skill, and ability from which 
growth is expected to take place, to the very highest levels of mastery.  
 
 Be organized on a multiyear cycle to allow for appropriate professional development and growth.  
 
 Inform instructional improvement and professional growth to help teachers improve their service to 
students.  
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Parts of the Eastern Region have been devastated by Hurricane Sandy, October 29-30, 2012.  As of this 
writing (November 8) there is much interest in offering assistance to visual arts teachers and their 
students.  Individual state organizations and local districts are beginning to discuss, share, and develop 
ideas.   
 
Fundraiser:  Shells for the New Jersey Shore 
http://shellsfornjshores.weebly.com/ 
“Shells for NJ Shores” is an art project for teachers and students everywhere!  Teachers and students are 
invited to create small “seashell themed” works of art and sell them to raise money for those who need 
assistance recovering and rebuilding in New Jersey. 
 
The Eastern Region is without a Vice President Elect.  We have two candidates on the current election 
ballot, Peter Geisser and Julia Lang-Shapiro.  Results will be determined in mid-December.  
 
Art Education District of Columbia (AEDC) is a new NAEA affiliate in our nation‟s capital.  A Launch Event 
took place at the Carriage House of The Phillips Collection in early October.  They are hosting elections 
for President, President-Elect, and representatives for public schools, private schools, charter schools, 
museums, higher education, and community arts education (closing November 9). 
 
Community 
•Eastern Region article written for NAEA News Summer and October 
•Information about post Sandy fund-raising efforts shared with VPs, Eastern Region Presidents and Team 
East attendees  
•Working with MAEA (Massachusetts) planning the Summer 2013 Eastern Region Leadership 
Conference in New Bedford, June 21 – 23, 2013 
•WVAEA, West Virginia, Conference was October 26, 27 at Fairmont State University  
•PAEA (Pennsylvania) “Design For Life” Conference was October 5 – 7 in Harrisburg and featured 
several keynote speakers of national and international prominence 
•NHAEA (New Hampshire) and RIAEA (Rhode Island) publicize organization news on Facebook 
 
Advocacy 
• Eastern Region state organizations are gearing up for Youth Art Month 
•AEDC had teachers post advocacy ideas at their Launch Party 
•WVAEA is participating in the West Virginia Department of Education Arts Alive Showcase for the Arts in 
Education 
•Art @ NJEA cancelled due to Hurricane Sandy (New Jersey) 
 
Learning 
•CAEA (Connecticut) hosts regional meetings that include “Lesson Share For All Levels”  
•CAEA had a very successful conference with Mia Pearlman as a fantastic keynote speaker. 
MAEA (Maryland) Conference was October 19 with Olivia Gude as keynote speaker and featured Journal 
Junkies (Dave Modler and Eric Scott) workshops 
•I was a keynote speaker at the Kutztown University “Framing The Future” Conference Friday, November 
16: “Me, A Leader? OMG”  
•NYSATA (New York) has Common Core Resources for Educators posted on their website 
 
 

NAEA Eastern Region Report 
 
Submitted by: 
Linda Popp, MD – lpopp@bcps.org 
 

December, 2012 
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Research and Knowledge 
• VATA (Vermont) and MAEA (Maryland) provide surveys at their conferences to receive feedback as to 
how to best support visual arts teachers.  The data determines the direction for future work.  
 
Organizational Vibrancy 
•West Virginia – election of new officers:  President: Sandy Shaw; Vice-President: Jennifer Yerdon-
LeJeune; Past-President: Maribea Barnes; secretary: Alison Siewny; Treasurer: Vicki Fergus 
•Co-chairing the Arts Integration Position Statement writing team 
•Participating in the NAEA Platform Working Group – conference calls  
•PAEA (Pennsylvania) Leadership Council meets once a month via a web conferencing service called 
GoToMeeting 
•NHAEA and MAEA (Maine) post “Benefits Of Membership on their websites 
DAEA (Delaware) posts Yearly Reflection and goals on website 
•Many Eastern Region state organizations are strengthening and expanding their websites 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Popp 
11/11/2012 
 
 
  

58



PACIFIC REGION REPORT 
November 5, 2012 
Penelope Venola 

 
Happy autumn from the Pacific Region! 
 
Fall is traditionally the time for state conferences.  Alaska, Arizona, British Columbia, California, Colorado, 
Idaho, Nevada, Oregon, Utah, and Washington all have hosted conferences with a wide variety of 
activities, keynote speakers, and networking.   
 
Two states combined with other associations to bolster collaboration and integration between the arts and 
other disciplines.  British Columbia partnered with The Association of British Columbia Drama Educators 
with duel activities involving both arts disciplines.  California presented a two day History Institute to 
implement integration between the two disciplines.  Day one was history seminars and day two was 
art/history integration workshops. 
 
Utah held two regional conferences.  Their annual state conference will be next February. 
 
The region is in preparation for the Summer 2013 Leadership Forum in Vancouver, British Columbia.  
This will be a first for BC.  We will be staying at and using the facilities of the University of British 
Columbia.  Located overlooking the magnificent Straits of Georgia. 
 
To foster creativity and networking between the states, twelve state representatives are participating in a 
Round Robin Altered Book Exchange.  The initial books were sent out at the end of August.  Already, 
there have been three pages completed and sent on to the next name on the roster.  It is so exciting to 
see what each person does with the pages and helps keep our creativity alive and well.  When the books 
finally come full circle back to the originator, each participant will have a one-of-a-kind Artist‟s Book filled 
with fascinating artwork. 
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NAEA Southeastern Region Vice-President Report 
Fall, 2012 
Debra Pylypiw, Vice President 
Debi West, Vice President-Elect 
 
 
 
Advocacy 

 Sent cv to Scholastics for consideration as judge. Had to turn in 
down for lack of funding. 

 
Community 

 VP attended South Carolina Art Education Association professional development conference 
from October 25 – 27 in Myrtle Beach, SC. Gave two presentations – one on happenings of 
NAEA and the other on technology and art education. 

 VP attended Virginia Art Education Association 50
th
 anniversary professional development 

conference from November 1 – 3 in Norfolk, VA. Gave one presentation on technology and art 
education. 

 VP traveling to the Florida Art Education Association professional development conference from 
November 8 – 11 in St. Petersburg, Florida. Will give two presentations - one on happenings of 
NAEA and the other on technology and art education. 

 
Learning 

 VPs met with Division Directors and Kathi Levin as Platform Working Group – September 24, 
October 8, October 29 

 Chaired the Distance Education Position Statement writing team. Initial meeting held on October 
17, continued meetings on October 22 and November 7. Draft Position Statement to be 
presented to Platform Working Group on November 7. 

 Met with ad hoc committee regarding student division proposal on October 30. Unable to attend 
on November 5. Follow-up meeting being scheduled. 

 
Research and Knowledge 

 Position statement work 
 
Organizational Vibrancy 

 NAEA News column written and submitted 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Debra S. Pylypiw 
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NAEA Western Region Vice-President’s Report  
Ft. Worth, TX  December, 2012 
Laura Milas, Vice President 
Elizabeth Harris Willet, Vice President-Elect 
 
B Advocacy 

 Western Region leaders were asked to develop advocacy plans for their state organizations.  Key 
advocacy ideas from the previous leadership conference were reviewed in Austin with 
participants at the Western Region Leadership Conference.   

 
A Community 

 Western Region Updates continue to be important ways to share and deliver information to state 
leaders. 

 Communicated via email and phone with several leaders in the region about various issues; 
including:  CTE related concerns, planning future leadership conferences, and seeking volunteers 
for various NAEA endeavors 

 A meeting with NAEA Research Commission member, Christopher Grodoski, occurred to discuss 
Western Region feedback and the work of the commission.  State leaders were invited to attend 
the conference sessions of the Research Commission. 

 
C Learning 

 Continued to send out email “WR Updates” to the leadership.  Items included: awards deadlines, 
called for news and photos for the next issue of NAEA News, opportunities to present at 
conference,  conference registration information, and information about conference sessions;  
Delegates Assembly, Region Award Ceremonies, and State Leadership Business Meeting. 

 
D Research and Knowledge 

 Participated in the NAEA Platform Working Group conference calls and, Co-chaired a writing 
group on CTE. 

 
E Organizational Vibrancy 

 Attended NAEA Board meeting in July, in Louisville, KY. 

 Wrote two NAEA News columns 

 Contacted potential awards readers for selection of the Newsletter/Website Awards. 

 Note that this is a very busy period in the Western Region because of state conferences.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Laura Milas 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A  E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 200/1 
 
 
ITEM:  2013 CANDIDATES FOR PRESIDENT-ELECT, DIVISION DIRECTORS-ELECT 
  AND SPECIAL ELECTION FOR EASTERN REGION VICE PRESIDENT-ELECT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Following is the final slate of candidates for the 2013 election for President-Elect, Division Directors-Elect, 
and special election for Eastern Region Vice President-Elect.  Voting will end on December 15. 
 
President-Elect 
Patricia Franklin, Supervisor of Fine Arts, Newport News Public Schools/Newport News, VA 
Diane Scully, Visual Art Teacher/Department Chair, Columbia Heights High School, Columbia Heights, 
MN 
 
Elementary-Elect 
Thomas Knab, K-4 Art Teacher, Dodge Elementary School, East Amherst, NY 
Nate Morgan, K-4 Art Teacher, Hillside School, Hastings-on-Hudson, NY 
 
Middle Level-Elect 
Aimee Burgamy, Art Teacher, Trickum Middle School, Gwinnett County Public Schools, Lilburn, GA 
September Buys, Middle Level Art Teacher, Greenville Middle School, Greenville, MI 
 
Secondary-Elect 
Andrea Haas, Art Teacher: Wethersfield High School, Wethersfield, CT 
Rebecca Stone-Danahy, Ashley Hall, Charleston, SC 
 
Higher Education-Elect 
Sara Wilson McKay, Chair and Associate Professor, Art Education, Virginia Commonwealth University, 
Richmond, VA 
Robin Vande Zande, Associate Professor of Art and Design Education, Kent State University, OH 
 
Supervision/Administration-Elect 
Cheryl Maney, PreK-12 Visual Arts Curriculum Supervisor, Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools, Charlotte, NC 
Elizabeth Stuart, Art Content Specialist, Montgomery County Public Schools, MD 
 
Museum-Elect 
Christopher Whitehead, Manager of Youth and Family Class Programs, Worcester Art Museum, 
Worcester, MA 
Emily Holtrop, Director of Learning & Interpretation, Cincinnati Art Museum, Cincinnati, OH 
 
Eastern Region Vice President-Elect (special election):  
Peter Geisser, Retired from 30 years at the Rhode Island School for the Deaf, Providence RI 
Currently teaching at University of Massachusetts Dartmouth, Special Needs Issues and Supervising 
Student Teachers 
Julia Lang-Shapiro, Visual Arts Department Chairperson, Northport/East Northport Schools, Northport, 
NY 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Ratification of slate of candidates for 2013 election (as included in the Consent 
Agenda). 
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    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number:  300/1 
 
 
ITEM:  PURPOSES, PRINCIPLES, AND STANDARDS FOR SCHOOL ART PROGRAMS 
   REVISION COMMITTEE 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

NAEA Purposes, Principles, and Standards for School Art Programs  
Revision Committee 

Report for December 12 NAEA Board Meeting 
 
 
Michael Parks, Chair of the NAEA Purposes, Principles, and Standards for School Art Programs Revision 
Committee and Kathi Levin have been working throughout October and November to finalize the draft of 
this publication to reflect the final work of the Revision Committee.  
 
Content draft to be completed December 2012; ready for edit/design in the spring and publication 
summer 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 300/2 
 
 
ITEM:  DESIGN STANDARDS FOR SCHOOL ART FACILITIES REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
  

NAEA Design Standards for School Art Facilities Review Committee 
Report for December 2012 NAEA Board Meeting 

 
Based upon the work of the Facilities Review Committee, Kathi Levin is serving as writer for updating the 
Facilities publication. The remaining portions of the draft publication require scheduled phone conference 
calls with the committee members.  
 
Content draft to be completed between January 2013 and March 2013 and will be ready for edit/design in 
the spring and publication by summer 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A   E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 300/3 
 
 
ITEM:  BOARD AD-HOC COMMITTEE TO STUDY STUDENT DIVISION STATUS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Board appointed Ad Hoc Committee (Barry Shauck, Chair; Barbara Laws; Anne Manning; Debra 
Pylypiw; and James Rolling, Jr.) charged with exploring the feasibility of creating a Student Division met 
several times via conference call following the July Board of Directors meeting.   The Committee 
thoroughly discussed the questions and comments raised during the Board’s conversation at the July 
meeting, consulted with Amy Pfeiler-Wunder as needed, and identified additional considerations. 
 
The attached document succinctly captures the Committee’s discussions and preliminary outcomes.  The 
Committee has identified the following areas for the Board’s continued discussion and for additional 
consideration:   
 
Consider impact if Student Division follows same tenure cycles for Board service:  two years as an Elect 
and two years as a Director. 
 
Consider stratification of who can serve in leadership role within Student Division (first year student vs. 
doctoral student). 
 
What challenges about current structure of Student Leadership Team and their participation in an annual 
meeting of the Board of Directors will be resolved by creation of the Student Division. 
 
Consideration of systems and processes in place to limit membership terms in Student Division.  NAEA’s 
current systems are unable to automatically validate student status and to prohibit part-time students 
and/or working graduate students from securing the lower dues rates associated with student 
memberships. 
 
Additionally, in support of NAEA’s commitment to enhanced organizational transparency and leadership 
development, the Ad Hoc Committee is seeking feedback on the impact of the Student Division at the 
state level from state art education association leaders. The survey was designed to ensure that state 
leaders have the opportunity to note the impact the proposed Student Division may have on their state 
association.  The attached survey was distributed prior to the Thanksgiving holiday with responses due 
November 30.   
 
With additional discussion, input, and guidance from the NAEA Board of Directors, along with input from 
state leaders, the Ad Hoc Committee anticipates seeking a revised proposal from the Student Chapter 
Leaders that incorporates clarification and additional information related to the development of the new 
Division.  The revised Student Division proposal would be available for the Board’s review and 
consideration at the March Board of Directors meeting in Fort Worth, TX.  Pending further exploration or 
clarification and with the Board’s approval, the Student Division proposal could be put forth to the 2014 
Delegates Assembly for consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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NAEA:  Exploration of Student Division

December 2012

Item for Discussion Discussion Outcome

Clarification around the overlap of current NAEA 

membership divisions and classes of membership 

with the proposed Early Professional Division;

No overlap was identified.  Within the definition of 

"student," this group of members is not currently 

aligned with any division. 

Change proposed Division name to Student 

Division

Impact of expanding the definition of Division 

Director in recognition that current Board Director 

positions are based on job category and the proposed 

Early Professional Division would be based on a 

period of time category;

Similarly, Student Division is based on a "job 

category."  ("Job" defined as student.)  Potential 

challenges in tracking length of student membership 

in existing NAEA database (as well as future 

databases).  

Incorporation of Student Division will require 

a change in NAEA's Constitution and Bylaws. 

Additionally, NAEA will need to define "Full-

time Student" within the revised governance 

documents.

Impact on the current 2,600 students in the Student 

Member category;

Students become eligible to "vote" for their Student 

Division Director; reallocation of funds typically used 

for "Student Reception" on convention; opportunity 

for enhanced voice/participation by sitting on 

National Board.

Impact on cross-division research, the NAEA Research 

Commission, and NAEA Awards programs;

No impact.  All programs and awards remain 

unchanged.  Students remain eligible for existing 

awards.

How does NAEA best serve the needs of the existing 

Student Member and what benefits or services will be 

needed to serve the needs of the proposed Early 

Professional Division and how that may differ

No significant change in member benefits.  Students 

currently receive full member benefits, except the 

right to vote/hold office.  
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NAEA:  Exploration of Student Division

December 2012

Item for Discussion Discussion Outcome

Impact on dues structure both nationally and at the 

state level and potential impact on the state 

association Bylaws

Survey NAEA State Association Partners with a dues 

collection agreement to gather input on fiscal impact.  

For NAEA, there may be an opportunity to increase 

the Student dues so that they are not subsidized at 

the existing level (recognizing that in 2010, it cost $52 

to fulfill a membership and Student dues is currently 

$35).

System limitations on setting time restraints on a 

membership category – NAEA’s current database 

cannot track or manage this type of dynamic 

information

This is an area of concern.  NAEA's database does not 

have the capacity to track "how long" a member may 

remain in one category. 

Consider honor system; and upgrades to 

NAEA's database TBD by cost and full analysis 

in year 3 of NAEA's strategic plan

Potential impact on convention registration rates and 

member benefits Under exploration.  

Survey sent to state association leaders to 

glean their input on impact on conference 

registrations; and if the level of benefits they 

provide is different for student members

Clarification of student representation through the 

regional directors under each Division Director

Many students are not currently represented through 

the Divisions as most students have not selected their 

career path and/or have not pursued licensure 

Student members have unique needs and 

perspectives that are not represented by 

existing Divisions

Consider impact if Student Division follows same 

tenure cycles for Board service:  two years as an Elect; 

two years as a Director.  

Recognition that two year term as an Elect and two 

years as a Division Director may not align with elected 

Student's career or school tenure.  

Impact of changing NAEA's Constitution and Bylaws 

to accommodate new Student Division.

Careful thought and consideration needed to 

strategically plan activities related to a change in 

NAEA's Constitution and Bylaws.
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NAEA:  Exploration of Student Division

December 2012

Item for Discussion Discussion Outcome

How will Students transition to division; what does it 

look like being a Division?  How will new Student 

Division communicate with constituents?

Concern that discussions related to transition have 

focused on the impact on the social reception; and 

have not addressed the impact on larger 

communications.  

 Share Division Director handbook with 

student division and ask that proposal be 

revised thatmore explicitly takes roles, 

responsiblities, and expectations of Division 

Directors into consideration

Consider stratification of who can serve in leadership 

role within Student Division (first year student vs. 

doctoral student)

Can students meet the expectations and demands 

from time and commitment to participate on the 

National Board?  Concern if every student has 

capability to apply for this kind of position and to 

devote the time necessary to participate in Board 

meetings.

Student proposal is very well written and clearly 

thinks through the purpose of becoming an "early 

professionals" or student division.  Ask revised 

proposal to think through the purpose of remaining a 

student chapter/membership level.

Would like to get a clearer idea of what is not being 

provided now under existing student membership 

category; that student leadership team feels they 

need a seat at the Board.  Does creation of Division 

resolve the challenges?
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November 19, 2013 
 
TO:    State Art Education Association Leaders 
 
FR:  Barry Shauck, NAEA Past President   
 
RE:  Impact of Proposed Student Division 
 
While NAEA currently has a membership category for students, the NAEA Board of 
Directors is exploring the NAEA Board governance structure and, specifically, the 
feasibility of establishing a Student Division.   
 
Divisions, as outlined in the NAEA Constitution, are defined as:   
 
Divisions shall be made up of job-alike groups of the membership. These shall be the 
Division of Elementary Education, the Division of Middle Level Education, the Division of 
Secondary Education, the Division of Higher Education, the Division of Supervision and 
Administration, the Division of Museum Education. Each Division shall have a National 
Director, National Director-Elect, Regional Directors and Regional Directors-Elect. 
 
NAEA Divisions are represented by a Division Director that is elected by the NAEA 
membership to serve on the Board of Directors.  Division Directors, as outlined in the 
NAEA Bylaws, are charged, as follows: 
 
It shall be the duty of the Division Directors to serve on the Board of Directors, to 
develop the program for the Division including conferences and other professional 
activities; to appoint Regional Division Directors with consultation of the Regional Vice 
President; and to work with the Regional Division Directors in developing a professional 
program for their Divisions. 
 
While NAEA and many state art education associations currently offer a Student 
membership category, creation of the Student Division may enhance diversity on the 
NAEA Board and better support the development of conferences, programs, products, 
and services that advance visual arts education at the early career stages.  The 
proposed Student Division is separate from the existing membership category and, if 
established, will align with other NAEA Divisions: Elementary, Middle, Secondary, 
Higher Education, Museum Education, and Supervision/Administration. 
 
Establishment of the proposed NAEA Student Division will require a change to NAEA’s 
Constitution and Bylaws; which must be supported by the Delegates Assembly and 
recommended for acceptance to the NAEA Board of Directors.  The timeline for 
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Delegates Assembly review of a proposed Student Division is to be determined at this 
time.   
 
The Board-appointed Ad Hoc Committee charged with exploring the impact of the 
proposed Student Division would like the input of state affiliate leaders. Please click on 
the following link to complete the survey: http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/naea-cmte. It 
will take less than 5 minutes of your time to complete. Thank you for providing us with 
your feedback. 
 
 
 
CC:  Bob Sabol, NAEA President 
  Dennis Inhulsen, NAEA President-Elect 
  Deborah Reeve, EdD, NAEA Executive Director 
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E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 400/1 
 
 
ITEM:  FY2012 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The FY2012 audit process began with on-site fieldwork, performed by NAEA Board-approved auditing 
firm, Rogers & Company in mid-September.  The audit process included a physical review and testing of 
financial transactions that were recorded during the fiscal year (July 1, 2011 – June 30, 2012).  Following 
the review of NAEA’s governing documents, financial policies and procedures, and upon completion of 
their financial testing, Rogers & Company prepared the attached audited financial statements and letter to 
the Board.   

Financial audits consist of three key components; financial statement reconciliation and analysis; and 
presentation of the audited financial statements and letter to the Board.   

Document review and financial statement reconciliation and analysis includes reviewing all financial 
transactions that took place during the fiscal year and randomly testing transactions to follow the revenue 
or expense item from start to finish.  This review or ‘audit’ ensures accuracy of our transactions, 
compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, and alignment of work flow procedures with 
best practices in the nonprofit community. 

The third element of an audit, the letter to the Board, is a required communication with a dual purpose.  
First, the letter informs the organization’s fiduciaries (in our case, the NAEA Executive and Finance 
Committee and Board of Directors) of any material weaknesses, errors, or oversights that may have been 
found.  Second, the letter contains recommendations made by the audit firm on how to improve internal 
financial processes.   

It is a pleasure to report that NAEA received a clean bill of financial health.  Rogers & Company found no 
significant material weaknesses in NAEA’s internal controls or financial standing.  In addition, the firm 
noted that NAEA’s internal control processes were sound and offered no additional recommendations.    

In terms of the association’s overall financial performance for the fiscal year, NAEA finished the fiscal year 
with a net operating surplus of $350,063.  The surplus in operations was most significantly impacted by 
NAEA’s increase in revenue virtually across the board (annual convention, member services, and 
publications).  NAEA’s total change in net assets shows a surplus of $312,665; which takes into 
consideration unrealized losses in the association’s investment portfolio during the fiscal year.     

Darrin Rogers, CPA, NAEA’s lead auditor from Rogers & Company, will attend the Executive/Finance 
Committee and Board of Directors meetings to present the draft FY2012 Audit and Audited Financial 
Statements.  With the Committee’s recommendation and the acceptance of the audit report by the NAEA 
Board of Directors, final drafts of the attached reports will be dated and issued.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S):  Motion to recommend acceptance of the FY2012 Audit and Audited Financial 
Statements, as presented.   
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DRAFT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Management of 
   National Art Education Association 
 
We are providing this letter to advise you of matters required to be communicated under professional 
standards, and to discuss our consideration of internal control in our recently completed audit of the 
financial statements of the National Art Education Association (“the Association”) as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2012. 
 
REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States  
 
As communicated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been 
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our audit 
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control solely 
for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning 
such internal control.   
 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting 
process.  However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other 
matters to communicate to you.  Additional information is included in the section of this letter 
entitled Consideration of Internal Control. 
 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 
 
Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information in 
documents containing the Association’s audited financial statements does not extend beyond the 
financial information identified in the audit reports, and we are not required to perform any 
procedures to corroborate such other information.   
 
 

Rogers & Company PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
8300 Boone Boulevard 
Suite 600 
Vienna, Virginia 22182 
 
703.893.0300 voice 
703.893.4070 facsimile 
www.rogerspllc.com 
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Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements (continued) 
 
We have not been apprised of the use of any documents containing the audited financial 
statements and, accordingly, have not reviewed any other documents for possible material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audits  
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated 
in the engagement letter and during the planning stages of the audit. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Practices  
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies.  A summary of 
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Association is included in the notes to the financial 
statements.  There has been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant 
accounting policies or their application during fiscal year 2012.  No matters have come to our 
attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods 
used to account for significant unusual transactions, and (2) the effect of significant accounting 
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance. 
 
Significant Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 
are based on management’s current judgments.  Those judgments are normally based on knowledge 
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  Certain 
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly 
from management’s current judgments.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial 
statements were management’s estimates of the functional allocation of expenses.  We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop any key estimates, and determined they were reasonable 
in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  
 
Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users.  The most sensitive disclosures affecting 
the Association’s financial statements relate to revenue recognition and similar policies.  All 
significant items are disclosed in the financials and are in accordance with general industry standards. 
 
Consultation with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters.  Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no 
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
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Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely uncorrected misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management.  There were no such items noted during our audit. 
 
In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected 
misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures.  
There were no such items noted during our audit. 

 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter that could be significant to the Association’s financial statements or the auditors’ 
report.  No such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
As required under professional standards, we have requested certain written representations from 
management, which are included in a letter from management to us, dated REPORT DATE.  A copy 
of that letter has been retained by management and is available for review. 
 
Other Significant Findings or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional conduct with the Association, we generally discuss a variety 
of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, business 
conditions, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement.  
None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the auditors. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audits 
 
We are required to report any difficulties or unusual delays encountered while performing the audit.  
There were no significant difficulties, and we had access to all requested documents.  Management 
was very knowledgeable, professional, and responsive to our requests throughout the process.  
 
CONSIDERATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements of the Association for the year 
ended June 30, 2012, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, we considered the Association’s internal control over financial reporting (“internal 
control”) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 
control. 
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CONSIDERATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL (continued) 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies 
or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all such deficiencies have been 
identified.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above.   
 
SUMMARY 
 
This letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and Management 
of the Association and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 

 DRAFT 
 
ROGERS & COMPANY PLLC 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
National Art Education Association 
 
We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of the National Art Education 
Association (“the Association”) as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related statements of activities 
and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Association’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits.   
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Association at June 30, 2012 and 2011, and the changes in its net assets and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 
 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole. The supplemental schedules of functional expenses included in pages 18-19 are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 

DRAFT 
 
Vienna, Virginia 
[date of report] 

Rogers & Company PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
8300 Boone Boulevard 
Suite 600 
Vienna, Virginia 22182 
 
703.893.0300 voice 
703.893.4070 facsimile 
www.rogerspllc.com 
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See accompanying notes.              2 

National Art Education Association 
 

Statements of Financial Position 
June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 
 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 365,133      $ 120,040       
Accounts receivable 6,302 8,795           
Contributions receivable, net 22,522 22,137         
Inventory 122,220      117,719       
Prepaid expenses and deposits 95,570        45,456         
Investments 2,104,493   1,870,002     
Property and equipment, net 70,314        77,184         

Total assets $ 2,786,554 $ 2,261,333  

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 93,239        $ 32,893         
Accrued expenses 77,131        98,352         
Deferred revenue 662,840      513,110       
Deferred compensation liability 128,647      104,946       

Total liabilities 961,857   749,301    

Net Assets
Unrestricted:

Undesignated 1,709,405 1,129,110  
Board designated -               267,268    

Total unrestricted 1,709,405 1,396,378  
Temporarily restricted 38,520     38,882      
Permanently restricted 76,772     76,772      

Total net assets 1,824,697 1,512,032  

Total liabilities and net assets $ 2,786,554 $ 2,261,333  

2012 2011
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National Art Education Association 
 

Statement of Activities  
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012 

 
 

Operating Revenue and Support
Annual convention $ 1,343,844 $                  - $                  - $ 1,343,844  
Member services 1,055,926                  -                  - 1,055,926  
Publications 558,549                    -                  - 558,549    
Contributions 16,852     5,000                        - 21,852      
Events and meetings 17,285                      -                  - 17,285      
Interest and dividends 41,186     1,838                        - 43,024      
Release from restrictions 5,219       (5,219)                       - -                

Total operating revenue and support 3,038,861 1,619       -                3,040,480  

Expenses
Program services:

Annual convention 776,199                    -                  - 776,199    
Publications 763,165                    -                  - 763,165    
Member services 566,046                    -                  - 566,046    
Planning and communications 277,508                    -                  - 277,508    

Total program services 2,382,918                  -                  - 2,382,918  

Supporting services:
Governance 242,393                    -                  - 242,393    
Management and general 65,106                      -                  - 65,106      

Total supporting services 307,499                    -                  - 307,499    

Total expenses 2,690,417                  -                  - 2,690,417  

Change in Net Assets
from Operations 348,444   1,619       -                350,063    

Non-Operating Activities
Unrealized losses (49,355)    (1,981)      -                (51,336)     
Realized gains 13,938 -               -                13,938      

Total non-operating activites (35,417)    (1,981)      -                (37,398)     

Change in Net Assets 313,027   (362)         -                312,665    

Net Assets, beginning of year 1,396,378 38,882     76,772      1,512,032  

Net Assets, end of year $ 1,709,405 $ 38,520     $ 76,772      $ 1,824,697  

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
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National Art Education Association 
 

Statement of Activities  
For the Year Ended June 30, 2011 

 
 

Operating Revenue and Support
Annual convention $ 977,374   $                  - $                  - $ 977,374    
Member services 894,987                    -                  - 894,987    
Publications 520,848                    -                  - 520,848    
Contributions 470                 32,137                  - 32,607      
Events and meetings 10,520                      -                  - 10,520      
Interest and dividends 42,831     1,436                        - 44,267      
Release from restrictions 5,128              (5,128)                  - -                

Total operating revenue and support 2,452,158 28,445     -                2,480,603  

Expenses
Program services:

Annual convention 844,140                    -                  - 844,140    
Publications 786,680                    -                  - 786,680    
Member services 557,833                    -                  - 557,833    
Planning and communications 253,452                    -                  - 253,452    

Total program services 2,442,105                  -                  - 2,442,105  

Supporting services:
Governance 277,385                    -                  - 277,385    
Management and general 105,223                    -                  - 105,223    

Total supporting services 382,608                    -                  - 382,608    

Total expenses 2,824,713                  -                  - 2,824,713  

Change in Net Assets
from Operations (372,555)  28,445     -                (344,110)   

Non-Operating Activities
Gain on sale of property 473,418   -               -                473,418    
Moving expenses (68,106)    -               -                (68,106)     
Unrealized gains 168,225   10,437     -                178,662    
Realized gains 10,788     -               -                10,788      

Total non-operating activites 584,325   10,437     -                594,762    

Change in Net Assets 211,770   38,882     -                250,652    

Net Assets, beginning of year 1,184,608 -               76,772      1,261,380  

Net Assets, end of year $ 1,396,378  $ 38,882       $ 76,772       $ 1,512,032  

Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Total

Temporarily
Restricted
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National Art Education Association 
 

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in net assets $ 312,665   $ 250,652       
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 50,708 83,566         
Net realized and unrealized losses (gains) 37,037 (189,450)      
Gain on sale of building -               473,418       

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable 2,493       27,470         
Contributions receivable, net (385)         (22,137)       
Inventory (4,501)      10,386         
Prepaid expenses and deposits (50,114)    37,196         

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 60,346     (109,578)      
Accrued expenses (21,221)    (27,079)       
Deferred revenue 149,730   20,206         
Deferred compensation liability 23,701     24,611      

Net cash provided by operating activities 560,459   579,261       

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment (43,838)    (70,154)     
Net purchases of investments (271,528)  (537,289)    

Net cash used in investing activities (315,366)  (607,443)      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
Cash Equivalents 245,093   (28,182)       

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 120,040   148,222       

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year $ 365,133   $ 120,040       

2012 2011
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1. Nature of Operations 
 

The National Art Education Association (“the Association”) was organized in 1947 under 
the laws of the District of Columbia, and is currently headquartered in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Association is the world’s largest professional art 
education association and a leader in educational research, policy, and practice for art 
education.  The Association’s mission is to advance art education through professional 
development, service, advancement of knowledge, and leadership.  The Association 
publishes several journals, papers, and flyers on art education; holds an annual 
convention; conducts research; sponsors teacher awards programs; develops standards on 
student learning, school programs and teacher preparation; and co-sponsors workshops 
and seminars on art education.   
 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
  

Basis of Accounting and Presentation 
 
The Association’s financial statements are prepared on the accrued basis of accounting 
and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit 
organizations.  Net assets are reported based on the presence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. 
 
Classification of Net Assets 

 

 Unrestricted net assets represent funds that are not subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations and are available for support of the Association’s operations.  Included in 
unrestricted net assets are Board designated funds of $0 and $267,268 at June 30, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. 
 

 Temporarily restricted net assets represent funds subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions that are met either by actions of the Association or the passage of time.  
Temporarily restricted net assets at June 30, 2012 and 2011 were $38,520 and 
$38,882, respectively. 
 

 Permanently restricted net assets represent funds in which the principal must be held 
in perpetuity, while the earnings may be available for the general operations of the 
Association, or the restricted purpose imposed by the donors.  Permanently restricted 
net assets were $76,772 at both June 30, 2012 and 2011. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, the Association considers as cash 
equivalents all highly liquid investments, which can be converted into known amounts of 
cash and have a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase.  
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
 Contributions Receivable 
 

Contributions receivable represent unconditional promises to give reported at fair value at 
the date the contribution is received.  Contributions that are expected to be collected 
within one year are recorded at their net realizable amount.  Contributions that are 
expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of their 
estimated future cash flows.  Management determines the allowance for doubtful 
accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to 
an aging of accounts.  There was no allowance for doubtful accounts established at June 
30, 2012 and 2011 as management deems the receivables to be fully collectible. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Receivables are stated at net realizable value.  The majority of receivables are from 
memberships, subscriptions and publications.  Management estimates that all receivables 
are fully collectible at June 30, 2012 and 2011. 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventory primarily consists of publications and is stated at the lower of cost, using a 
weighted average method, or market.  Cost of inventory sold is computed based on the 
weighted average method. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments at June 30, 2012 and 2011 consist of a certificate of deposit and mutual 
funds, and are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices.  All realized and 
unrealized gains and losses are included in the accompanying statements of activities. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment with a projected useful life exceeding one year are capitalized 
and recorded at cost.  Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line, 
half-year convention method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which 
range from 3 to 5 years.   
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
All contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless specifically 
restricted by the donor.  The Association reports contributions as temporarily restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated 
assets.  When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends 
or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to 
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statements of activities as net assets released 
from restrictions.  Temporarily restricted contributions are reported as unrestricted if the 
restrictions are met in the same period received. 
 
Membership dues and subscriptions are recognized as revenues over the applicable 
period and are included in respective revenue accounts, when earned.  Convention 
income is recognized at the time of the convention.  Amounts received in advance are 
included in deferred revenue in the accompanying statements of financial position. 

 
Publication sales are recognized as revenue at the time of sale and are recorded net of 
cost of sales in the accompanying statements of activities.  For the year ended June 30, 
2012, publication sales were $351,158, net of $136,214 cost of sales.  For the year ended 
June 30, 2011, publication sales were $327,035, net of $121,230 cost of sales. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Association follows Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value 
Measurements and Disclosures, for financial assets and liabilities.  This standard 
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value.  This hierarchy consists of three broad levels.  Level 1 inputs consist 
of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and have 
the highest priority.  Level 2 is based upon observable inputs other than quoted market 
prices, and level 3 is based on unobservable inputs.   
 
Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 
The costs of the Association’s programs and administration have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the accompanying statements of activities.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs or functions benefited.   
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

3.  Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Association to significant 
concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and investments.  The Association maintains 
cash deposit and transaction accounts with various financial institutions, including 
interest–bearing accounts, all of which are within insurable limits under the Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  Also included are noninterest–bearing 
accounts totaling $53,280, which are fully insured, without limit, through December 31, 
2012, under new financial reform legislation.   
 
The Association also maintains investments with various financial institutions, amounting 
to $2,104,493 at June 30, 2012, that exceeds insurable limits under the Securities Investor 
Protection Corporation (SIPC).  The Association has not experienced any credit losses on 
its cash and investments to date as it relates to FDIC and SIPC insurance limits.  
Management periodically assesses the financial condition of these financial institutions 
and believes that the risk of any credit loss is minimal. 

 
4. Contributions Receivable 

 
Contributions receivable include unconditional promises to give from individual donors, 
which are due as follows at June 30: 
 

Less than one year $ 5,000          $ -                  
One to five years 20,000        25,000         

Total 25,000        25,000         
Less: Discount to net present value (2,478)        (2,863)         

Net present value $ 22,522        $ 22,137         

2012 2011

 
 

Contributions receivable are deemed fully collectible. The discount rate used on the long-
term contributions receivable was approximately 1.8% and 2.25%, for the years ended 
June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
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5. Investments 
 
Investments consist of the following at June 30: 
 

Certificate of deposit $      146,035 $       139,974 
Mutual funds   1,958,458    1,730,028 

Total investments $ 2,104,493 $ 1,870,002     

2012 2011

 
 

Investment income consists of the following for the years ended June 30: 
 

Interest and dividends $ 43,024        $ 44,267         
Realized gains 13,938        10,788         
Unrealized (losses) gains (51,336)      178,662        

Total investment income $ 5,626          $ 233,717        

2012 2011

 
 

6. Fair Value Measurements 
 

Fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis is as follows at June 30: 
 

2012
Certificate of deposit $ 146,035     $ 146,035    $ -                $ -                
Mutual funds 1,958,458  1,958,458 -                -                

Total investments $ 2,104,493  $ 2,104,493 $ -                $ -                

2011
Certificate of deposit $ 139,974     $ 139,974    $ -                $ -                
Mutual funds 1,730,028  1,730,028 -                -                

Total investments $ 1,870,002  $ 1,870,002 $ -                $ -                

value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair

 
 

Financial assets valued using level 1 inputs are based on unadjusted quoted market prices 
within active markets.  There were no level 2 or level 3 financial assets at June 30, 2012 
and 2011. 

87



National Art Education Association 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2012 and 2011 

 
 

                        
11 

7. Property and Equipment 
 

The Association held the following property and equipment at June 30: 
 

Furniture and equipment $ 156,903      $ 148,772        
Computer/website 183,730      180,070        

Total property and equipment 340,633      328,842        
Less:  accumulated depreciation and
   amortization (270,319)    (251,658)      

Property and equipment, net $ 70,314        $ 77,184         

2012 2011

 
 

Depreciation expense for the years ending June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $50,708 and 
$83,566, respectively. 
 
During 2011, the Association sold real estate property consisting of land, a building, and 
building improvements in Reston, Virginia at a gross sale price of $975,000.  The book 
value of the property at the time of the sale was $441,886 and settlement charges incurred 
on the transaction were $59,696.  The resulting net gain was $473,418, which is included 
in the statement of activities for the year ending June 30, 2011.  

 
8. Commitments and Contingencies 

 
Hotel Commitments 
 
The Association holds meetings in various hotels and convention centers in the United 
States, which are contracted in advance.  These agreements indicate that the Association 
would be liable for certain cancellation fees and liquidated damages in the event of 
cancellation.  The maximum potential liability under these agreements at June 30, 2012 
totals approximately $430,000.  Management believes no material liability is likely. 

 
 Office Lease 
 

The Association entered into an agreement to lease office space in Reston, Virginia, that 
commenced on August 1, 2010.  In August 2012, the lease was renewed for three 
additional years which will now end on July 31, 2015.  Rent expense for the years ended 
June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $64,455 and $58,384, respectively, and is included in 
occupancy costs in the accompanying statements of functional expenses.   
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8. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Car Lease 

 
During 2011, the Association entered into an operating lease for the Executive Director’s 
car.  The terms of operating lease require fixed monthly payments and provide the option 
to purchase the car at fair value at the end of the lease. 

 
Future minimum lease payments under the operating lease are as follows for the years 
ending June 30:  
 

2013 $ 6,700           
2014 6,700           
2015 558              

Total minimum lease payments $ 13,958         
 

 

9.  Life Insurance 
 
The Association is the owner and beneficiary of a 10 year term life insurance policy 
covering the life of the Executive Director.  The face value of the policy is $1,000,000.   

 
10. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
 

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following at June 30: 
 

Elliot W. Eisner award $ 30,064        $ 28,445         
Unappropriated endowment earnings 8,456          10,437         

Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 38,520        $ 38,882         

2012 2011

 
 

11. Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
 
Permanently restricted net assets consist of a contribution from the Trust of Edwin H. 
Ziegfeld.  In accordance with donor restrictions, the contribution is to be invested in 
perpetuity.  Two thirds of the investment income generated is to be used for lectures at 
the annual convention of the Association and the remaining portion is to fund long term 
goals of the Association. 
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12. Endowment 
 

The Association’s endowment has been funded by a donor-restricted contribution for the 
Ziegfeld Lectures and funding of long-range goals of the Association.  Under accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated with 
endowment funds are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. 

 
Interpretation of Relevant Law 
 
The Board of Directors of the Association has interpreted the Commonwealth of 
Virginia’s Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as 
requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the 
donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.   
 
As a result of this interpretation, the Association classifies as permanently restricted net 
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original 
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the 
permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift 
instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund.  The remaining portion of 
the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net 
assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are 
appropriated for expenditure by the Association in a manner consistent with the standard 
of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA.   
 
In accordance with UPMIFA, the Association considers the following factors in making a 
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted funds:  (1) duration and 
preservation of the fund; (2) purposes of the Association and the donor-restricted 
endowment fund; (3) general economic conditions; (4) possible effect of inflation and 
deflation; (5) expected total return from income and the appreciation or depreciation of 
investments; (6) other resources of the Association; and (7) investment policies of the 
Association.   
 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters  
 
Given the endowment’s relatively small size and current market conditions, the 
Association follows a conservative investment policy for endowment assets that attempts 
to preserve fully the original corpus and optimize returns.  Should significant, new 
donations be made to the endowment assets, the Association’s investment policy would 
permit a strategy of long-term growth of the endowment assets.  Under such a policy the 
endowment assets would be invested in a manner that is intended to produce results 
exceeding major investment benchmarks, while assuming a moderate level of risk. 
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12. Endowment (continued) 
 

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 
  
The Association has adopted an informal investment policy for endowment assets that 
attempts to provide a predictable stream of funding and the growth of financial surplus 
while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Under this 
informal policy, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to 
produce results that are predictable while assuming a low level of risk.  Actual returns in 
any given year may vary. 
 
Funds with Deficiencies 
 
The fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may 
from time to time fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA requires the Association 
to retain as a fund of perpetual duration.  In accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States, deficiencies of this nature are reported by the 
Association in unrestricted net assets.  There were no funds with deficiencies for the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. 
 

 Composition of Endowment Funds 
 

Endowment net asset composition was as follows for the years ended June 30: 
 

2012

Endowment funds $ -                $ 8,456        $ 76,772      $ 85,228       

2011

Endowment funds $ -                $ 10,437      $ 76,772      $ 87,209       

Unrestricted Total
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted
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12. Endowment (continued) 
 
Changes in Endowment Net Assets 
 
Changes in endowment net assets were as follows for the year ended June 30, 2012:  
 

Endowment funds, beginning $ -            $ 10,437   $ 76,772    $ 87,209    

Investment return:
  Investment income -            1,838     -             1,838      
  Net appreciation (realized
    and unrealized) -            (1,981)   -             (1,981)    

Total investment return -            (143)      -             (143)       

Appropriation of assets for
  expenditure -            (1,838)   -             (1,838)    

Endowment funds, ending $ -            $ 8,456     $ 76,772    $ 85,228    

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently
Restricted Total

 
 

Changes in endowment net assets were as follows for the year ended June 30, 2011:  
 

Endowment funds, beginning $ (2,992)   $ -            $ 76,772    $ 73,780    

Investment return:
  Investment income -            1,436     -             1,436      
  Net appreciation (realized
    and unrealized) 2,992     10,437   -             13,429    

Total investment return 2,992     11,873   -             14,865    

Appropriation of assets for
  expenditure -            (1,436)   -             (1,436)    

Endowment funds, ending $ -            $ 10,437   $ 76,772    $ 87,209    

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently
Restricted Total
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13. Related Party Transactions 
 

National Art Education Foundation 
 
The Association contributed services valued at $51,749 and $51,483 to the National Art 
Education Foundation (“the Foundation”) for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  The Association made cash contributions totaling $468 and $656 to the 
Foundation for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The Association’s 
Executive Director and past officers serve as voting members on the Foundation’s 
Executive Board, although the Association neither controls nor has an economic interest 
in the Foundation for consolidation reporting purposes. 
 
State Affiliates 
 
The Association has four state affiliates that share a common mission.  The Association 
has no ownership or voting interests in these state affiliates, but does exercise oversight 
of activities through affiliation agreements.  State affiliates are subordinate organizations 
under a group exemption ruling with Internal Revenue Service.  Summarized financial 
information for the state affiliates is not presented herein, due to immateriality. 

 
14. Retirement Plans 
 

The Association maintains a defined contribution retirement plan with the Valic Financial 
Advisors, Inc. qualified under section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC).  All 
employees who meet certain age and employment requirements are eligible to participate 
in the plan.  The Association makes contributions to the plan on behalf of eligible 
participants.  Effective January 1, 2011, the employer retirement contribution percentage 
was changed from 12% to 6% of plan compensation. The Association contributed 
$67,868 and $102,293 to the plan during the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. 
 
The Association maintains both a 457(b) and 457(f) non-qualified deferred compensation 
plan for the Executive Director as a means of providing a supplemental benefit.  The 
Association contributes 12% of the Executive Director’s annual compensation into the 
457(f) plan.  Deferred compensation and investments designated for such deferrals are 
only available and taxable upon termination of employment, retirement, death or an 
unforeseeable emergency.  Until paid or made available to the participant or beneficiary, 
all deferred amounts, and investment earnings related thereto, are solely the property and 
rights of the Association.  At June 30, 2012 and 2011, the deferred compensation assets 
(included in investments) and corresponding liability were $128,647 and $104,946, 
respectively. 
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15. Income Taxes 
 

The Association is recognized as a tax-exempt organization under IRC Section 501(c)(3) 
and is exempt from income taxes except for taxes on unrelated business activities.  No tax 
expense is recorded in the accompanying financial statements, as there was no significant 
net unrelated business taxable income for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011.  
Contributions to the Association are deductible as provided in IRC Section 
170(b)(1)(A)(vi). Management evaluated the Association’s tax positions and concluded 
that the Association’s financial statements do not include any uncertain tax positions. 

 
16. Subsequent Events 

 
The Association follows the guidance of FASB ASC 855, Subsequent Events, which 
establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after 
the statement of financial position date but before the financial statements are issued.  
FASB ASC 855 also requires disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated 
subsequent events.  In preparing these financial statements, the Association has evaluated 
events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through [date of report], 
the date the financial statements were issued. 
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National Art Education Association 
 

Schedule of Functional Expenses 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012 

 
 

Salaries and benefits $ 258,232         $ 341,242         $ 321,002         $ 76,972           $ 997,448         $ 115,384         $ 56,792           $ 172,176         $ 1,169,624      

Planning and outreach -                     -                     1,399             89,828           91,227           -                     -                     -                     91,227           

Printing 23,006           144,220         13,332           612                181,170         -                     -                     -                     181,170         

Postage and shipping 16,518           129,647         33,837           71                  180,073         590                -                     590                180,663         

Contracted services 313,965         50,672           52,439           4,982             422,058         7,341             2,373             9,714             431,772         

Professional services 6,382             11,935           12,351           1,173             31,841           1,729             806                2,535             34,376           

Public relations 29,515           -                     7,208             1,783             38,506           2,436             -                     2,436             40,942           

Travel, meetings and projects 26,016           -                     1,288             40,771           68,075           97,738           -                     97,738           165,813         

Occupancy costs 11,967           22,378           23,158           2,200             59,703           3,242             1,510             4,752             64,455           

Communications 31,420           20,814           39,065           2,452             93,751           3,016             1,405             4,421             98,172           

Maintenance and repairs 94                  176                182                17                  469                25                  12                  37                  506                

Board of Directors -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     6,150             -                     6,150             6,150             

Office supplies and expenses 1,689             3,159             3,269             311                8,428             458                213                671                9,099             

Insurance 2,598             4,857             5,027             478                12,960           704                328                1,032             13,992           

Service fees and finance charges 45,383           16,460           34,270           1,910             98,023           1,029             479                1,508             99,531           

Depreciation and amortization 9,414             17,605           18,219           1,731             46,969           2,551             1,188             3,739             50,708           

In-kind contributions -                     -                     -                     52,217           52,217           -                     -                     -                     52,217           

Total Expenses $ 776,199         $ 763,165         $ 566,046         $ 277,508         $ 2,382,918      $ 242,393         $ 65,106           $ 307,499         $ 2,690,417      

Expenses

Planning and

Services Communications Services

Program Services

Annual Member 

PublicationsConvention Governance

Total

Management 

Supporting Services

Services

Program Supporting Total

and General

Total
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National Art Education Association 
 

Schedule of Functional Expenses 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2011 

 
 

Salaries and benefits $ 297,122         $ 326,511         $ 322,918         $ 75,183           $ 1,021,734      $ 121,432         $ 87,366           $ 208,798         $ 1,230,532      

Planning and outreach -                     -                     358                82,858           83,216           913                -                     913                84,129           

Printing 33,613           168,400         27,684           -                     229,697         -                     -                     -                     229,697         

Postage and shipping 15,720           129,660         26,859           145                172,384         1,008             -                     1,008             173,392         

Contracted services 334,775         38,854           34,164           4,191             411,984         5,275             4,508             9,783             421,767         

Professional services 7,194             11,781           10,359           1,271             30,605           1,599             1,367             2,966             33,571           

Public relations 35,474           -                     9,233             -                     44,707           -                     -                     -                     44,707           

Travel, meetings and projects 24,325           -                     -                     26,523           50,848           129,911         -                     129,911         180,759         

Occupancy costs 13,123           21,491           18,897           2,318             55,829           2,918             2,493             5,411             61,240           

Communications 23,404           27,378           39,287           2,953             93,022           3,717             3,176             6,893             99,915           

Maintenance and repairs 3,556             5,824             5,121             628                15,129           791                676                1,467             16,596           

Board of Directors -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     3,076             -                     3,076             3,076             

Office supplies and expenses 3,417             5,596             4,921             604                14,538           1,799             649                2,448             16,986           

Insurance 3,165             5,184             4,558             559                13,466           3,193             601                3,794             17,260           

Service fees and finance charges 30,621           15,489           26,645           788                73,543           991                847                1,838             75,381           

Depreciation and amortization 18,631           30,512           26,829           3,292             79,264           762                3,540             4,302             83,566           

In-kind contributions -                     -                     -                     52,139           52,139           -                     -                     -                     52,139           

Total Expenses $ 844,140         $ 786,680         $ 557,833         $ 253,452         $ 2,442,105      $ 277,385         $ 105,223         $ 382,608         $ 2,824,713      

Planning and

Communications

Program Services

Total

ProgramAnnual

Convention

Total

ExpensesGovernance

Management

and General

Total

Supporting Services

Supporting

ServicesPublications Services

Member

Services
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E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 400/2 
 
 
ITEM:  FY2013 FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Statement of Financial Position as well as the association’s Statement of Activities for period 
ending September 30, 2012 are attached.  The Statement of Financial Position provides a 
snapshot of NAEA’s financial status and liquidity on a particular date.  For the period ending 
September 30, 2012 the association’s net assets totaled $3,046,460.  This compares to net 
assets of $2,319,159 as of September 30, 2011.   
 
The Statement of Activities, representing the association’s financial activity on a year-to-date 
basis (July 1 – September 30), shows revenues and expenses under budget projections at 21% 
and 18% respectively.   For the period July 1 – September 30, the totals in the last column, % of 
Budget, should hover around 25% (3 months through the fiscal year).  Amounts above 25% 
indicate excess revenue or expense while amounts below 25% represent reductions in revenue 
or expense.   
 
A closer look at the Statement of Activities as of September 30 identifies: 

 
Revenue derived from membership dues reached 39% of budget; this compares to 37% 
this time last year.   
 
Revenue from publication sales represents 18% of budget; this compares to 17% this 
time last year.    
 

Overall, expenses are consistent with budget projections at 18%.  Expenses tied to Governance, 
however, stand out as representing 35% of the total line item budget and are related to the July 
Board of Directors meeting in Louisville, KY which included the full Board and Elects.   
 
Detailed information on reading the financial statements is included with this report. 
 
On the investment front, our portfolio is performing consistent with the losses experienced in the 
global marketplace.  Balances as of August 31, 2011, showed:   

 
Money Market (Chevy Chase):  $  230,621 

 Investment portfolio:   $2,250,695 
 
    TOTAL:  $2,481,316 
 
For the period ending September, the NAEA Long Term account experienced a gain of 1.59% 
(year-to-date gain of 4.03%); and the Short Term account experienced a gain of .27% (year-to-
date gain of 0.80%).  NAEA staff continues to work closely with Raffa Wealth Management, our 
Board-approved investment advisors, to monitor the portfolio to achieve optimal performance-
based returns during such volatile market conditions.   
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Motion to recommend acceptance of the financial reports, as presented. 
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Jul - Sep 12 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

401 · Membership 453,017 1,162,000 (708,983) 39%
426 · Contributions 61 1,000 (939) 6%
429 · Publications 98,221 536,000 (437,779) 18%
480 · SummerVision 19,957 17,000 2,957 117%
500 · Convention 1,031,460 (1,031,460)
595 · Interest and Dividends 12,676 38,000 (25,324) 33%

Total Income 583,931 2,785,460 (2,201,529) 21%

Gross Profit 583,931 2,785,460 (2,201,529) 21%

Expense
600 · Salary and Benefits 255,912 1,294,760 (1,038,848) 20%
620 · Planning, Development, Outreach 23,143 82,000 (58,857) 28%
621 · Member Development/Fulfillment 16,940 75,000 (58,060) 23%
640 · Printing 41,981 157,000 (115,019) 27%
650 · Postage-Shipping-Delivery(PSD) 25,891 120,500 (94,609) 21%
700 · Contracted Services 19,401 110,000 (90,599) 18%
715 · Professional Services 5,607 25,000 (19,393) 22%
735 · Lease/Rental 15,416 65,000 (49,584) 24%
736 · Fulfillment/IT Services 10,170 43,000 (32,830) 24%
740 · Organizational Capacity 7,727 28,000 (20,273) 28%
760 · Communications 11,341 55,000 (43,659) 21%
766 · Equipment Maintenance 5,000 (5,000)
770 · Governance 38,945 110,400 (71,455) 35%
779 · Supplies 1,332 9,000 (7,668) 15%
780 · Insurance 2,861 14,000 (11,139) 20%
785 · Service Fees - Finance Charges 11,436 55,500 (44,064) 21%
801 · Convention Expenses 519,300 (519,300)
894 · SummerVision Expenses 16,902 17,000 (98) 99%
895 · Contribution to NAEF 61

Total Expense 505,066 2,785,460 (2,280,394) 18%

Net Ordinary Income 78,865 78,865 100%

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

905 · Realized Investment Income 38
970 · Unrealized Gain(Loss) 55,975

Total Other Income 56,013

Net Other Income 56,013

Net Income 134,878 134,878 100%

National Art Education Association
Statement of Activities
July through September 2012
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September 2012 Portfolio Performance & Activity

NAEA Long Term
1806 Robert Fulton Dr.
Suite 300
Reston, VA  20191

Description                                                  September FYTD

Beginning Value 1,651,348. 33 1,615,375. 76
Net Contributions 0. 00 0. 00
Capital Appreciation 18,076. 89 53,366. 14
Income 8,150. 45 11,693. 42
Management Fees 0. 00 -2,859. 65
Other Expenses 0. 00 0. 00

Ending Value 1,677,575. 67 1,677,575. 67
Total Investment Gain/Loss 26,227. 34 62,199. 91

Time Weighted (gross) 1. 59 4. 03

Time Weighted (net) 1. 59 3. 85

Performance is net of mutual fund fees and Raffa Wealth Management advisory fees.  
You are encouraged to compare the account information in this report to the account information sent to you from the account custodian.

101



September 2012 Portfolio Performance & Activity

NAEA Short Term
1806 Robert Fulton Dr.
Suite 300
Reston, VA  20191

Description                                                  September FYTD

Beginning Value 443,294. 43 441,818. 80
Net Contributions 0. 00 0. 00
Capital Appreciation 674. 65 2,609. 15
Income 503. 48 904. 49
Management Fees 0. 00 -859. 88
Other Expenses 0. 00 0. 00

Ending Value 444,472. 56 444,472. 56
Total Investment Gain/Loss 1,178. 13 2,653. 76

Time Weighted (gross) 0. 27 0. 80

Time Weighted (net) 0. 27 0. 60

Performance is net of mutual fund fees and Raffa Wealth Management advisory fees.  
You are encouraged to compare the account information in this report to the account information sent to you from the account custodian.
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Explanation of Financial Statements 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
The Statement of Financial Position (formerly Balance Sheet) summarizes the financial make-up 
of the organization at a point in time.  The statement reflects the assets owned by the 
organization, the liabilities owed by the organization, and the residual net assets (representing net 
worth).   
 
ASSETS (listed down the left hand column) are presented in order of their liquidity.   
 
 Checking/Savings:  Cash balances in NAEA’s bank accounts. 
 

Accounts Receivable:  This balance includes amounts due to NAEA for sales made in the 
ordinary course of business (e.g. inventory or advertising sales) and amounts owed to 
NAEA. 
 
Inventory: Represents the value of NAEA’s store products that are available for sale. 
 
Prepaid expenses and deposits:  These are goods or services paid for whose benefit is to 
be recognized in future periods (e.g. annual insurance premiums, convention expenses, 
and postage deposits). 
 
Fixed Assets:  Long-term assets such as equipment that are not expected to be 
converted to cash in the near term. 
 
Allowance for Depreciation:  Represents the cumulative amount of depreciation on 
furniture and equipment. 
 
Other Assets:  NAEA’s investment portfolio value. 
 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 

Accounts Payable:  These lines generally refer to goods or services for which NAEA has 
received invoices but has not yet paid. 

 
Accrued Expenses:  Value of annual leave earned but not yet taken by staff. 
 
Deferred Revenue:  Monies that have been received in advance of the period they relate 
to, such as exhibitor income related to the 2013 convention.  Note: NAEA recognizes 
membership dues evenly over the membership cycle. 

Long Term Liabilities:  Represents the balance of the NAEA 457b retirement plan held on 
behalf of the Executive Director; as well as monies held on behalf of several NAEA 
Issues Groups. 

Equity:  Represents the difference between the market value of a property and assets 
and the claims held against it. 

Net Income:  This figure ties into the Statement of  
Activities (our income statement) and represents the year to date net surplus or deficit.   
 

The Statement of Financial Position should show that TOTAL ASSETS equal TOTAL 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY.  In other words, these two figures should equal one another. 
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Statement of Activities 
 
The Statement of Activities (previously called the Statement of Revenue and Expenses or the Income 
Statement) shows the organization’s financial activity for the current month and on a year-to-date basis.  
It reports revenue generated, expenses incurred and results in a net change (positive = gain; negative = 
loss). 
 
Revenue and Expenses are listed by activity (or by functional area), with all Revenue items presented on 
the upper half of the statement, followed by Expense items on the lower half.   
 

Column 1: This column reports revenue earned and expenses incurred for a specific period of 
time.   
 
Column 2: This column shows the Board approved budget for the full fiscal year. 

 
Column 3: Shows the difference between columns 1 and 2, presented in dollar values.   

 
Column 4: This column shows the year-to-date percentage of revenues earned and expenses 
incurred compared to the overall budget.  For example, seven months into the fiscal year is equal 
to being 58% (7 divided by 12) of the budget year.  Items in column four, in this example, should 
hover around 58%.  Items significantly above or below the appropriate percentage typically will 
have an explanation detailed in the accompanying report or may be reasonable given the timing 
of particular activities/events.  For example, events such as Convention will have the majority of 
revenue and expenses captured in the month surrounding the specific meeting dates. 
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EXPLANATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Statement of Activities – Detail Summary 
 

The Statement of Activities (previously called the Statement of Revenue and Expenses or the Income 
Statement) shows the organization’s financial activity for the current month and on a year-to-date basis.  
It reports revenue generated, expenses incurred and results in a net change (positive = gain; negative = 
loss). 
 
Below is a brief summary detailing the types of revenues and expenses that are aligned under each line 
item:  
 
REVENUE 
 
Membership:  Represents all revenue earned from membership related activities.  Specifically, the net of 
all dues paid to the association (regular, student, institutional, etc.) and all state dues that NAEA collects 
on behalf of and pays to our contracted states.  In addition, mailing list rental income, student chapter 
dues and revenue from our National Arts Honor Society are included in this line item. 
 
Contributions:  This line item includes monies collected through membership solicitations.  Generally, 
contributions are made towards NAEA advocacy efforts. 
 
Publications:  Items purchased through the NAEA Store (publications, shirts, aprons, etc.) along with 
advertising income and royalties received from the sale of copyrighted materials. 
 
SummerVision:  Revenue associated with delivery of the SummerVision DC program. 
 
Convention:  Includes revenues from attendee registrations and exhibitors.  In accordance with our 
accrual based accounting, convention revenue will appear on the March 2013 financial statements. 
 
Interest and Dividends:  Interest earned on NAEA’s investment portfolio. 
 
EXPENSES 
 
Salary and Benefits:  Expenses associated with staff salaries and benefits including health, life insurance, 
disability, and retirement.   
 
Planning, Development and Outreach:  This line item includes expenses for efforts to outreach to the 
membership, to leverage NAEA’s positioning among its peer organizations and to develop strategic 
alliances.  For example, the Executive Director’s attendance at state and regional conferences are a few 
expenses categorized in this line item.     
 
Membership Development and Fulfillment:  Represents funds for membership solicitation campaigns, ID 
cards, and renewal notices. 
  
Printing:  All expenses associated with printing NAEA News, Art Ed, NAEA publications, Studies, as well 
as business supplies such as letterhead and envelopes.   
 
Postage, Shipping and Delivery:  This line item represents all expenses associated with shipping.  This 
includes publication order fulfillment, and delivery of NAEA News, Art Ed, Studies, and general business 
items.   
 
Contracted Services:  Represents expenses associated with CPA and IT services. 
 
Professional Services:  This line item includes all expenses aligned with our fiscal yearend audit, tax filing 
preparation as well as legal expenses. 
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Lease/Rentals:  Represents utilities, water, storage, and fees associated with NAEA’s leased office 
space.   
 
Fulfillment/IT Services:  Expenses for contracted IT support, mailroom, and fulfillment services. 
 
Organizational Capacity:  This line item includes three areas of focus – marketing/website development, 
IT infrastructure, and the purchase of small office equipment.  
 
Communications:   This line item represents expenses associated with communicating such as telephone 
services, (local, long distance and toll free service), technical support of the telephone equipment and 
software, hosting of the Board listserv, NING fees, Constant Contact eblast fees, and conference calling 
services. 
 
Equipment Maintenance:  Expenses associated with maintaining NAEA equipment like copiers, and 
computers. 
 
Governance:  This line item includes all expenses associated with the Board of Directors.  The Officer’s 
,VPs, Division Directors and student leadership expenses as well as expenses associated with Board 
meetings. 
 
Supplies:  Represents office supply expenses including copy paper, toner and ink cartridges and shipping 
materials for our publications.   
 
Insurance:  Annual premiums for insurance coverage for the NAEA property and assets as well as 
professional liability. 
 
Service Fees – Finance Charges:  Represents banking and investment management fees as well as fees 
associated with credit card processing (memberships, convention registrations, and publications 
purchases). 
 
Convention Expenses:  All expenses associated with execution of the National Convention are included in 
this line item. 
 
SummerVision Expenses: All expenses that support the delivery of the SummerVision program to include 
supplies and consulting fees. 
 
Contribution to NAEF:  Direct contribution expenses such as postage, office supplies, and conference call 
fees. 
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E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 400/3 
 
 
ITEM:  FY2013 MIDYEAR BUDGET REVISION 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The FY2013 budget was approved by the Board at the Spring Board of Directors Meeting held in March 
2012, and developed based on year-end audited statements from FY2011 as well as 6 months (July 2010 
– January 2012) of actualized revenue and expenses during FY2012.     
 
With completion of the FY2012 financial audit, development of the attached FY2013 Proposed Midyear 
Budget provides an opportunity to reaffirm, update, and adjust the budgetary assumptions that are 
beginning to take form in early FY2013.      
 
While FY2012 was an extremely successful financial year for NAEA, the midyear revision process 
enables us to “true up” our budget projections given the fiscal reality of several key revenue and expense 
items such as trends identified through early membership renewals (which start coming in each fall in 
conjunction with the regional and state conferences), and solidify revenue/expense projections as 
additional annual convention contracts (such as exhibit sales, transportation and ticketed workshops) are 
secured.   
 
Recognizing the association’s reliance upon the sustainability of our three sources of revenue – and the 
relevancy of trends in the marketplace – the FY13 Proposed Midyear Budget was approached with a 
sharp pencil and high expectations for holding revenue steady and for keeping expenses razor thin; 
resulting in virtually a breakeven budget.   
   
On the revenue side, a number of membership campaigns are in place aimed to continue to grow 
membership in new ways – and to collect measurable results that will guide future planning.  Specifically, 
as noted in the Member Services report, NAEA is exhibiting at the Texas Art Education Association 
Annual Convention in early November as well as the California Art Education Association Annual 
Convention; we are once again piloting email marketing campaigns with Blick Art Materials and exploring 
an opportunity for membership growth supported by Nintendo.   
 
There were minimal changes on the expense side as all expense areas are already very anemic.  
Expenses that were adjusted related mostly to end-of-the-year financial performance highlighted in the 
FY12 financial audit report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Motion to recommend approval of the Proposed FY2013 Midyear Budget to the 
NAEA Board of Directors. 
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A     E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 400/4 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA GROUP TAX EXEMPTION – ANNUAL UPDATE 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
NAEA’s group tax exemption program continues to grow with the addition of Mississippi Art Education 
Association (MAEA) joining the group in September 2012.  With the addition of Mississippi, NAEA’s 
501(c)(3) tax exempt status is now shared with five state associations:   
 
Louisiana Art Education Association 
 
Art Education Association of Indiana 
 
New Mexico Art Education Association 
 
Hawaii Art Education Association 
 
Mississippi Art Education Association 
 
As the Board may recall, in 2008 it came to NAEA’s attention that many state art education associations 
were categorized as being tax exempt under IRS Code 501c6 – and several of the states sought 
guidance from NAEA on how best to transition to become a 501c3.   
 
There are several differences between (c)6 and (c)3 tax exempt status.  Briefly, (c)3 organizations can 
qualify for lower postage rates, are often exempt from local sales and real estate taxes, can qualify for tax 
deductibility of dues and contributions as a charitable donation, and may increase their eligibility for 
grants from certain agencies. 
 
In response to interest from several affiliated states, NAEA worked with our external legal counsel and 
applied for an IRS Group Tax Exemption.  While the IRS application process was very complex and took 
over one year to reach fruition, the IRS awarded NAEA with the Group Tax Exemption.  Under this ruling, 
NAEA’s tax exemption becomes an umbrella for state organizations to earn the same tax preferred status 
and enables NAEA to act on behalf of the IRS in granting 501(c)3 status to eligible state affiliates.     
 
Once NAEA recognizes a state as organized in compliance with IRS Code 501(c)3, state associations are 
provided a detailed letter of compliance and acknowledgement; which sets the expectations for their 
responsibilities.   
 
A number of states continue to work towards eligibility to participate in the group tax exemption program, 
which requires a change to their Constitution/Bylaws, updated tax documents, and detailed financial 
information.  State leaders in Alabama, South Dakota, Maryland, and Nevada have contacted NAEA for 
additional information about the group tax exemption and for assistance in identifying next steps.  In some 
instances, as reflected in the Professional Services budget line item, legal counsel’s expertise and input is 
needed to assist the states.   
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    C     

NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 500/1 
 
 
ITEM:  2013 NATIONAL CONVENTION OVERVIEW 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Plans for the 2013 NAEA National Convention in Fort Worth, Texas, March 7-10 2013 are well underway 
with the convention only 13 weeks away.   
 
The 2013 Convention theme, Drawing Community Connections, has engaged fresh energy in the field; 
evident by the response to the call for presentations.  NAEA received 1,891 proposals submitted in 
response to the call for presentation (compares to 2,150 for the 2012 New York convention). 
Through the Board-approved peer-review process first implemented during the 2008 National 
Convention, presentations with the highest scores (scores of 13 or above out of a total 15) were accepted 
resulting in just over 1,000 sessions (43% of proposals accepted) to be included in the 2013 NAEA 
National Convention program.      
 
Under the leadership of the National Convention Program Coordinator, Elizabeth Willett, a number of 
sessions and events are confirmed; including: 
 
Preconference workshops:   
 
•Museum Education Preconference—presented by the Museum Education Division;  
• Glass Fusion Magic and Clay Hand Building and Glazing With Molds—at the American Ceramic & Glass 
Supply Company; 
• Artmaking Extravaganza at the TCU School of Art; 
•Preconference on the Next Generation of National Standards in the Visual Arts—presented by the 
Supervision/Administration Division; and 
•Powering Student Learning Through Infused Arts Education—presented by NAEA, NAESP, and Crayola. 
 
General Session Speakers: 
 
• First General Session: President F. Robert Sabol 
• Second General Session: Annette Lawrence, Visual Artist and Professor at the University of North 
Texas, College of Arts and Design 
• Third General Session:  Jesus Moroles, sculptor 
•Fourth General Session: Young Innovators Panel; co-presented by the Alliance for Young Artists and 
Writers 
 

NAEA staff continues to work closely with Elizabeth Willett and the local planning committee on activities 
for the opening night in conjunction with the NAEA Artisans Gallery, which will be held at the Omni Hotel.   
Preliminary plans include music, line dancing, and some other “Texas” related activities---more to come.     
 
Super Session speakers identified are Jay McTighe, Grace-Anne Alfiero, Lois Gibson, James Surls, and 
Carol Sauvion.  Texas Artist Series will include Eric McGehearty, Luther Smith, and Cam Schoepp/Teri 
Thornton. 
 
Meetings will be held at the Fort Worth Convention Center and the Omni Fort Worth Hotel.  NAEA has 
identified three other hotels for overflow sleeping rooms (Hilton, Sheraton, and Worthington Renaissance) 
and the hotel rooms are booking up. 
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Attendee registration launched online September 20—the earliest it has ever been made available.  We 
currently have almost 800 registered for the Convention and are only slightly behind in registration 
numbers posted last year in New York this many weeks out.     
   
Our confirmed sponsors this year include Blick Art Materials/Platinum Sponsor, Michaels/Platinum 
Sponsor, and Savannah College of Art & Design/Gold Sponsor.  Davis Publications once again agreed to 
provide tote bags to all attendees and we will continue with Crayola as a sponsor for lanyards.  The 
College Board will sponsor the Cyber Café for members, and Educational Sketchbook Program will once 
again provide sketchbooks to attendees.  Preliminary conversations continue with Nintendo as they 
explore sponsorships and participation in NAEA’s annual convention.  
 
On the exhibit hall front, booths are selling with space still available given the large size of the hall in the 
Convention Center. 
 
New this year is a pilot, Exhibitor Showcase Workshops, created in response to attendee surveys asking 
for more hands-on learning opportunities.  The Exhibitor Showcase Workshops recast the Interactive 
Demos that were held in the exhibit hall previously for exhibitors to purchase and hold a 30 minute demo 
outside of their booth space.  Feedback indicated that the demo area was not the best environment 
because of the noise inside the exhibit hall.  This year we are offering 8 slots to exhibitors on Friday 
evening for them to host a 2-hour hands-on workshop for up to 150 attendees, at no cost to the attendee.  
At this point we have sold 6—2 to Michaels, and one each to Blick, Sakura, Sargent Art, and Copic 
Marker.   
 
Approval of the 2013 annual operating budget included projected convention attendance of 3,353.  
Comparable comparisons include 3,255 attendees in Seattle 2011; 3,880 in Baltimore 2010; 3,409 
attendees for the 2009 Minneapolis convention; and 3,582 attending the 2008 New Orleans convention.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A    C         
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 500/2 
 
 
ITEM:  2014 AND BEYOND 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Activities related to exploring and identifying potential cities to host NAEA’s National Convention are 
ongoing: 
 
San Diego, Saturday, March 29 – Tuesday, April 1, 2014 (confirmed) 

 
San Diego proposed a package that partners the new Hilton San Diego Bayfront and the San Diego 
Convention Center on a Saturday – Tuesday pattern; which is confirmed for 2014.   
 
Hilton San Diego Bayfront opened just two years ago and is less than a block from the San Diego 
Convention Center.  Located just 3 miles from the airport with fantastic bayfront views, the Hilton is 
offering confirmed room rates of $199 single/$219 double.   
 
New Orleans, LA, Thursday, March 26 – Sunday, March 29, 2015 (confirmed)  
 
Based on the success of the 2008 NAEA National Convention in New Orleans, as evident in the attendee 
evaluations, New Orleans is confirmed to host the 2015 NAEA National Convention.  
 
To secure the confirmed sleeping room rates of $209/single and $229/double at the Hilton Riverside, 
NAEA leveraged the Hilton brand to include the Doubletree New Orleans ($189/single, $209/double) and 
Embassy Suites ($199/single, $219 double) as contracted overflow properties.  Each hotel will provide 
NAEA a $15/per night/per room rebate to help offset the cost of the Convention Center (which may even 
cover the full cost of the center dependent upon the number of attendees and reservations).   
 
2016 and Beyond  
 
A number of cities remain interested in partnering with NAEA to host the 2016 convention, including:  
Denver, Chicago, Baltimore, and Washington, DC.  Discussions with these cities are ongoing. 
 
The 2017 NAEA National Convention will be held in New York, NY. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

119



A   C      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 500/3 
 
 
ITEM:  APPOINTMENT OF 2015 NAEA NATIONAL CONVENTION PROGRAM 
  CO-COORDINATORS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Included among appointments made by the NAEA President is that of the National Convention Program 
Coordinator. In keeping with the ambitious planning time line for the national convention and Presidential 
transition activities, President-elect Dennis Inhulsen has asked Susan Gabbard and Sarah Cress to be 
the 2015 National Convention Program Co-Coordinators for New Orleans, LA.  
 
Susan Gabbard is the Director of Visual & Performing Arts for Oklahoma City Public Schools which has 
over 253 arts programs in 74 schools.  She is a Past President of the National Art Education Association, 
a past Western Region Vice President, and a Distinguished NAEA Fellow. Ms. Gabbard is a member of 
the Visual Arts Writing Team for the new Common Core Standards. Gabbard taught visual art for 27 
years in public and private schools in both Oklahoma and Texas.  
Ms. Gabbard is the recipient of numerous awards including: 

 NAEA Marion Quin Dix Award for Leadership 

 Oklahoma Governors’ Arts in Education Award 

 The Oklahoma Foundation- Medal of Excellence in Teaching 

 Outstanding Visual Art Teacher in the Disney American Teacher Award program, 1996  

 Claire Flanagan Memorial YAM award, 1987 

 Yam Award of Excellence, 1986 

 Oklahoma Art Educator of the Year, 1998 
 
Sarah Cress is currently pursuing her PhD in Education from the University of Missouri, St. Louis, where 
she also works with pre-service art education students during several phases of their professional growth. 
Prior to working at UMSL, Sarah found a fulfilling role teaching all levels of photography at Streamwood 
High School. Sarah also built, from scratch, a comprehensive photography program at a wonderful fine 
arts school called Creative Artistry in Crystal Lake, Illinois. Sarah has been involved with the National Art 
Education Association since her undergraduate years, serving as Student Chapter President along the 
way. During her down time, Sarah enjoys working on independent photography projects of her own, 
writing and creating curricula. Sarah presently resides in Kirkwood, Missouri with her fiancé and two dogs. 
LinkedIn Profile with additional information: http://www.linkedin.com/pub/sarah-cress/46/60b/190 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   Motion to approve the appointments of Susan Gabbard and Sarah Cress as 
2015 NAEA National Convention Program Co-Coordinators. 
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   E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 600/1 
 
 
ITEM:  HEADQUARTERS STAFF 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

STAFF LIST 
November, 2012 

 
Executive Office  
Deborah Reeve   Executive Director  
Melanie Dixon    Chief Operating Officer  
Kathy Duse    Executive Services and Convention/Programs Manager  
 
Administration and Finance  
Dhru Vakil    Accounting Assistant  
 
Communications  
Krista Brooke    Visual Communications and Marketing Manager  
Linda Scott    Web and e-Communications Manager  
 
Member Services  
Christie Castillo   Member Services and Database Operations Manager  
Heather Rose    Member Services and NAHS Programs Coordinator  
Elizabeth Weitzmann  Member Services Coordinator 
 
Publications  
Lynn Ezell    Publications Manager  
Elizabeth Snow    Managing Editor (Part Time) 
Becky Rivard   Publications Coordinator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A     E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 700/1 
 
 
ITEM:  STATE CONFERENCES 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Executive Director and Officers (President, President-elect and Past President) continue to 
strategically participate in state conferences with the goal of supporting state organizational leadership, 
growing membership and understanding the challenges faced by members and state associations.  
   
The following 2012 fall conferences were attended:  
 
Deborah Reeve — Nebraska/Iowa, Oklahoma, Virginia, Florida 
Bob Sabol — Alabama, Washington 
Barry Shauck —  
Dennis Inhulsen — Michigan 
 
Since 2007, the following highlighted states have been attended. Upon conclusion of this year’s 
participation, NAEA leadership will have participated in thirty-one state association conferences.  
 
Eastern Region: Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Labrador, Maine, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, New Brunswick, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Newfoundland, Nova Scotia, 
Ontario, Overseas Art Education Association, Pennsylvania, Prince Edward Island, Quebec, Rhode 
Island, Vermont, and West Virginia. 
 
Pacific Region: Alaska, Alberta, American Samoa, Arizona, British Columbia, California, Colorado, 
Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Oregon, Utah, Washington, Wyoming, and Yukon Territory. 
 
Southeastern Region: Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, 
Puerto Rico, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, and the Virgin Islands. 
 
Western Region: Arkansas, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Manitoba, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, 
Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Northwest Territory, Ohio, Oklahoma, Saskatchewan, South 
Dakota, Texas, and Wisconsin. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

122



A   C  E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 700/2 
 
 
ITEM:  REGIONAL LEADERSHIP CONFERENCES 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Beginning summer 2007, the Executive Director and Officers made commitments to champion and 
support the critical organizational work that takes place during the summer regional leadership 
conferences by ensuring national leadership participation.  In keeping with the NAEA Constitution/Bylaws, 
the regional conferences have been rebranded as NAEA Regional Leadership Conferences and a 
common agenda is presented that ensures consistency in moving forward NAEA goals and the work of 
the Delegates Assembly.   
 
In an effort to strengthen leadership and build organizational capacity at the state level, opportunities for 
holding a National Leadership Conference, every 2-3 years and the Regional Leadership Conferences in 
between the national year are being preliminarily explored. While the interest is there and the clear 
benefit from training national leaders is evident, logistics and costs must be thoroughly explored.  
 
2013 conferences will be held: 
 
Western — June 19-23, Oklahoma City, OK 
 
Eastern — June 21-22, Massachusetts 
 
Southeastern — July 11-13, Tennessee 
 
Pacific — July 12-14, Vancouver, British Columbia 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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A     E      
NAEA Board of Directors            Item Number: 800/1 
 

ITEM:  MEMBER SERVICES OVERVIEW 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
NAEA membership continues to grow, showing 17,308 current members at the end of October 2012, 
which compares to 17,158 recorded at the end of October 2011.   
 
During October 2012, NAEA gained 608 new members and processed 1,350 membership renewals. 
Among the 608 new members, the highest number of new members were associated with the Elementary 
Division (153 Elementary, 52 Middle/Junior High, 121 Secondary, 34 Combined K-12, 7 Supervision/ 
Administration,  22 Museum, 11 Higher Ed, 198 College Students, and 10 undesignated). Additionally, the 
new 608 members are located in the following regions: 101 Eastern, 254 Western, 177 Southeastern, 71 
Pacific, and 5 Foreign/Canada. 

 

 
 
Additional membership demographics are reflected in the membership statistical report, which is 
attached. 
 
MEMBERSHIP GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
State Association Growth  
 
Many states have experienced membership growth over the past year, as a result of the hard work and 
dedication of NAEA state leaders, board, and staff. States that have seen growth in overall membership 
include:  APO, AZ, CO, IL, MA, MD, MN, MT, NE, NH, NJ, NM, NY, OK, RI, SD, TN, TX, UT, VT, and 
Foreign. 
 
Additionally, Art Education DC (AEDC), NAEA’s newest affiliate and state association partner, reached 
their highest membership total ever: 99 members! 
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NAEA Outreach to State Conferences 

 
NAEA staff and board members continue to participate in state conferences to show support and promote 
membership. NAEA Officers and Executive Director offered keynote presentations and full conference 
participation in the following states:  AL, FL, IA, MI, NE, OK, and VA. 
 
In November, NAEA staff Christie Castillo and Linda Scott exhibited at the 2012 Annual Texas Art 
Education Association (TAEA) Conference in San Antonio, Texas, and the 2012 Annual California Art 
Education Association (CAEA) Conference in Riverside, CA respectively—both Associations are non-
dues-contracted states.  Strategies to participate in TAEA’s and CAEA’s state conference build upon last 
year’s success of promoting membership and the NAEA National Convention in key membership 
potential states.  Additionally, exhibiting at conferences where NAEA does not have a dues collection 
agreement provides the opportunity to build our database of potential members and expand outreach.  
This year, NAEA staff are piloting a new marketing strategy to draw in conference attendees, increase 
NAEA membership, and to promote our new advocacy tagline, ART Matters with a brightly decorated 
spin-wheel offering prizes such as ART Matters merchandise, NAEA t-shirts, aprons, books, bookmarks, 
and bookstore coupons. Attendees at TAEA and CAEA were able to spin the prize-wheel in exchange for 
their contact information. Attendees who joined NAEA on-site were eligible to spin the prize-wheel and 
receive a coupon for 20% off NAEA merchandise.  

 
Staff look forward to measuring the success of these outreach strategies in the coming months. 
 
NAEA booth at the TAEA Conference: 
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NAEA’s booth at the CAEA Conference: 

 
 
 
Membership Recruitment 

NAEA is collaborating with Blick Art Materials for the third consecutive year on a member recruitment 

campaign. This year’s campaign targets K-12 art educators in Texas, Arkansas, and Oklahoma, offering a 

$65 Blick gift coupon (equivalent to the cost of NAEA dues) to all new members that join NAEA. The 

recruitment effort will be split into two groups: the first group (6,677 member prospects) will receive an e-

mail with a deadline of December 31, 2012; the second group (over 10,000 member prospects) will 

receive a letter with a deadline of January 31, 2013.   

As always, results from these efforts will be carefully analyzed and measured for success. 

Additionally, NAEA staff are exploring the feasibility of collaborating with Nintendo on the launch of their 

newest version of Art Academy software for the Nintendo DS 3DXL learning systems.  Exploratory 

conversations include the potential for Nintendo to exhibit at the 2013 NAEA National Convention and to 

launch a membership recruitment campaign that provides a chance to win up to 30 Nintendo learning 

systems for the winner’s school.   
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NAHS/NJAHS UPDATE 

The National Art Honor Society (NAHS) and National Junior Art Honor Society (NJAHS) continue to show 

growth in all areas, with over 10,398 student members in over 145 registered chapters. 

An influx of early registrations positioned the program ahead of last year in both numbers and revenue.  

To date, 145 chapters have registered compared to 65 renewed chapters reported in October 2011—a 

26% increase in NAHS/NJAHS dues revenue!   

 

 FY2013 FY2012 

NAHS/NJAHS Dues Revenue 

 

$9,430  $7,442 

NAHS/NJAHS Product Line Revenue 

 

$7,302 $4,011 

 

The program year officially kicked off in October with the unveiling of the new microsite, NAHS/NJAHS 

Link, and a direct mail campaign to over 3,900 schools. 

- NAHS/NJAHS Link, the program’s new online home, addresses some of the major 

communication and accessibility issues identified in the 2011 NAHS Sponsor survey.  We have 

also opened communication with a new audience—NAHS and NJAHS students—providing them 

with essential college and career information through the ‘Student’ page.  An FAQ section details 

common questions from sponsors, students, and parents and provides a more comprehensive 

view of the program.  The online portal will be expanded and enhanced over time. 

 

- In alignment with staff goals to simplify program information and procedures, the NAHS/NJAHS 

Chapter Handbook and Resource Catalog was edited and re-designed for the 2013 program 

year.  This included the NAHS and NJAHS Constitutions, which underwent careful editing to 

update/simplify language and supplement existing policy.  The Chapter Handbook and Resource 

Catalog was mailed to over 3,900 schools and distributed electronically to all middle and 

secondary division members, both current and lapsed.   

With interest mounting in NAHS and NJAHS, growing the programs to offer new and exciting 

opportunities for sponsors and students is at the forefront. Staff is continuously exploring new social 

media and educational connections to benefit sponsors and student members.  Planning for the Creative 

Industries Studio is underway, with the pilot now scheduled for Summer 2014.  

 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
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JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC

AK 87 84 86 85 84 82 78 78 79 71 57 57 AK 54 52 51 51 54 57 56 50 54 62
AL 190 190 190 190 187 217 219 208 210 204 194 187 AL 191 189 181 189 191 189 184 196 194 187

AR 292 303 294 296 296 296 291 289 303 315 303 281 AR 288 284 279 278 287 289 291 293 298 309

AZ 216 242 250 253 256 258 252 249 247 226 229 268 AZ 270 238 230 229 230 230 229 231 236 252

CA 545 567 568 570 581 533 514 514 514 542 554 556 CA 561 524 510 509 530 537 533 537 528 513

CO 154 150 145 148 149 147 141 144 144 141 145 144 CO 164 161 153 154 152 149 152 154 153 152

CT 337 336 335 335 341 345 342 343 359 393 369 369 CT 380 382 376 375 380 378 381 378 361 345

DC 79 76 72 67 77 74 70 72 69 70 73 74 DC 77 82 85 83 85 84 82 86 84 97

DE 55 54 53 44 51 53 52 51 58 60 62 63 DE 64 68 67 68 64 65 66 70 74 80

FL 457 456 440 417 426 436 430 429 440 451 455 456 FL 477 473 452 460 468 450 448 448 440 422

GA 643 656 668 658 676 685 680 684 711 702 717 734 GA 761 739 709 725 720 710 704 697 676 675
HI 45 45 45 45 44 42 40 40 47 49 48 48 HI 48 53 53 50 52 52 52 52 44 42

IA 219 212 210 185 186 182 185 179 180 177 192 81 IA 191 185 183 180 178 176 172 177 175 176
ID 94 91 92 92 91 89 89 89 91 87 87 186 ID 73 60 57 55 54 55 53 55 52 56

IL 711 702 665 654 662 654 647 636 648 660 640 662 IL 685 672 670 677 674 668 658 670 658 662

IN 494 494 481 475 483 479 466 455 472 455 437 440 IN 428 431 427 429 434 442 438 441 412 404

KS 305 307 302 302 304 303 297 296 294 273 271 236 KS 260 263 266 268 271 275 277 287 318 335

KY 256 288 306 307 306 307 306 313 331 351 333 327 KY 331 299 286 281 282 285 287 291 313 337

LA 158 157 157 159 163 161 158 157 155 160 154 153 LA 158 158 156 154 155 156 162 162 158 155

MA 555 553 535 521 562 598 564 568 549 551 572 578 MA 606 627 619 618 590 568 563 556 556 568
MD 638 619 564 523 529 515 508 501 519 513 516 529 MD 553 544 526 519 514 511 502 514 512 515

ME 64 67 63 63 66 67 71 70 72 71 70 69 ME 73 71 66 72 72 70 67 68 64 62

MI 1121 972 952 924 922 917 906 896 930 917 889 861 MI 880 864 832 847 855 868 871 890 899 904
MN 443 401 386 376 374 369 364 363 364 366 369 517 MN 407 388 386 378 380 378 380 383 394 399

MO 788 823 870 784 773 768 756 755 764 795 780 744 MO 748 740 669 756 742 734 732 751 744 730

MS 91 104 95 94 95 94 100 97 110 114 113 120 MS 116 117 114 114 117 115 111 115 107 111

MT 43 36 34 33 33 37 37 36 36 34 34 34 MT 40 37 37 38 38 39 39 40 39 42

NC 749 623 605 593 604 619 619 628 685 694 686 687 NC 756 666 650 665 658 643 637 638 647 694

ND 25 23 24 24 23 24 23 22 22 21 21 22 ND 21 22 20 16 17 16 13 13 14 14

NE 175 174 168 176 178 170 165 163 168 167 163 161 NE 166 170 171 163 163 165 168 170 173 176

NH 91 91 85 88 91 91 93 84 88 88 94 93 NH 107 107 106 104 104 107 109 110 109 108

NJ 454 446 430 392 392 392 388 397 406 423 426 445 NJ 549 575 588 582 573 566 552 549 536 530
NM 119 117 109 109 111 106 105 111 121 125 130 126 NM 135 131 133 134 133 134 130 131 124 127

NV 80 80 78 77 77 78 78 75 80 69 67 67 NV 62 61 59 59 57 58 57 57 57 59

NY 942 925 884 877 955 961 932 942 960 999 1010 1051 NY 1295 1392 1411 1390 1343 1328 1315 1298 1283 1247

OH 563 542 508 487 507 506 485 477 470 471 456 449 OH 470 459 443 444 445 443 428 437 448 434

OK 168 173 167 165 159 158 159 156 162 155 149 143 OK 149 143 142 144 142 161 161 168 166 167

OR 185 194 198 190 191 189 190 189 197 193 194 154 OR 178 171 163 169 171 168 164 167 167 174
Overseas 17 18 20 22 19 19 19 19 20 22 24 24 Overseas 28 29 28 27 30 31 33 32 32 34

PA 1047 1016 977 935 955 948 930 915 948 947 945 958 PA 1005 1027 993 976 951 951 947 957 940 922
RI 173 169 167 160 162 157 158 152 154 144 150 150 RI 153 150 149 153 158 156 158 164 159 163

SC 362 355 347 346 363 370 363 347 374 375 365 381 SC 387 390 393 397 391 388 385 392 387 375

SD 36 36 33 32 32 33 33 33 32 30 27 27 SD 27 27 28 29 29 28 30 32 34 32

TN 370 364 344 338 339 344 341 347 356 358 348 347 TN 363 356 347 346 349 349 350 364 373 379

TX 670 661 631 622 667 674 664 653 659 652 665 669 TX 690 676 646 654 713 723 715 740 759 802

UT 88 102 101 94 94 92 90 87 101 104 94 94 UT 91 92 93 91 92 92 92 92 85 106

VA 928 911 896 877 869 879 876 876 939 926 893 883 VA 908 919 891 877 873 873 859 866 868 891

VI 11 9 8 8 9 8 8 7 8 9 9 9 VI 10 8 7 8 7 7 7 7 6 5

VT 64 65 65 66 66 63 62 64 65 68 76 74 VT 75 77 78 77 79 78 78 79 77 75

WA 287 335 381 368 368 343 334 333 337 331 322 307 WA 277 222 180 179 185 189 192 196 211 210

WI 531 530 518 512 518 514 516 510 520 532 506 520 WI 523 509 491 496 493 484 480 492 506 521

WV 115 123 119 110 111 111 111 113 119 119 124 113 WV 117 114 113 114 115 115 115 116 109 111
WY 28 29 30 29 35 37 36 36 35 35 36 35 WY 37 33 32 32 28 27 28 29 30 30

U.S. Terr 53 67 64 61 24 23 22 22 29 28 27 30 U.S. Terr 33 32 30 30 31 32 29 27 23 25

Foreign 110 114 124 129 154 151 142 146 144 141 143 144 Foreign 156 158 163 161 154 155 155 151 149 148
Canada 131 140 131 149 184 180 172 177 178 184 189 191 Canada 194 199 199 187 172 173 166 162 163 157

TOTAL 17,652 17,417 17,070 16,636 16,974 16,948 16,677 16,593 17,073 17,158 17,002 17,128 TOTAL 17,846 17,616 17,187 17,261 17,225 17,170 17,043 17,228 17,178 17,308 0 0

2011 2012
OCTOBER 2012 Membership Statistical Report
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By Teaching Level

Elementary: 4,334

Middle/Junior: 1,850

Secondary: 5,270

Combined K-12: 1,469

Admin/Supervisor: 441

Higher Ed: 1,246

Museum Ed: 710

Pre-service/Other: 1,988

By Category Type

Active Teacher:

Associate: 147

Student: 2,453

First Yr. Professional: 848

Retired: 905

Institutional: 228

Life/Other: 87

By Region

Eastern: 4,857

Western: 6,192

Southeastern: 4,231

Pacific: 1,698

None: 330

12,640

Membership Demographics

Total members renewed in October 2012: 1,350

Total NEW members joined in October 2012: 608
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A   E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 800/2 
 
 
ITEM:  CLASS OF 2013 DISTINGUISHED FELLOWS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

NAEA Distinguished Fellows 

 
November 10, 2012 
 
To:      NAEA Board of Directors 
 
Election Results for Fellows Class of 2013 for NAEA Board Ratification:  
 
We are pleased to report the results of the election for the Fellows Class of 2013. The nomination 
process for the NAEA Distinguished Fellows requires that nominees receive a minimum of 50% + one of 
the votes cast in order for their names to be moved forward for ratification by the NAEA Board of 
Directors.  
 
The following four nominees received the required votes for membership to the NAEA Distinguished 
Class of 2013. 
 
Dr. B. Stephen Carpenter, II  
Dr. Karen Keifer-Boyd 
Dr. Melody Milbrandt 
Dr. John Howell White 
 
In addition to our colleagues listed above, we will also welcome R. Barry Shauck as a member of the 
Class of 2013, as he completes his term as past President of NAEA. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
Rick Lasher, Chair, NAEA Distinguished Fellows 
Read Diket, Membership Chair, NAEA Distinguished Fellows 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Motion to approve the 2013 Class of Distinguished Fellows as presented. 
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A   E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 800/3 
 
 
ITEM:  AFFILIATION REQUEST FROM ART EDUCATION DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Based upon the thoughtful leadership and excellent planning by a dedicated group of art education 
leaders in the District of Columbia, Art Education DC was successfully established. A large number of art 
educators representing schools and museums throughout the District of Columbia and NAEA staff 
celebrated AEDC’s historic birth at a launch party hosted by the Phillips Collection in October. To date, 
AEDC has 99 active members and ambitious plans for its members.  
 
Attached are the Executive Committee Memorandum requesting recognition of AEDC as an NAEA 
affiliate and supporting documents.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Motion to ratify the Affiliation Request from Art Education District of Columbia (as 
included in the Consent Agenda). 
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Memorandum 
 
August 23, 2012 
 
To:  President Bob Sabol and NAEA Executive Committee 
 
Fr: Deborah B. Reeve 
 
Re: REQUEST FOR ACTION: Affiliation Request from Art Education District of 

Columbia 
 
In follow up to our time together in Louisville – and as promised – the transitional 
leadership team of visual arts educators in the District of Columbia has submitted a 
formal request to be recognized as an NAEA Affiliate.  Attached please find the letter of 
request from AEDC and a copy of their Constitution and Bylaws, Articles of 
Incorporation, and plan of action for upcoming activities.   
 
To note, I spent all day yesterday with more than 100 DC Public School art educators 
and Suzanne Wright and her staff team from the Philips Collection who delivered a 
back-to-school professional development day.   I was invited to make remarks and 
spent the day participating in their work and engaging in small group and individual 
conversations. There is great excitement from this community as well as the museum 
community in DC about the newly formed AEDC! Those who had been active years ago 
in the prior organization were particularly excited to see a fresh new start in building a 
strong professional community. NAEA will continue to stay engaged and support their 
efforts during these formative stages.    
 
In accordance with NAEA procedures, outlined below is background information for your 
consideration to further inform this request for your action:  
 
Recognition of Affiliate Status 
 
Recognition of NAEA Affiliate status is outlined in the Board-approved NAEA Policy 
Manual and defined as: 
 
NAEA may recognize any state/province association that has common goals and 
shared interests with NAEA as reflected in the state/province association 
Constitution/By-Laws. Each state/province art education association recognized by 
NAEA is represented in the Delegates Assembly by its president or designated elected 
representatives. State/province art education associations are autonomous 
organizations, whose mission and purposes are consistent with those set forth by NAEA 
and are therefore recognized as Affiliates of NAEA. National dues are the same in all
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state/province associations. State/Province associations set their own dues and rates 
may vary.  
 
NAEA may enter into an affiliation agreement with any recognized state/province 
association. The affiliation agreement may incorporate, among its terms and conditions, 
an optional ‘unified membership dues agreement,’ with NAEA where both state and 
national dues are required by members of those states. NAEA collects both state and 
national dues, processes membership records, and reimburses membership dues to 
states and provide membership reports to states. All such agreements shall be subject 
to the approval of the NAEA Board of Directors.  
 
State Association Affiliation Agreement 
 
Upon Board approval, AEDC will enter into the Board-approved NAEA State 
Association Affiliation Agreement; the Agreement outlines the mutual commitments to 
advance visual arts education, remain an autonomous organization, and to abide by 
and uphold the Articles of Incorporation and applicable Constitutions/Bylaws.  The 
NAEA Affiliation Agreement outlines the following benefits of affiliation: 
 

a. Participation in NAEA Delegates Assembly, a recommending body for 

legislative and policy matters for the Association; and Delegates Assembly 

voting rights as outlined in the NAEA Policy Manual; 

b. Eligibility to participate in State Association Partner program and Dues 

Collection Agreement; 

c. Participation and access to Leadership Link, NAEA’s online resource 

center for governance and leadership support (applicable with an 

executed Dues Collection Agreement); 

d. Use of NAEA’s name and logo within the parameters of established 

current Image Guidelines; 

e. Eligibility to participate in NAEA Group Tax Exemption program; 

f. Graphic design support and expertise for creation of joint membership 

forms and membership marketing brochures; 

g. Participation in membership campaigns and related awards programs; 

h. Advocacy materials (pins, tote bags, t-shirts, pens, etc.) for state 

conferences, as available; 

i. Eblasts sent on behalf of Affiliate, as coordinated with other messages; 

j. Governance support and strategic planning guidance, as applicable; and 

k. Archival services for legal documents such as Affiliate Bylaws, Articles of 

Incorporation, and policy manuals for easy access in support of leadership 

turnover
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Dues Collection Agreement 
 
Consistent with prior NAEA DC based member experience with the former DC affiliated 
group, Art Education DC seeks to enter into the NAEA’s Dues Collection Agreement 
and the applicable State Association Program.   With an executed Dues Collection 
Agreement, NAEA will continue to facilitate and manage membership marketing 
retention and recruitment activities to grow membership in the District of Columbia and 
will begin to collect membership dues on behalf of Art Education DC.   
 
The NAEA Dues Collection Agreement is attached for the Committee’s information. 
 
The transitional leadership team of Art Education DC, which included NAEA members 
Suzanne Wright, Director of Education at the Phillips Collection; Marni Leikin, Content 
Manager for the Visual Arts Program for DC Public Schools; and Cammille Taylor, Art 
Educator for DC Public Schools – have also included an action plan to meet the needs 
of NAEA members that live or work within the District of Columbia.  Their efforts are 
creating exciting buzz and generating great support from the NAEA community in DC!  
  
In response to NAEA member inquiries and through my conversations and work with 
the Art Education DC leadership team, Committee approval of this request by Art 
Education DC to be recognized formally as an NAEA affiliate is recommended.   Should 
you have any questions and/or an interest in further discussion, please let me know. 
(cell: 202.230.9170) 
 
For your action, please mark the applicable line below and return your ballot via 
return email to Kathy Duse (kduse@arteducators.org) on or before August 31.    
 
_____ YES, I approve formal recognition of Art Education DC as an NAEA Affiliate; and 
authorize NAEA’s Executive Director to fully execute a State Association Affiliate 
Agreement and Dues Collection Agreement with Art Education DC. 
 
_____ NO, I do not approve recognition of Art Education DC as an NAEA Affiliate.   
 
Many thanks for your continued support and leadership!  
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August 24, 2012 
 
To:  Marni Leikin 
  Cammille Taylor 
  Suzanne Wright 
 
Fr:  Deborah B. Reeve, NAEA Executive Director 
 
Re:  Art Education DC Affiliation with the National Art Education Association 
 
Thank you for your thorough documentation and dedication as the transitional 
leadership team of visual arts educators in the District of Columbia.  It is a pleasure to 
report that the NAEA Executive Committee reviewed and approved the application for 
affiliation between Art Education DC and the National Art Education Association.  
Please accept this letter as confirmation of AEDC’s status as an NAEA Affiliate.   
 
Recognition of NAEA Affiliate status is outlined in the Board-approved NAEA Policy 
Manual and defined as: 
 
NAEA may recognize any state/province association that has common goals and 
shared interests with NAEA as reflected in the state/province association 
Constitution/By-Laws. Each state/province art education association recognized by 
NAEA is represented in the Delegates Assembly by its president or designated elected 
representatives. State/province art education associations are autonomous 
organizations, whose mission and purposes are consistent with those set forth by NAEA 
and are therefore recognized as Affiliates of NAEA. National dues are the same in all 
state/province associations. State/Province associations set their own dues and rates 
may vary.  
 
NAEA may enter into an affiliation agreement with any recognized state/province 
association. The affiliation agreement may incorporate, among its terms and conditions, 
an optional ‘unified membership dues agreement,’ with NAEA where both state and 
national dues are required by members of those states. NAEA collects both state and 
national dues, processes membership records, and reimburses membership dues to 
states and provide membership reports to states. All such agreements shall be subject 
to the approval of the NAEA Board of Directors.  
 
As an NAEA Affiliate, please complete and return the attached State Association 
Affiliate Agreement; which outlines the mutual commitments to advance visual arts 
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education, remain an autonomous organization, and to abide by and uphold the Articles 
of Incorporation and AEDC’s Constitution/Bylaws.   
 
In the coming weeks, Christie Castillo, NAEA Member Services Manager, will be in 
touch with you to discuss activities related to announcing AEDC’s new affiliate status 
with NAEA members in the District. 
 
Many thanks for your excellent leadership and vision!  The NAEA staff team and I look 
forward to continuing to work with each of you. 
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National  Art  Educat ion Associat ion

D U E S  C O L L E C T I O N  A G R E E M E N T

The undersigned representative of the

_________________________________________________________________________
State Association

and the National Art Education Association do hereby agree to abide by this joint contract. This agreement automatically 
renews each year on January 2, and any adjustment or termination goes into e�ect the following July 1. I understand that 
my association must submit a completed Dues Collection agreement and Dues Veri�cation Form by January 2 in order to 
adjust our yearly dues, or terminate our dues agreement.

NAEA Agrees to:
• Maintain a membership policy in which all NAEA members are members of the affiliated state association
• Conduct a yearly membership recruitment campaign
• Execute a member renewal program on behalf of the state/province association
• Provide monthly comprehensive membership reports
• Provide a complete Membership Management System to include:
  - State association member files
     - Collection and monthly forwarding of state/province dues for all membership categories to the state association
  - Member I.D. cards
•  Offer access to Leadership Link—an online community exclusively for state leaders connecting best practices, information, and resources

The State Association Agrees to:
• Maintain a membership policy in which all members of the state association are members of  NAEA
• Set the state association portion for all membership dues categories
• Notify NAEA in writing the amount of state dues
• Notify NAEA in writing which state officer(s) are designated as responsible for fiscal and membership transactions
• Keep on file with NAEA a current Constitution and a current roster of names, addresses, and phone numbers of state association officers

_______________________________  ______________________________
NAEA Executive Director          State Association President

_____________     _____________
Date      Date

Decline of Dues Collection Agreement
We have decided not to sign the Dues Collection Agreement at this time. Please contact us again at the next cycle.

________________________________  _____________  ______________________________
State Association     Date   State Association President

Please complete Dues Veri�cation Form on the next page.
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National  Art  Educat ion Associat ion

D U E S  V E R I F I C A T I O N  F O R M

State Association: __________________________________________________________________________

Please select one:

 Our state association IS participating in the Dues Collection Agreement effective July 1 and ending no sooner
       than June 30 the following year.

 Our state association IS NOT participating in the Dues Collection Agreement beginning July 1.

CURRENT state association dues (E�ective July 1 of current year through June 30 of next year):
Membership Type  NAEA Dues State Dues Combined Dues
Active   $65.00  $ _________ $ _________
Associate (non-art educator) $65.00  $ _________ $ _________
Retired   $45.00  $ _________ $ _________
First Year Professional  $55.00  $ _________ $ _________
Student   $35.00  $ _________ $ _________
Institutional   $185.00  $ _________ $ _________

FUTURE state association dues (as of July 1):
Membership Type  NAEA Dues State Dues Combined Dues
Active   $65.00  $ _________ $ _________
Associate (non-art educator) $65.00  $ _________ $ _________
Retired   $45.00  $ _________ $ _________
First Year Professional  $55.00  $ _________ $ _________
Student   $35.00  $ _________ $ _________
Institutional   $185.00  $ _________ $ _________

____________________________________________ __________________________
State Association President      Date

Please mail this completed form along with your signed Dues Collection Agreement to 
NAEA, 1806 Robert Fulton Drive, Suite 300, Reston, VA  20191-1590; or fax it to 703-860-2960, 
no later than January 2.
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A    B    C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors      Item Number: 800/4 
 
 
ITEM:  2013 NAEA MEMBER NEEDS ASSESSMENT SURVEY    
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In support of the 2011 – 2014 NAEA Strategic Plan and as a best practice in the nonprofit community, 
plans are underway to conduct a comprehensive member needs assessment in 2013.   
 
As a commonly accepted business practice, associations generally conduct member needs assessments 
every three to five years.  Assessments are designed to measure the quality and perceived value among 
members as well as nonmembers that represent the organization’s professional community.  Survey 
results are further designed to tease out data such as: 
 
Membership’s intrinsic importance:  where and how members find what is useful in belonging 
 
An indispensable benefit:  what does NAEA offer that cannot be obtained from any other organization?   
 
Expectations:  what do members and nonmembers think they should receive in exchange for their dues?  
Outcomes highlight perceptions members have as they move into membership, experience it, and then 
choose to continue or not renew. 
 
Primary needs:  what solutions/benefits are most valued and meet member’s needs? 
 
Competitors:  what are NAEA’s competitors – both direct and indirect? 
 
In 2008, NAEA conducted a comprehensive RFP process to identify the most experienced surveying firm 
to serve as our needs assessment partner.  Veris Consulting, headquartered in Reston, VA, was selected 
based on their expertise in survey methodology and analysis as well as their knowledge of nonprofit 
membership organizations.  Teaming with Veris, NAEA conducted it’s first-ever member needs 
assessment in 2008, distributed to ~18,000 members and 5,000 nonmembers.  The attached Executive 
Summary from 2008 provides a snapshot of the survey process; various data sorts captured, and 
highlighted findings (the full report is over 513 pages). 
 
Looking ahead to the 2013, collaborating with Veris Consulting provides some cost saving to NAEA as 
well as offering an “apples to apples” comparison of the survey results from 2008 and 2013. 
 
The 2013 NAEA Member Needs Assessment is slated to take place from early February – May 
2013.  Based on participation levels, the survey may be “in the field” for member and nonmember 
comment for 60 – 90 days.  A tentative timeline includes: 
 
January 2013:  survey questions reviewed, edited, and prepared; media collateral announcing survey 
created; and nonmembers identified.    
 
February:  survey launches via email, NAEA News, website, and other marketing mediums to members 
and non-members.   
 
February – March:  60 days “in the field” to collect data.  Include survey information as part of 2013 NAEA 
National Convention to capture non-member feedback and to encourage greater participation. 
 
April:  Extend survey deadlines if needed.   Veris Consulting begins analysis.   
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May:  Preliminary report ready for NAEA review.  Final report submitted to NAEA by May 30.   
 
July:  Veris Consulting presents findings to NAEA Board and Elects at NAEA Board of Directors meeting 
in Reston.  Report findings will focus on the following data sorts:   
 
Member 
Nonmember 
Position (9 reports each by Division plus, student, retired, other) 
Length of Membership (4 brackets of tenure to choice from) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

National Art Education Association (NAEA) conducted a survey to get a better understanding of 

the current state of their association and the needs of their members.  This comprehensive survey 

gathered information on such topics as member demographics, communications from NAEA, the 

National Convention, member satisfaction, as well as the benefits of membership. The results of 

this survey will be used to provide members with outstanding benefits and keep member 

retention rates high. 

 

NAEA outsourced the survey administration to Veris Consulting, LLC (Veris).  The survey was 

posted online to ensure quick distribution and easy completion.  The survey opened on January 

22, 2009, and the survey link was distributed via email to 10,000 members, and via postcard to 

all 18,000 members and an additional 5,000 non-members.  To ensure anonymity and accuracy, 

all individual responses were reviewed only by Veris.  The survey was officially closed on 

March 21, 2009.  A total of 3,262 surveys were entered online – 3,055 NAEA members and 207 

non-members.  This represents a member response rate of 17.0% and a non-member response 

rate of 4.1%. 

 

This is a self-selected sample which may or may not be representative of the membership as a 

whole.  Each question and coinciding results are displayed in this report.  Survey results are 

broken out by a variety of sorts.  The aggregate data is broken out into Members (3,055 

respondents) and Non-Members (207 respondents).  Members are then broken out by Position, 

Length of Membership, and Reasons for Joining.   

 

The Position break-outs are “Elementary” (896 respondents), “Higher Education” (248 

respondents), “Middle Level” (363 respondents), “Museum Education” (121 respondents), 

“Other” (141 respondents), “Retired” (81 respondents), “Secondary” (850 respondents), 

“Student” (281 respondents), and “Supervision/Administration” (73 respondents). 
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Length of Membership is broken out into “Less than 1 year” (482 respondents), “1-3 years” (763 

respondents), “4-5 years” (426 respondents), “6-10 years” (494 respondents), “11-15 years” (316 

respondents), and “Over 15 years” (572 respondents). 

 

Length of NAEA Membership

15.8%

25.0%

16.2%

10.4%

18.7%

14.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years 6-10 years 11-15 years Over 15 years

Length

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f R
es

po
nd

en
ts

 

 

Reasons for joining NAEA are broken out into “Advocacy materials and support” (1,381 

respondents), “Convention discounts” (901 respondents), “Eligibility for grants and awards” 

(715 respondents), “Encouraged by colleague” (1,084 respondents), “Encouraged to do so while 

a student” (1,156 respondents), “Magazine, newsletter, and research materials” (1,882 

respondents), “National Art Honor Societies” (428 respondents), “Networking opportunities” 

(1,786 respondents), “Other” (194 respondents), “Professional development” (2,252 

respondents), and “Publication discounts” (526 respondents).  Respondents were instructed to 

check all reasons that applied to them, which is why the sum of all responses is greater than 

3,055. 
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Top Reasons for Joining NAEA
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The data presented in the report displays a frequency and percent distribution for each question.  

Each question also has a graphic representation of the distribution.  A list of all answers to all 

open-ended questions is available in the Appendix.  Participants provided feedback, comments, 

and suggestions to the open-ended questions, which in turn will help NAEA better understand 

their members. 

 

Of the NAEA members that responded, 73.8% said they joined NAEA for professional 

development, while 61.6% selected magazine, newsletter and research materials.  Of the non-

members, 76.9% said they had not chosen to become a member due to cost considerations.  

Budget constraints/cost considerations were cited by 87% of members as what was hindering 

their attendance at the NAEA National Convention.  63.9% of members have not attended a 

single convention in the past 3 years. 

 

By the end of the survey, 62.3% of the non-members said they were interested in receiving 

additional information about becoming a member of NAEA.  The “member only” benefits that 
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most appealed to non-members were Lesson Plans (77.8%), Art Education (66.7%), and 

Grants/National Art Education Foundation (66.2%).  44.1% of current members also ranked 

Lesson Plans as being “Very Important,” and 48.9% rated Lesson Plans as the most valued item 

on the new NAEA website.  Professional Materials were the next most valuable item on the 

website with 46.6% of respondents.  Members appear to be satisfied overall with the current 

NAEA benefits.  The majority of members are Neutral, Satisfied, or Very Satisfied with all of 

the listed benefits. 

156



A     E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 800/5 
 
 
ITEM:  AWARDS PROGRAM 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 

 
For several years, NAEA received complaints regarding inconsistency of how the NAEA Awards Program 
was being administered; the most common complaint was related to regional award winners who, on 
occasion, were less than the most outstanding candidate based on their history within the state, and 
nonetheless, were chosen as the regional award winner without the state association’s awareness.  
 
In response, then President Barry Shauck, appointed an Awards Review Committee in 2010, Chaired by 
Pat Lamb, and charged with a thoughtful comprehensive review of the Awards Program to address the 
issue of primary complaints as well as to make recommendations that would strengthen the program. The 
question of whether or not to require a tiered approach from state to regional to national awards was 
studied; the committee's recommendation was to continue to allow any member and/or division to 
nominate a candidate but require each state affiliate to review candidates and sign off on one for each 
category (regional and division regional) from respective states to ensure that all candidates have 
achieved criteria worthy of recognition within their state to be considered for the regional and/or national 
awards.  
 
The Board reviewed the recommendations brought forth and appointed an ad-hoc committee of the Board 
to further study procedures and develop rubrics to guide selections and ensure consistency; In Seattle, in 
2011, the Board took action to implement recommendations in an effort to strengthen the program; the 
Awards booklet was revamped to reflect the new procedures and all members were made aware of the 
changes well in advance and notice was also posted to the web site calling attention to the new 
procedures.  
 
This is the second year of implementation and as with any procedures, Board and staff review policies 
and procedures to ensure goals are effectively achieved. Members are encouraged to bring any issues to 
the forefront by contacting their Division Director; Regional Vice President; President; and/or Executive 
Director. Staff has been monitoring the implementation of the new guidelines with a focus on 
effectiveness. Several issues have been brought to the forefront by Division Directors James Rolling and 
Anne Manning related to procedures; the following issues have implications for program procedures and 
are recommended for further review by the Board: 
 

1. Candidate Quality:  In cases where there is more than one candidate from a state for a 
regional/national award category, the state association selects one, possibly eliminating other 
qualified candidates; if the intention is to ensure quality candidates, couldn't there be more than 
one quality candidate from a state? If so, the state would be asked to fully vet each candidate per 
the rubric and to sign off to ensure the quality of all candidates/ rather than selecting only one?  

 
2. Conflict of Interest: In cases where a candidate is nominated while serving on a State 

Association Board and/or is nominated by a spouse/significant other implies nepotism.  Should 
expectations be set to include recusal and/or should procedures align with NAEA policy that 
prohibits national board members from being nominated during the time they are serving on the 
Board?   
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Additionally, it is suggested that language within current program guidelines be strengthened to 
clearly set expectations for state associations to ensure that ALL candidates are fully vetted by the 
state association before moving any candidates forward.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Appoint a Board Ad-Hoc Committee charged with (1) addressing the issues of 
Candidate Quality and Conflict of Interest to further refine/enhance the awards program consistent with 
program goals and (2) bringing recommendations to the spring meeting for review, discussion and action 
by the Board to align with the next award program cycle. 
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A    B     D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 900/1 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA WEBSITE 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The website is NAEA’s 24/7 virtual community of practice where visual arts educators, scholars, 
researchers, professors, students, administrators, museum educators, and artists come together around a 
shared belief in the power of the visual arts in developing human potential. The website connects 
members and others interested in visual arts education to information, best practices, and like-minded 
colleagues through its vast networks. While the website’s main function is communications, social media 
allows us to build and cultivate relationships. We are leveraging social media tools to reach a broader 
audience and expand NAEA’s online presence. Social media helps achieve our strategic goals and 
objectives by deepening member-to-member connections and distributing relevant content across various 
platforms and media channels, thus enhancing NAEA’s overall visibility as the premier national 
professional organization established exclusively for visual arts educators. 
 
RECENT WEB ACTIVITY 

 Launch of the 2013 NAEA National Convention website and online registration 

 Launch of the 2013 Museum Preconference website and online registration 

 Introduction and launch of “NAHS Link”, a new microsite dedicated to NAHS sponsors and students; 
added the new 2012-2013 NAHS Chapter Handbook & Resource Catalog 

 Blog Talk Radio EduTalk Online Archive: "Art Education And The Common Core" with President-
Elect Dennis Inhulsen (10/17/12); "The Status Of Art Education With NAEA" with President F. Robert 
Sabol (8/29/12); and "Why Art Matters" with President F. Robert Sabol (7/3/12) 

 So Much More Than What You See: Remarks made October 12, 2012 by Deborah B. Reeve, NAEA 
Executive Director, at the Opening of the Alliance for Young Artists and Writers 2012 Scholastic Art & 
Writing Awards Exhibit at the U.S. Department of Education 

 NCCAS Work Updates (NCCAS releases media arts position paper and work updates; Core Arts 
Standards Update Streaming Live). 

 Election information for President-Elect, Division Directors-Elect, and special election for Eastern 
Region Vice President-Elect 

 Launch of NAEA SummerVision DC 2013 program information and online registration  

 New publications added to the online store: Conversations in Art: The Dialectics of Teaching and 
Learning, Judith M. Burton and Mary Hafeli, Editors and The Heart of Art Education: Holistic 
Approaches to Creativity, Integration, and Transformation, Laurel H. Campbell and Seymour 
Simmons III, Editors 

 Studies in Art Education, Volume 52, Issues 1-4 

 NAEA Advisory - Fall 2012 set on Meaningful Making & Professional Development 

 October 2012 issue of NAEA News  

 2012-2103 NAEA Resources Catalog 

 2013 NAEF Grants Booklet 

 Arts in Education Week & National Arts & Humanities Month celebrations 

 Youth Art Month, Award Winners, and Upcoming Events Announced 

 Advocacy White Papers: Section III: What Excellent Visual Arts Teaching Looks Like was posted July 
2012. The final installments, Sections IV & V, are forthcoming.  
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WEB STATISTICS   
Unique Visitor Tracking: The Visits, Pageviews, and Average Pageviews per Visit graphs show the 
number of visits, the number of pageviews, and the average pageviews per visit over time during the date 
range of January 1 to October 22, 2012. There were 837,623 site visits (up 40% over the same period 
last year); 3,510,548 pageviews (down 63% over the same period last year); and 3.22 average 
pageviews per visit (down an average of 3 pageviews per visit over the same period last year).  Specific 
declines in pageviews, as defined by industry experts, is evidence that information on NAEA’s website is 
organized in a user-friendly fashion; and does not require multiple clicks to locate information. 
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Content Performance & IT Reports: 

 Top 10 Content: Homepage, National Convention, Membership, National Convention microsite, 
News, NAHS, Advocacy, Community, Research, and Grants. 

 Top 10 Downloads: National Visual Arts Standards, NAEA White Papers: Section III, 2013 Awards 
Program Booklet, membership form PDF, Visual Arts Education e-Flyer, 2011 Lowenfeld Lecture, 
2013 NAEF Grants Booklet, 10 Lesson the Arts Teach PDF, 2013 NAEA National Convention 
Schedule-at-a-Glance PDF, and Learning in a Visual Age monograph.  

 Top Platforms: Windows (37%), Mac (26%), and smartphones/tablets/other (33%). 

 Top 5 Sources: Direct - Indicates visitors who came to the site via a bookmark or who typed the URL 
directly into their browser (12,743), Google (4,258), Google.com (2,043), not set (791), and bing 
(294). 

 
SOCIAL NETWORKS 
NAEA continues to nurture and foster content sharing and communication via our social channels. The 
latest statistics (as of 10/23/12) are detailed below: 

 Facebook: 7,060 Total Likes ─ up 12% from July 2012 

 LinkedIn: 3,807 Connections ─ up 25% from July 2012 

 Twitter: 3,049 Followers ─ up 18% since July 2012 | 1,309 Total # of tweets (+149 from July 2012) 

 Monthly Mentor Blog: 121,330 Lifetime Pageviews; 81 Pageviews/Day; 317 Total Posts; and 333 
Total Comments 

 
SHARE THIS WIDGET ANALYTICS 

 SQI Score: SQI is a universal measure of social value (on a 10-point scale). It evaluates the social 
quality of our website against the ShareThis publisher network of more than 1.4M websites. NAEA’s 
performance for September measured a 6 on the SQI 10-point scale.  This compares to earning a 5 
in August.   

 Most Shared Content (09-01-2012 to 09-30-2012): Arts in Education Week - 106 Shares, 580 
Clickbacks; 10 Lessons the Arts Teach - 56 Shares, 179 Clickbacks; National Convention - 11 
Shares, 40 Clickbacks; National Art Honor Society - 11 Shares, 24 Clickbacks; Membership - 9 
Shares, 42 Clickbacks; Learning - 6 Shares, 62 Clickbacks; Advocacy Resources for Challenging 
Times - 5 Shares, 17 Clickbacks; National Coalition Core Arts Standards - 5 Shares, 5 Clickbacks; 
National Art Education Foundation - 5 Shares, 1 Clickbacks; and Art Education Journal, 4 Shares, 15 
Clickbacks 

 Most Used Social Channels (09-01-2012 to 09-30-2012): Facebook 65%, Twitter 19%, and LinkedIn 
10%. 

 
POLLING 
Polling of our membership is on temporary hiatus due to lackluster participation. We will explore 
alternatives to encourage greater participation in future polling, or launch polls on an “as needed” basis.  
 
NAEA INSTRUCTIONAL RESOURCES GALLERY 
NAEA continues to work toward its goal of developing a robust, member-only Instructional Resources 
Gallery that showcases exemplary lesson/unit plans. While the new cross-division review process 
introduced for 2012 has posed some challenges, progress is being made in a positive direction. Six new 
lessons were published in August 2012. Four 4 new lesson/unit plans are in the review queue for the fall 
2012 review cycle. Division Directors will continue to refine and develop the IRG within the context of the 
next generation of visual arts standards.  
 
OTHER PROJECTS 

 National Convention Mobile App – Planning and development on the 2013 NAEA National 
Convention mobile app is well underway with the app slated to launch February 1, 2013.  

 Research Commission – Planning and development is underway for a new Research Commission 
website. The site is scheduled to launch by March 2013. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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    B    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 900/2 
 
 
ITEM:  VISUAL COMMUNICATIONS/MARKETING 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Visual communications and marketing are evidenced in most areas of the association’s operations and 
are highlighted within the various reports included as part of the Board meeting materials.   
 
Marketing  
 
2013 NAEA National Convention multimedia marketing strategies continue to develop with current 
national membership marketing largely executed in tandem with Convention promotions.  
 
Through a partnership with Blick Art Materials, NAEA will reach more than 10,000 potential members and 
convention attendees in Texas, Arkansas, and Oklahoma (strategically selected based on geographic 
proximity to the Convention). The print and e-mail campaign promotes both Convention attendance and 
membership, offering a $65 Blick Art Materials coupon to recipients who join NAEA within the specified 
timeframe. As noted in the Member Services report, this is our third collaborative membership promotion 
with Blick Art Materials and staff looks forward to measuring the ROI in the coming months.   
 
With Convention scheduling complete, marketing efforts are more frequent. Mass e-mails to the NAEA 
database of current and potential members (60,000+); outreach to state association leaders; and 
advertising and special features in NAEA periodicals, exchange ads, and education-related e-bulletins are 
in national distribution. The yearly “Convention Preview” is in development and is slated for a print and 
digital release this winter.  
 
Member retention materials, including renewal e-mails and letters, member ID cards and member 
“welcome” messaging, have undergone complete review and refinement resulting in a fresh design and 
copywriting. In-person outreach at designated state association conferences (TAEA and CAEA) is 
integrated into the yearly membership marketing plan, with NAEA staff represented at conferences with 
the highest membership growth potential.  
 
The “member-get-a-member campaign” has undergone further development and will be branded as the 
“NAEA pARTners Membership Growth and Rewards Program.” To optimize grassroots marketing efforts 
supporting the campaign, the launch date of the informational microsite and project details are scheduled 
for winter 2013, with an official launch at the NAEA National Convention in Fort Worth.  
 
The Member Services team has identified potential opportunities for growing NAEA periodicals 
subscriptions. Working in collaboration with Member Services, a plan for incorporating subscription 
renewal notices into the monthly retention strategy has been established and will be in place in December 
2012. Increasing the promotion of Studies in Art Education subscriptions to current members through 
offers for free article downloads and issue highlights are part of this strategy as well. Additionally, further 
exploration into reaching out to libraries and universities as potential subscribers is underway. 
 
Visual Communications 
 
Microsites for the 2013 NAEA National Convention and the National Art Honor Society, produced in 
collaboration with respective staff teams, are now live. The creation of these microsites allows for more 
control of the overall “look and feel” as well as refined organization of information resulting in an easier 
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user experience. A microsite for the NAEA Research Commission is currently in development, with the 
design components nearing completion.  
 
Visual Communications and Marketing: Programs and Partnerships 
 
Registration is open for SummerVision DC 2013 (SVDC) with promotional efforts increasing. Expanding 
on marketing efforts in previous years, SVDC is being advertised in national education e-newsletters as 
well as to the NAEA database through e-mail, web, and periodicals.   
 
An exploratory survey, slated for dissemination in winter 2013, will explore the thoughts of art educators 
teaching at the secondary level as they pertain to the development of the NAHS Creative Industries 
Studio. The data gathered through this survey will inform the next steps in the planning process, while 
respondents will be solicited for further brainstorming and focus groups.  
 
Broadening NAEA’s partnership with IDSA (Industrial Designer’s Society of America), NAEA Board of 
Directors and staff were represented by Dennis Inhulsen and Krista Brooke at the IDSA Design Learning 
Symposium in Dearborn, Michigan. K-HE educators, museum educators, industrial designers, software 
developers, and scholars of neuroscience convened to share views on the value of design learning in 
education, and to discuss how to work collaboratively in the future.  Participation in the symposium 
furthers NAEA’s strategic planning goals and clarifies objectives for planning the launch of the NAHS 
Creative Industries Studio. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 1000/1 
 
 
ITEM:  PUBLICATIONS OVERVIEW 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
NAEA’s publications remain a vibrant area of member-only benefits, educational research, and emerging 
practices in the field of visual arts education.  
 
NAEA News 
The October 2012 issue of NAEA News highlighted the success of SummerVision DC 2012; activities 
related to the Visual Arts Standards meeting which was held in Reston, VA; and highlights from findings 
as detailed in The Metlife Survey of The American Teacher: Teachers, Parents, and the Economy; which 
were reported in the President’s column. December News will focus on statements by NAEA Presidential 
candidates, the NAEA Delegation to India through the Professionals Abroad Program, and promotion of 
the 2013 NAEA National Convention. 
  
Journal of Art Education 
Leveraging opportunities to better connect the number one NAEA member benefit, as reported by 
members through exit surveys and the 2008 member needs assessment, articles appearing in the 
Journal are “pushed” via email to members and non-members to encourage readership and to strengthen 
the member-value proposition. 
 
Further strengthening the connections between NAEA’s print media and our virtual home at 
www.arteducators.org, the January issue of the Journal will begin a regular column to highlight member-
only benefits accessed through the website in a “Get Connected” page.  Similar marketing may be added 
to upcoming issues of NAEA News.   
 
Education Digest recently requested permission to condense the September 2012 article, "Toward a 
STEM + Arts Curriculum: Creating the Teacher Team" by Toni Wynn and Juliette Harris, stating that it “is 
sure to interest our audience.” 

In her final issue, Editor Christine Ballengee Morris reminded us of “Our Primary Focus: Students First,” 
expressing her hope that the Journal helps explore and create the strategies that our field demands.  

Incoming Editor Robert Sweeny takes “New!” as his January issue theme and delineates his resolutions 
for his editorship and the journal. 

Bridging our print and online resources, recent Journal articles on advocacy will be posted to the website 
for member-only access. 
  
Studies in Art Education 
Fall Studies centered on “Historical Contexts and Emerging Practices in Art Education,” while Winter 
Studies focuses on ways of increasing student engagement with art. PDFs of Volume 53 (Fall 2010 
through Summer 2011) are now posted on the website and are free to NAEA members. The Fall issue 
included a Table of Contents for each of those 4 issues as a way to better promote this valuable 
subscription resource. 

Advisorys, Translations, White Papers 
Three new Advisories have been posted, including an article on “Contemporary Art and Early Childhood” 
and two on “Tips for Getting Hired.” 
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New Publications 

Two new NAEA titles were published in the fall and are available for sale through the NAEA Bookstore 
and Amazon: 

The Heart of Art Education: Contemporary Approaches to Holistic Human Development and 
Integration — Seymour Simmons III and Laurel Campbell  

Conversations in Art: The Dialectics of Teaching and Learning — Judith Burton and Mary Hafeli  

 

Titles slated for publication in the spring 2013, include: 
Teaching Comprehension Strategies through Visual Art: Lesson Plans for Teachers — Lisa Stuart and 
Jennifer Klein (co-publish with Roman & Littlefield; scheduled for Winter 2012) 
Studio Thinking: The Real Benefits of Visual Arts Education — Lois Hetland, et al. (co-publish with 
Teachers College Press; scheduled for Spring 2013) 

Stand(ing) Up, for a Change: Voices of Art Educators — Kevin Tavin and Christine Ballengee Morris  
(in design and last edits) 
 

Titles in production include: 
Teaching Emergent Research Methodologies in Art Education — Candace Jesse Stout (final edits to 

authors for review mid-November) 

Practice Theory: Seeing the Power of Art Teacher Researchers — Melanie Buffington and Sara 

Wilson McKay (in second editing) 

Including Difference: Communitarian Approach to Art Education in the Least Restrictive Environment 

— Michelle Kraft and Karen Kiefer-Boyd (first edit complete) 

Inquiry in Action: Paradigms, Methodologies and Perspectives in Art Education Research — Cathy 
Smilan and Kathy Miraglia (being prepped for first edit) 

Other Book News 
Sheng Kuan Chung, author of NAEA’s Teaching Asian Art: Content, Context, and Pedagogy, is entering 
the book in competition for the 2013 Franklin R. Buchanan book prize from the Association for Asian 
Studies, awarded annually to honor an outstanding curriculum publication on Asia targeting any 
educational level, elementary through university. 
 

Staff 
The Publications Team welcomes Publications Coordinator, Becky Rivard, to our team! She will begin 
interfacing with the Board and other NAEA News columnists, while assisting in all aspects of NAEA 
publication production. Rounding out our busy Publications Team, Staff Editor Elizabeth Snow takes the 
lead in Studies and Art Education editing and file organization; while Lynn Ezell, NAEA Publications 
Manager continues to manage the team and production of all NAEA’s publications.   
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A   C       
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 2000/1 
 
 
ITEM:  SUMMERVISION DC 2013 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
After the success and popularity of the SummerVision 2010 pilot professional development offering, 
Renee Sandell and Carole Henry presented two successful sessions of SummerVision 2011 and 2012 in 
Washington, DC. Renee Sandell managed and facilitated the planning and implementation with 
cooperating museums. A yearlong professional community of practice continues through the 
SummerVision eportfolio on the website and a gathering each year at the National Convention. 
Evaluations continue to reflect the need expressed by members and the value of the SummerVision 
professional development experience. Based on continued success, two sessions are being planned for 
SummerVision 2013 in Washington, DC and registration is already open. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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2013 DC Art Museum Itinerary 

Session I July 9-12 & Session II July 23-26 
 

Exploring Permanent Collections, Current Exhibitions, and the Museum Itself-- 
with daily time for reflection, conversation, classroom connections, and creative journal meaning-making. 

 

Day 1: Tuesday, 10:00 am – 5:30 pm 
All Day:  Explore the National Gallery of Art and Sculpture Garden http://www.nga.gov/ 
Morning:  Welcome and Orientation with Renee Sandell & Carole Henry    
Afternoon:  Gallery explorations with Elisa Patterson & Zev Slurzberg 
 Closing Activity: Drawing Treasure Hunt in the Sculpture Garden (weather-permitting) 

http://www.nga.gov/exhibitions/sculptureinfo.shtm/ 
 

Day 2: Wednesday, 10:00 am – 5:30 pm  
Morning:  Explore the Freer Gallery of Art and Arthur M. Sackler Gallery www.asia.si.edu  
 Interdisciplinary Gallery Activities with Theresa Esterlund 
Afternoon:     1-3:30 Extended Lunch with Museum Choices (ON YOUR OWN) 

  National Museum of American Indian http://www.nmai.si.edu/ lunch at NMAI’s Mitsitam Café AND/OR 
  Hirshhorn Museum and Sculpture Garden http://hirshhorn.si.edu/ lunch nearby at Castle Café  

         3:30-5:30 Explore the National Museum of African Art  http://Africa.si.edu Gallery Activities with Deborah Stokes  
 

Day 3: Thursday, 10:00 am – 5:30 pm 
Session I: July 11th Session II: July 25th  

Morning: Explore the National Museum of Women in the Arts 
http://www.nmwa.org including New York Avenue Sculpture 
Project with Deborah Gaston, Anna Allegro & Elizabeth Keaney 

Morning: Explore National Building Museum www.nbm.org  
Use drawing and the design process to explore architecture with 
Lara Finder & Mary Hendrickse 

Afternoon: Explore The Phillips Collection 
http://www.phillipscollection.org/   Conversations in Art with Paul 
Ruther & Margaret Collerd 

Afternoon: Explore the Corcoran Gallery of Art 
www.corcoran.org    Discover the “Poetics of Place” and more 
with Linda Powell & Jocelyn Kho 

 
Day 4: Friday, 10:00 am – 6:30 pm 
All Day: Donald W. Reynolds Center for American Art and Portraiture http://americanart.si.edu/reynolds_center/ 
   Explore the Smithsonian American Art Museum http://americanart.si.edu/ with Suzannah Niepold    
 Independent Sketching Activity in the Luce Center for American Art http://americanart.si.edu/luce/ an innovative study 

center and visible storage facility that displays around 3,300 works from the collections of American Art Museum. 
   Explore the National Portrait Gallery http://www.npg.si.edu with Briana Zavadil White. Engage in Reading Portraiture 

using the permanent collection including The Struggle for Justice 
4:00-6:00 PM: SummerVision DC 2013 “New Eyes” Activity followed by SVDC 2013 Reception/Celebration in the Courtyard Cafe!  

 

Register Online: http://www.arteducators.org/learning/naea-summervision-dc 
 

Special thanks to all of our hosting museums & donors to the SummerVision DC 2013 Portable Studios: 
 

                          

 

The only real voyage of discovery consists not in seeking new landscapes but in having new eyes.  

--Marcel Proust 
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A    B   E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 2000/2 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA COOPERATIVE PARTNERSHIPS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
All Association programs, services and activities clearly advance the NAEA mission. Further, the NAEA 
Board has set an ambitious agenda for activities identified within the Strategic Plan that specifically 
address the achievement of strategic goals. NAEA Policy states:  
 

PART II, SECTION A.  GENERAL POLICY STATEMENTS 
 

10.   Cooperative Agreements 
 

Policy Statement: 
 

General Statement on Cooperative Agreements 

The Executive Director is authorized to enter into cooperative agreements with other 

associations, organizations, institutions, or other agencies that support NAEA’s mission to 

advance visual arts education. The Executive Director will keep the NAEA Board, including the 

officers and executive committee, apprised of the development and implementation of all 

cooperative agreements on an ongoing basis.  

[Adopted 2011] 

 

To that end, NAEA maintains relationships with the following cooperative partners: 
 
Alliance for Young Artists & Writers – Scholastic Art and Writing Awards 
American Alliance for Theatre and Education  
American Association of School Administrators  
Americans for the Arts – Arts Advocacy Fund  
Art21  
Arts Education Partnership  
Artsonia  
Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development  
Blick Art Materials 
College Art Association  
The College Board  
Crayola 
Digication  
The Dream at 50 Project 
Educational Theatre Association 
Film Odyssey  
Industrial Designers Society of America  
International Child Art Foundation  
The Kennedy Center 
MacNeil/Lehrer Productions & the News 
National Art Materials Trade Association 
National Association for Elementary School Principals 
National Association for Music Education 
National Association for Secondary School Principals 
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National Dance Education Association 
National School Boards Association 
Nintendo 
No Name-Calling Week (GLSEN) 
Odyssey Media, WhistlertheMovie 
President’s Council on the Arts and Humanities 
Professionals Abroad 
State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education  
United States Department of Education 
United Voices for Education  
WETA/PBS and the Annenberg Foundation 
Youth Art Month 
Young Audiences 
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    B    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 2000/3 
 
 
ITEM:  ALLIANCE FOR YOUNG ARTISTS & WRITERS MEMORANDUM OF 
   UNDERSTANDING 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The six year cooperative partnership between the Alliance for Young Artists and Writers and NAEA 
continues to grow and position NAEA prominently among art educators as well as other educators and 
those interested in arts education.   
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C    D      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 3000/1 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA RESEARCH COMMISSION UPDATE 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

NAEA Research Commission 
Report for December 2012 NAEA Board Meeting 

 
November 14, 2012 
TO:  NAEA Board of Directors 
FROM:  John Howell White, Chair, on behalf of the NAEA Research Commission 
 
Mission Statement (from Task Force Report) (Adopted October 18, 2012) 
The NAEA Research Commission contributes to a global network of knowledge about art education that 
advances the NAEA Mission and Strategic Plan, impacts student learning and teacher practice in P-16 
schools and in art museums and communities, exercises leadership in art education research that 
encourages NAEA members and the broader education community to understand, utilize, and value 
research, and connects research, practice, advocacy, and policy through its programs, and services. 
 
Vision Statement (from Task Force Report) (Adopted October 18, 2012) 
Teaching and learning in the visual arts in P-16 classrooms, art museums, and community programs are 
strengthened through knowledge gained through research. The National Art Education Association is a 
respected leader in educational research and the hub of a global research knowledge network. The 
NAEA Research Commission promotes a variety of research methods at every level of NAEA 
membership that demonstrates how art education fulfills human potential and promotes global 
understanding. The NAEA Research Commission establishes research priorities, coordinates working 
groups to encourage sound ethical research, identifies sources of funding for research, serves as an 
advisor for philanthropic organizations considering funding visual arts research, facilitates research 
partnerships, aids in the dissemination of research information and findings, undertakes professional 
development for research initiatives, contributes to leadership development in the area of research, 
encourages the use of research to influence education policy, and advocates for a vibrant research 
culture within NAEA and in the field of education. 
 
1. Meetings 
The NAEA Research Commission met by conference call on the following dates during this time period. 
These are 90 minute meetings. 

●  Wednesday, July 11, 2012   ●  Thursday, September 27, 2012 
●  Wednesday, August 8, 2012  ●  Thursday, October 18, 2012 
●  Thursday, August 23, 2012  ●  Thursday, November 8, 2012 
●  Thursday, September 13, 2012 ●  Thursday, November 29 , 2012 

 
2. Motions Adopted August -October 2012 
The Research Commission developed and adopted a set of strategic goals in August and a Research 
Vision Statement in September. The Strategic Goals align with the Goals of NAEA’s Strategic Plan. The 
Research Vision Statement is meant to have more detail and depth than the overall Vision Statement for 
the Commission. The Research Commission formally adopted the Mission Statement and the Vision 
Statement from the Task Force Report (see above) during its October 18 meeting.  
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Research Commission Strategic Goals (Adopted, August 8, 2012) 

1. Community: 
The Research Commission contributes to a global network of knowledge about art education and 
supports diverse communities in using research to improve practice, advocacy, and policy. 
 
2. Advocacy: 
The Research Commission advocates for a vibrant research culture that produces and disseminates 
research that informs art education practice, theory, and policy. 
 
3. Learning: 
The Research Commission helps members develop skills and understandings as researchers and use 
research to improve their professional practice. 
 
4. Research and Knowledge: 
The Research Commission coordinates and facilitates programs, policies, and practices that demonstrate 
how teaching and learning visual arts in P-16 classrooms, art museums, community programs, and other 
educational settings are strengthened through knowledge gained from research. 
 
5. Organizational Vibrancy: 
The Research Commission utilizes systems and structures within the NAEA to promote a culture of 
research and leadership to advance the NAEA’s mission and strategic plan. 
 
Research Vision Statement 
Curiosity and the impulse to explore and understand the complex world we inhabit motivate the search for 
new knowledge. Systematic and imaginative inquiries inspire reflection, raise questions, confront issues, 
and investigate problems–these are processes of research. To make sense of changing cultures, 
societies and settings, researchers devise, adopt, and adapt methods and technologies to create new 
knowledge that improves our understanding of human experience. Outcomes of research can yield new 
insights and awareness. When communicated widely, these outcomes offer individuals and communities 
new opportunities, ideas, and possibilities for enacting change. 
 
Visual arts and design are distinctive forms of experience and knowledge that can deepen our 
understanding of the changing world. Art education enables individuals to integrate experience and 
knowledge into meaningful forms of knowing by using media and methods to create new understandings. 
The media of art include a diverse array of texts, images, objects, events, and technologies that comprise 
the form and content of the field. The methods of art include creative and critical approaches to inquiry 
and reflection that bring art to diverse audiences. 
 
Art education researchers use the processes and practices of art and, multiple modes of inquiry, within 
diverse contexts, to respond to important issues and problems. By adapting approaches to research from 
other fields, and utilizing new means for gathering and analyzing data through social media and other 
technologies, different ways of doing art education research are emerging. 
 
Art education research brings theory and practice into a purposeful relationship when the knowledge 
gained is accessible to practitioners, researchers, parents, administrators, community members, and 
other interested stakeholders. The outcomes of research take many forms and, like data, remain inert 
until acted upon. Information generated by systematic research informs and improves professional 
practice, theory, advocacy, and policy when it is applied individually and collaboratively to meet personal 
and public needs. Art education research therefore is a participatory practice that continues to reveal new 
insights, embrace a culture of research, and develop a community of research practitioners. 
(Adopted September 13, 2012) 
 
3. Summary of Projects Undertaken July – November 2012 
As the Research Commission has undertaken its foundational work, we are considering institutional 
communication, professional development, and research structures. The Research Commission has been 
working since the retreat to develop and begin to implement initial infrastructure and communications 
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systems for the Commission. The NAEA Research Commission has focused its meeting discussions on 
the following topical areas during the timeframe from July - November 2012: 
 
a) Review of Feedback from the Vice Presidents gathered during the Summer Leadership Meetings.  
The Commissioners reviewed the feedback to the following questions, gathered by the Vice Presidents: 

1. What structures might the regions put into place that would facilitate communication with the 
Research Commission? 

2. What opportunities for professional development around research would be most useful for state, 
regional leaders and members? 

3. How might the Research Commission best inform state and regional members about 
opportunities for engaging in research initiatives? 

 
Following the receipt of replies from the VP retreat, the four VP liaisons (Kelly Berwager, Chris Grodoski, 
Diane Scully, and Melody Milbrandt) compiled the responses into a single document from which the 
commissioners will draft an action plan, which will be developed after other constituency groups have 
been contacted and provided with access to the commission. (Attachment 1).  
 
b) MicroSite Architecture.  
A subcommittee of Commissioners, led by Doug Blandy includes Mary Hafeli, Diane Scully, and John 
White, has been working with Linda Scott to develop the brand image and organization of the Research 
Commission’s website. (Attachment 2).  
 
Teams of two Commissioners each are going to manage areas of the website including: Findings & 
Resources, Publications, Initiatives & Collaborations; Opportunities; Testimonials; Commission; Cafe. The 
initial Information describing each area which will be posted with the launch of the website is currently 
being drafted. It is anticipated that the Research Commission’s area of the website will be launched in 
time for the NAEA Convention in Fort Worth.  
 
The working document for the MicroSite is provided as an attachment to this report.  
 
c) Outreach by Commissioners to NAEA Contact Liaisons (Attachment 3) 
As previously reported, each Commissioner identified internal groups and areas within NAEA that they 
would serve as the contact liaison between the Research Commission and that area (divisions and issues 
groups for example). This fall, the Commissioners began this process, and many are planning to attend 
as many of the business meetings in Fort Worth as schedules permit. We need to learn more about how 
they function to determine the best ways to work with them. These are some of the questions that are 
starting this dialogue: 

1. How is your group organized to facilitate communication? 
2. How is professional development supported within the group?  Where do the research interests of 

your members lie? 
3. How might the Research Commission speak with you as a group?  

 
4. Next Steps 
The next items on the agenda include: 
a) Continued development toward launch of Research Commission MicroSite.  
b) Development of Protocols for Research Initiatives. This include how to respond to inquiries, including 
research concerns, requests for information to be distributed, including but not limited to: 

o Commission Generated Initiatives 
o Member Generated Initiatives 
o Group Generated initiatives 
o Commission Endorsed initiatives 

c) Further Development of National Convention Sessions (these have been scheduled) as follows: 
 
NAEA Research Commission: Progress Report and Discussion 
Friday, March 8 from 2:00 – 3:25 p.m. 
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The NAEA Research Commission will provide an up to date overview of the Commission's work on the 
development of goals, policies and procedures, and a research agenda. This will be followed with an 
open discussion with the NAEA membership. Open to all members. 
Presenter(s): John Howell White, Chair; Graeme Sullivan, Associate Chair; Members of Research 
Commission       
 
Speed Dating with The Research Commission 
Saturday, March 9 from 3:00 – 4:25 p.m. 
The NAEA Research Commission will provide a forum for brief presentation of research ideas. 
Presenter(s): John Howell White, Chair; Graeme Sullivan, Associate Chair; Mary Hafeli, At-Large 
Commissioner 
 
Commission Meeting 
Sunday, March 10 from 8:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 
The NAEA Research Commission will meet to review feedback from the conference, set the agenda for 
the next year, and review objectives.  
 
Attachments: 
Commission Synthesis of V.P. Leadership retreat responses (Attachment 1) 
Research Commission MicroSite (Sample 2) (Attachment 2) 
Commissioners / NAEA Groups Liaisons (Attachment 3) 
NAEA Research Commission Retreat Report (Attachment 4) 
 
NAEA Research Commission 
John Howell White, Chair, (Pennsylvania) 
Graeme Sullivan, Associate Chair, (Pennsylvania) 
Kelly Berwager, Commissioner, Elementary (Alabama) 
Chris Grodoski, Commissioner, Middle (Illinois) 
Diane Scully, Commissioner, Secondary (Minnesota) 
Melody Milbrandt, Commissioner, Higher Education (Georgia) 
Randi Korn, Commissioner, Museum (Virginia) 
Ralph Caouette, Commissioner, Administration/Supervision (Massachusetts) 
Doug Blandy, Commissioner, At-Large (Oregon) 
Mary Hafeli, Commissioner, At-Large (New York) 
Enid Zimmerman, Commissioner, At-Large (Indiana) 
Mary Ann Stankiewicz, Ex-Officio, Representing the National Art Education Foundation (NAEF) 
Kathi R. Levin, (Virginia), consultant  
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May 18, 2012 
 
Dear Vice Presidents and VP Elects,  
 
The Research Commission has been working since the 2012 Conference to develop our cohesiveness as 
a group and to develop an agenda for the next few years. I am pleased to say that work has been going 
well. At the end of June we will be having a retreat when we anticipate that our objectives will be 
converted into an action plan.  
 
We have developed three primary objectives: 1) to survey the existing structure of NAEA and other 
research organizations to align the research components, enhance mutual support, and identify areas for 
development; 2) to focus on a central research topic (Assessment), 3) to use that research topic to 
develop research processes and protocols to support community and professional development.  
 
As the RC begins its foundational work, we are considering institutional communication, professional 
development, and research structures. As you move toward finalizing your plans for the NAEA Regional 
Leadership Conferences, please consider devoting some time to these questions: 
  

 What structures might the regions put into place that would facilitate communication with the 

Research Commission?  

 What opportunities for professional development around research would be most useful for state, 

regional leaders and members?  

 How might the research commission best inform state and regional members about opportunities 

for engaging in research initiatives? 

 
Please let me know if you have any questions about this request. I’m looking forward to this first year of 
the Commission and to working with you to insure its success.  
 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 
 
John Howell White, Chair, NAEA Research Commission 
 
 

cc:  Bob Sabol 
 Deborah Reeve 
 Dennis Inhulsen 
 Graeme Sullivan 
 Kathi Levin 
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Summary of Responses from Regional VP’s to Three Questions 

 
The following report summarizes the responses from the regional VPs regarding the three survey 
questions asked by the Research Commission Chair. Many of the same topics were identified across 
regions and across questions. These themes were condensed into general response statements and sub-
topics. The condensed, summarized responses to each question are:  
 
Q1: What structures might the regions put into place that would facilitate communication with the 
Research Commission? 
 
Summary of majority responses: More frequent use of traditional NAEA structures, such as 
communication through the Regional VP’s, Regional Division-Directors, and State Presidents was 
suggested, as well as constructing new structures of communication through technology. There was an 
emphasis on reaching the state level leadership and members. In that regard the establishment of state 
level Research Chair positions on state Executive Boards and/or establishing a position at the regional 
level was advocated. Generally for larger state memberships a state-level position seemed to be 
preferable. States with smaller memberships might benefit from access a regional research 
representative. 
 
Q2: What opportunities for professional development around research would be most useful for state, 
regional leaders and members? 
 
Summary of majority responses: The use of established delivery systems for professional development, 
such as summer regional workshops, longer convention PD research sessions, etc. coupled with the 
development of real-time interactive systems of instruction through technology, such as Skype and 
Webinars, were viewed as potentially beneficial. Constructing technological tools like videotapes and pod-
casts were also suggested as potential professional development opportunities. Understanding and 
building the capacity to conduct and use research, as well as developing clarity in understanding how to 
conduct student assessment and evaluation were of general interest. Developing methods for gathering 
data, demonstrating student growth, and reporting results to administrators were other professional 
development topics deemed useful. In all cases the need for accessible professional development with 
practical P-12 applications was emphasized.  
 
Q3: How might the research commission best inform state and regional members about opportunities 
for engaging in research initiatives? 
 
Summary of majority responses: The Research Commission should develop clear paths of 
communication through the use of existing conduits such as the Regional VP’s; State Presidents; 
Delegates Assembly; summer retreats; and the NAEA website along with exploring new avenues of 
communication through technology, such as brief and accessible email blasts; links to state’s web-pages; 
Facebook postings; compiling data-bases for research projects; and developing other web 2.0 technology 
dedicated to building communities for research. Skyping with Research Commissioners or Chair at state 
art education board meetings or conferences was also mentioned. Direct access to the Research 
Commission through roundtables or workshops at state conferences was emphasized. There was also an 
emphasis on changing the perception of research from being of interest only to art educators in higher 
education, to the application of research being a part of daily life for all art teachers. To that end when 
research is presented it would be useful to provide examples of the practical applications and usefulness 
of the results. Research findings should be communicated in terms that are friendly to practitioners with 
topics that have implications for daily use such as effective instructional practices and research that 
supports advocacy efforts. Research should be presented in ways that can be readily integrated into the 
professional practices of states and regions. 
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION
Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

THE NAEA Research Commission was o�cially launched at the 2012 NAEA National Convention. The 2011-2014 

NAEA Strategic Plan called for creation of the Commission in order to: “…conduct research and generate knowledge 

that enriches and expands visual arts education and widely share that research and knowledge.” The NAEA Research 

Commission is working to meet the ongoing research needs of the visual arts education �eld. The Commission will 

coordinate, and communicate about research that relates to the needs of practitioners and additional stakeholders 

concerned with understanding critical questions of importance to the �eld and for providing the highest quality of art 

education possible in our schools and educational institutions.
179



National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

Opportunities
Grants 

Calls for papers

Upcoming conferences, 
symposia, and professional 
meetings

Professional associations

Fellowships & scholarships

Job postings
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

Publications
NAEA & A�liate groups 

NAEA publications

Other Journals
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

INITIATIVES &
COLLABORATIONS

Commission sponsored 
projects

NAEF sponsored projects
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

TESTIMONIALS
Invitation 

NAEA members’reports
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

FINDINGS &
RESOURCES

Completed research & 
�ndings

Resources
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

THE COMMISSION
Commission Structure

Commission Charge

Commission Membership

Initiatives
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National Art Education Association

RESEARCH COMMISSION

Opportunities | Publications | Initiatives & Collaborations | Testimonials | Findings & Resources | The Commission

Interactive Cafe

INTERACTIVE CAFE
SubHead

SubHead
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Commissioners’ Contact Liaisons 
 

Commissioner DIVISIONS 
REGIONS 

COMMUNICATIONS NAEA GROUPS NETWORKING 
OPPORTUNITIES 
 

 
Kelly Berwager 
 

 
ELEMENTARY 

  
Early Childhood 
(ECAE) 
 
Caucus on the 
Spiritual in Art 
Education (CSAE) 

 

 
Chris Grodoski 
 

 
MIDDLE 
 
WESTERN 

   
Public Policy and 
Arts 
Administration 
(PPAA)  
 
 

 
 

 
Diane Scully 
 

 
SECONDARY 
 
PACIFIC 

 
 

 
Student Chapter 
(SC) 
 
Independent 
School Art 
Education (ISAE) 
 

 
National Art Honor 
Society (NAHS) 

 
Ralph Caouette 
 

 
SUPERVISION 
 
EASTERN 

 
 

 
National 
Association of 
State Directors of 
Art Education 
(NASDAE) 
 
Design Issues 
Group – (DIG) 

 
National Association 
of Secondary School 
Principals (NASSP) 
 
Association for 
Supervision and 
Curriculum 
Development (ASCD) 

 
Melody 
Milbrandt 
 

 
HIGHER ED 
 
SOUTHEASTERN 

 
ADVISORY 

 
Art Education 
Technology  
(AET) 
 
US Society for 
Education through 
Art (USSEA) 
 
Urban Arts 
Education Issues 
Group*  
Not sure this 
exists 

 
National Council for 
the Accreditation of 
Teacher Education 
(NCATE) 

 
Randi Korn 
 

 
MUSEUM ED 

  
Committee on 
Lifelong Learning 
– (LLL) 
 
 

 
American Association 
of Museum Directors 
–(AAMD) 
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Retired Art 
Educators (RAE) 

Visitors Studies 
Association (VSA) 
 
American Association 
of Museums (AAM) 
 

 
Doug Blandy 
 

 
 

 
STUDIES BOARD 
 
 

 
Special Needs in 
Art Education 
(SNAE) 
 
Caucus on Social 
Theory and Art 
Education 
(CSTAE) 
 
Community Arts 
Caucus (CAC)  
 

 
American Folklore 
Society 

 
Mary Hafeli 
 

  
ART EDUCATION 
BOARD 
 

 
Seminar for 
Research in Art 
Education (SRAE) 
 
Lesbian Gay 
Bisexual 
Transgendered 
(LGBTIC) 
 

 
International Council 
of Fine Arts Deans –
(ICFAD) 
 
National Association 
of Schools of Art and 
Design  (NASAD)  
 

 
Enid 
Zimmerman 
 

  
TRANSLATIONS 
 

 
NAEA 
Distinguished 
Fellows 
 
Committee on 
Multiethnic 
Concerns 
(COMC) 
 
Women’s Caucus 
(WC) 

 
International Society 
for Education through 
Art (INSEA) 
 

 
Mary Ann 
Stankiewicz 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 

 
National Art 
Education 
Foundations 
(NAEF)  
 

 
Graeme 
Sullivan 
 

 
DELEGATES 
ASSEMBLY 

 
Professional 
Materials Committee 

 
 

 
College Art 
Association (CAA) 
 
American 
Educational 
Research 
Association  (AERA) 
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John Howell 
White 
 

 
BOARD 

 
NAEA NEWS 
 

  
 

 
 
Future 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   National Endowment 
for the Arts 
 
Department of 
Education 
 
Americans for the 
Arts 
 
Art Education 
Partnership 
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Operating Context for the NAEA Research Commission 2012-2013 
 
Summary of the Retreat 
Retreat Goals 

 Commission Identity Development 
o Identify Commissioners’ Portfolios in the areas of Community, Professional Development, 

and Research: 
 What kind of constituent groups within NAEA are you interested in being the 

liaison with?  (Community) 
 What types of Professional Development are you most interested in? 

Conferences? Web? Summer Leadership Meetings? (Professional Development) 
 What areas of research and what research activities around assessment, in 

particular of the moment, are you interested in? (Research) 

 Understanding of Visual Arts Education research stakeholders 

 Envisioning potential for developing NAEA as a Research Community 
 
Retreat Objectives – Moving Toward an Action Plan 

 Identify shared research goals of NAEA and other arts organizations (completed for NAEA Goals 
– See attachment) 

 Development recommendations for NAEF regarding potential priorities for NAEF Research 
Grants Program for 2012-2013 proposals (completed) 

 Develop 2013 National Convention Sessions (started) 

 Mapping of practices, possibilities and impediments for Research Stakeholders (started) 
o Mapping WHO: NAEA and its present and potential research capacities and availabilities 
o Mapping WHAT: Research initiatives and questions of art education (history and present) 
o Mapping HOW: Research conducted to address fundamental questions (methods) 

 Development of Protocols for Communication (not done; started with request for input at Summer 
Leadership Meetings – see memo attached) 

 Identify Commissioners’ Portfolios (Topics of Interest, Research Interests, and Liaison for 
Internal/External Constituencies) (started; working on finalizing assignments) 

 
Current Priorities 
Consult and Advise: Rethinking NAEA’s research identity; Reporting up and down within NAEA including 
who (NAEA Governance Structures; members; practitioners; NAEF) and how (NAEA News, website, 
convention, regional meetings, publications, Delegates Assembly) 
 
Communications: Developing systems for communicating with constituencies; Roles of individual 
Commissioners in serving as liaisons to segments of NAEA Membership (Divisions; Regions; Issues 
Groups and other entities, i.e. Distinguished Fellows); Protocols for considering questions from the field;  
Protocols for Disseminating Research, including Advocacy and Policy implications; Bridging the gap 
between Research and Practice.  
 
Review and Synthesize:  Survey of the field including methods and data 
 
Professional Development: Creating incentives, Identifying Forums including Conference Proposals; 
Symposium or Pre-Conferences; Identifying topics for professional development (i.e. IRB, processes and 
procedures; methodologies; how to use research; practitioners conducting action research) 
 
Strategic Development and Partnerships: External Alliances including building partnerships and 
relationships with government, associations, philanthropic organizations; positioning the field in relation to 
other fields; funding.  
 
Targeted Research: Identifying and Developing a Research Agenda; Identifying models for NAEA 
Research System and Conclusions; Identifying projects for new research projects (i.e. assessment) 
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Within the area of assessment, there has been extensive discussion about utilizing this topic to create 
a model of how the Research Commission might approach a topic and explore it through the full range of 
protocols the Commission is developing in all areas including communications, professional development, 
and targeted research. This model involves: 

i. Defining the scope, i.e. defining what the Research Commission is going to do relative to the 
topic and how to approach it;  

ii. Survey of prior work;  
iii. Existing practice as possibilities for research;  
iv. Identifying what’s not being done and how to address this, including cultivating multiple methods 

of research;  
v. Creating a Framework and systems for communicating outcomes;  
vi. Grant writing and proposal development.  

The consideration of implementing this type of model is underway.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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  C    D    E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 3000/2 
 
 
ITEM:  NATIONAL COALITION FOR CORE ARTS STANDARDS (NCCAS) 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Deborah Reeve, Bob Sabol, and Kathi Levin represent NAEA as members of NCCAS Leadership; Dennis 
Inhulsen Chairs the Visual Arts Writing Team. Historical and current information about this work is 
maintained on the project wiki site: http://NCCAS.wikispaces.com 
 
Project Overview 
The National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) was created for the purpose of reviewing and 
the 1994 National Standards for Arts Education with the intent of creating the next generation of Core Art 
Standards. The Coalition includes the professional art education associations, who convene writing teams 
to update the standards in their discipline areas (dance, music, theater, visual arts), along with the Arts 
Education Partnership, the College Board, and SEADAE. SEADAE, the association of State Education 
Agency Directors of Art Education, are managing the process. NCCAS governing organizations are: 

 American Alliance for Theatre and Education (AATE) 

 Arts Education Partnership (AEP) 

 Educational Theatre Association (EdTA) 

 The College Board  

 The National Association for Music Education (NAfME, formerly MENC) 

 National Art Education Association (NAEA) 

 National Dance Education Organization (NDEO) 

 State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education (SEADAE) 
 

Timeline: NCCAS originally planned to complete its work in December 2012. The process includes 
vetting the draft of the updated standards for online review.  The time line has been adjusted to reflect the 
time needed by the discipline writing teams to complete the draft.  
 
The Visual Arts Writing Team has met by Conference Call seven times from July 17 through November 7 
with additional meetings scheduled from November 28 through December 19. In addition, the Visual Arts 
Writing Team divided into three subcommittees to break down the work: Creating, Presenting, 
Responding. These subcommittees have been meeting independently to develop and draft the three 
sections of the work.  
 
**July 17, 31,  Visual Arts Writing Team Conference Calls (90 minutes – 2 hours each) 
August 29,   The following items highlights the work underway during this time  
September 19,  
October 10, 24,  1. Drafting and Review of the work of Visual Arts Team Subcommittees: 
November 7  ● Creating – 1

st
 Draft of Standards Pre-K through High School 

Also scheduled:  ● Presenting – 1
st
 Draft of Standards Pre-K through Grade 8 

November 28,  ● Responding – 1
st
 Draft of Standards Pre-K through Grade 8 (scheduled  

December 5, 19 for review in December 2012)  
 
 After 1

st
 draft reviews, the subcommittees have been reviewing feedback from 

the members of the full Writing Team and working on 2
nd

 drafts.  
 

2. Developed Definition of Presenting  
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3. Discussion of High School Standards, including use of course codes and 
development of Standards aligned with them as well as more general Standards 
for High School (reflects options under discussion for how to present high school 
by years of study and/or by levels of accomplishment..  

**New items added for this report.  
 
Updated NCCAS Timeline: 
February 2012 – November 2012 ● Writing Teams Develop First Draft of Updated Standards 
June 2012    ● Face to face writing team meetings. 
September 2012   ● Writing team chairs meet face to face for inter-team sharing  
     of work.  
January 2013    ● Face to Face writing team meetings. 
     ● Example Cornerstone Assessment Tasks ready to pilot.  
March 2013    ● Substantive portions of the standards in draft form ready for  
     review.  
April 2013    ● Reviewers’ comments compiled and shared with writing  
     teams.  
May 2013    ● Writing teams refine work and continue developing  
     cornerstone assessments for second pilot.  
June – August 2013   ● Writing teams meet face to face to review results of 
     Cornerstone assessment task pilots. Standards are transferred  
     to web based relational database. 
September 2013   ● Initiate phase 2 pilot, continue collecting student work,  
     refining assessment and setting benchmarks. Continue  
     website development as needed.  
 
The  1994 National Standards for Arts Education have been adopted or adapted by forty-nine state 
departments of education, and have become the benchmark document by which K-12 arts learning is 
measured in dance, music, theatre, and visual arts. Curriculum designers, teacher training programs, 
funders, and federal and state policy makers have relied on the 1994 national arts standards to help 
guide their decision-making. A SEADAE survey of arts education directors in forty-three state 
departments of education indicated that nineteen of the states planning revision of their arts standards in 
the next two years are willing to postpone that process until the new national arts education standards are 
complete so as to inform their efforts. 
 
NCCAS is committed to developing a next generation of voluntary arts education standards for PreK-14 
that will build on the foundation created by the 1994 document, support the 21st-century needs of 
students and teachers, help ensure that all students are college and career ready, and affirm the place of 
arts education in a balanced core curriculum.  The primary goal of NCCAS is to 
help classroom educators to better implement and assess standards-based arts instruction in their 
schools. Toward that goal, the revised arts standards will address 21st-century skills, guide the 
preparation of next-generation of arts educators, and embrace new technology, pedagogy, and changing 
modes of learning. Digital and Media Arts will be addressed in the new standards document.  
 
Major Project Developments, June 22 – November 14, 2012 
 
1.  Revision of the Overarching Standards Framework 
The original draft of the Standards Framework was adopted by the NCCAS Leadership on Monday, 
February 6.  The Framing 2 Committee was formed to resolve issues and recommend to NCCAS 
Leadership a revised Overarching Standards Framework.  Kathi Levin represents NAEA on this 
committee. The committee has continued to meet. Based on the revisions made during the meeting of the 
chairs in New York City in September 8 and 9, the Framing 2 Committee presented a final draft to 
NCCAS Leadership and the SEADAE members during the in-person meetings in Reston, October 2.  
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Current Status: A revised Framework is still being developed. There is agreement on the revised 
framework with a final decision to be made on how to represent high school by either grade levels or 
development levels. This is anticipated to be resolved by January 2013.  When adopted, the revised 
framework will be posted on the wikisite.  
 
2.  In person meetings, NCCAS Leadership Team: 

 October 1-2, 2012, in Reston, VA. NAEA Participants: Deborah Reeve, Bob Sabol, Dennis 
Inhulsen, Kathi Levin.  

 
Additional Phone and/or In Person Meetings: 
Monthly Meetings convened by conference call each month: July 18 (Bob and Kathi), September 25 
(Deborah and Bob); November 13 (Kathi).  
 
Friday afternoon meetings: These are informal meetings as needed; two Friday afternoons per month. 
(Bob Sabol, Dennis Inhulsen, Deborah Reeve, and Kathi Levin have all participated in these meetings 
during this time period.) 
 
Writing Team Chair Meetings: The Writing Team Chairs met in person September 8 and 9 in New York 
City. Dennis Inhulsen attended these meetings.  The Writing Team Chairs had additional extensive 
communication by phone and email. During this timeframe the Chairs shared draft documents to 
determine alignment in grain size across the five discipline standards’ documents.  
 
Framing 2 Committee: Working to resolve issues within the Standards Framework. There were six phone 
meetings between July 16 and November 2. Kathi Levin has represented NAEA on this committee, which 
does not have any of the writing team chairs serve on it.  
 
Development Committee: Working to identify funding possibilities for the work. Kathi Levin has 
represented NAEA on this committee. 
 

 January 17-21, 2013, for all writing teams and NCCAS Leadership. This is planned pending 
funding. As of the monthly meeting on November 13, this will take place in New York City. 

 
3. Press Releases 
The following press release was issued by NCCAS during this timeframe: 

 NCCAS releases media arts position paper and work updates (released October 10, 2012) 
The National Coalition for Core Arts Standards has agreed to support the writing of national, voluntary 
media arts standards as part of the Next Generation Arts Standards Project. 
 
The National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) has released a position paper outlining a 
rationale and strategy for the creation of preK-12 media art standards. NCCAS, a partnership of 
organizations and states leading the revision of the 1994 National Standards for Arts Education, formally 
released The Inclusion of Media Arts in Next Generation Arts Standards at a coalition meeting in Reston, 
Virginia, October 2-3. This document provides guidance for meeting the needs of students using new 
forms related to media arts as a contemporary form of expression.  
 
Refer to the Wiki link above for copies of these documents http://NCCAS.wikispaces.com 
 
4. Development of Website 
The Standards when completed will be housed in a website. Work is well underway in developing this 
website, including the ways in which the material will be searchable and able to be downloaded. The 
Writing Team Chairs and the Framing 2 Committee have each had some involvement with the 
development of the website structure. This work is being developed by a consultant, Jamie Kasper, from 
Pennsylvania who is a former SEADAE member, along with Young Audiences (national office). 
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5. Review of Drafts 
NCCAS’s updated timeline calls for the draft review process to begin in March, 2013. The first tier of 
review team members will be chosen from the more than 460 individuals who had applied to become 
writing team members in 2011; an additional call for reviewers will take place in early spring. All team 
members will participate in an online orientation session to prepare them for the review work. Anyone 
who was not a writing team applicant but interested in serving as a reviewer should check the NCCAS 
wiki page for details beginning in February, 2013.  
 
6. National Advisory Council 
The NCCAS Leadership is working to develop, invite, and convene a National Advisory Council for the 
project, including leaders from the education, arts, and funding sectors.  
 
7. Fundraising 
Two proposals were submitted for funding this summer, including the U.S. Department of Education (not 
funded – there was a significant reduction in funds available through the national program, and a 
maximum of two grantees was stated in the RFP; all funds awarded to the Kennedy Center for its national 
outreach again this year, which was the original priority within this funding category) and the National 
Endowment for the Arts to support the National Advisory Council and the involvement of professional 
artists in the review process (decision not available yet). Each of the professional discipline associations 
was asked to identify an artist for the NEA grant, which would be implemented in June 2013. NAEA 
identified Native American artist Jaune Quick-to-See Smith to participate pending funding. Additional 
fundraising efforts continue to be underway, with the associations and state departments of education 
supporting the work, enabling ongoing funding for the project director, Phil Shepherd.  
 
Visual Arts Writing Team Members and Alternates 
The following individuals were confirmed and appointed to the Visual Arts Writing Team: 

 Kristine Alexander, The California Arts Project, California State University, San Bernardino, 
California 

 September Buys, Greenville Middle School, Grand Rapids, Michigan 

 Susan J. Gabbard, Oklahoma City Public Schools, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 

 Olivia Gude, University of Illinois at Chicago, School of Art and Design, Chicago, Illinois 

 Debra Hannu, Duluth Public Schools, Duluth, Minnesota 

 Elizabeth (Betsy) Logan, Auburn Junior High School, Auburn, Alabama 

 Vanessa Lopez, Baltimore City Public Schools, Baltimore, Maryland 

 Cheryl Maney, Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools, Concord, North Carolina 

 Scott Russell, Loudoun County Public Schools, Leesburg, Virginia 

 Marilyn Stewart, Kutztown University of Pennsylvania, Department of Art Education and Crafts, 
Kutztown, Pennsylvania 

 Joyce Huser, Kansas, Kansas State Department of Education, Topeka, Kansas 
 
Visual Arts Writing Team Alternates: 
Kim Huyler Defibaugh, Toms River Regional Schools, Forked River, New Jersey 
Diane Scully, Columbia Heights School District, Columbia Heights, Minnesota.   
All Writing Team members and all NCCAS Leadership Team members have signed a confidentiality 
agreement.  
 
Several sessions are being planned for the Ft Worth Convention to further inform NAEA members about 
both progress and implications the next generation of standards will have for teaching and learning in the 
visual arts. 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
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   C    D      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 3000/3 
 
 
ITEM:  POSITION PAPER ON MEDIA ARTS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
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Introduction & Background 
 
The National Coalition for Core Arts Standards (NCCAS) has  
agreed to support the writing of national, voluntary media arts  
standards as part of the Next Generation Arts Standards Project.  
Recognizing the growing interest in and diversity of media arts  
as a new mode of expression within public education, NCCAS  
formed a team of media arts writers and leadership. NCCAS  
leadership is relying on the media arts writing team to create a  
set of standards that will be equal in rigor, breadth, and depth  
to those of dance, music, theatre, and visual arts, while simulta- 
neously acknowledging that media arts can be embedded within  
each of the traditional forms as an enrichment for knowing and  
understanding.  Currently, media arts standards are included in  
the state standards of Minnesota and South Carolina, and in the  
district standards of New York City and Los Angeles. The  
writing team will use the research report, A Review of Selected  
State Arts Standards, to help guide them in their work. The  
report, one of five created in support of the project by NCCAS  
member, the College Board, is available as a PDF at                                                  
http://nccas.wikispaces.com 

 
In order to ground the effort to write standards for media arts,  
the NCCAS Leadership team formed a Media Arts Investigation  
Committee comprised of internal and external participants. Its  
primary charge was to explore the range, scope and capacities of  
media arts within public education and deliver a report of its  
findings to the NCCAS Leadership (see APPENDIX I). 
 
Since the early 70’s, the growing interest and use of technology  
in classroom instruction has gained even more momentum as a  
wide spectrum of creative activity in media arts has taken the  
education scene by storm. Some of the primary purposes for  
developing media arts standards are as follows: 
 

• Making meaning; promoting relevance 
• Creativity and imagination 
• Artistic expression 
• Design capacities 
• Pedagogical integrity  
• Social relevance and vitality 
• Academic achievement 
• Arts & content integrations 
• Technological mastery; intermedia fluency 
• Vocational/entrepreneurial proficiency 
• Convergence literacy; media, information,  

technological, digital, virtual, emerging  
  
 

 

“Our goal is to write media arts 
standards that will fully describe 
expectations for student learning in 
an art form that has the ability to 
serve as the nexus between the arts 
and other subjects in the 
curriculum,”  
Pamela Paulson 
 Perpich Center for Arts Education 
in Minnesota  
 
 “Media Arts plays a pivotal role in 
putting a strong, versatile and 
creative culture at the heart of 
contemporary learning in today’s 
education for young minds, and is 
beautifully positioned to make 
artistic meaning in bold new ways 
on behalf of the arts.” 
Richard W. Burrows 
NCCAS Media Arts Leadership 
 
 “This is a visionary and forward 
thinking path for arts education. 
Artists who get technology, 
technologists who get art, managers 
who are creative and creatives who 
can manage are our future. Fail to 
include the full spectrum of skills, 
fail to treat media arts education as 
anything but a full partner, and get 
ready to find an explanation even a 
child can understand about why the 
rainbow is missing half its colors, 
and one for business people about 
why we are losing jobs to more 
colorful competitors.”. 
Randy Nelson, DreamWorks 
Animation  
 
 “Media arts is relevant to today’s 
students because it reflects our 
contemporary, global culture. It 
provides vehicles for all students to 
find success and enjoyment in 
learning and promotes critical 
thinking processes while engaging, 
real world activities that make the 
content more meaningful.” 
John Huges 
Founder, Rhythm & Hues 

“Our goal is to write media arts 
standards that will fully describe 
expectations for student learning in an 
art form that has the ability to serve as 
the nexus between the arts and other 
subjects in the curriculum,”  
Pamela Paulson 
Perpich Center for Arts Education in 
Minnesota  
 
 “Media Arts plays a pivotal role in 
putting a strong, versatile and creative 
culture at the heart of contemporary 
learning in today’s education for young 
minds, and is beautifully positioned to 
make artistic meaning in bold new 
ways on behalf of the arts.” 
Richard W. Burrows 
NCCAS Media Arts Leadership 
 
 “This is a visionary and forward 
thinking path for arts education. Artists 
who get technology, technologists who 
get art, managers who are creative and 
creatives who can manage are our 
future. Fail to include the full spectrum 
of skills, fail to treat media arts 
education as anything but a full 
partner, and get ready to find an 
explanation even a child can 
understand about why the rainbow is 
missing half its colors, and one for 
business people about why we are 
losing jobs to more colorful 
competitors.”. 
Randy Nelson, DreamWorks Animation  
 
“Media arts products are powerful 
vehicles for learning that are highly 
captivating and influence much of what 
we think and do.” 
Dain Olsen, ArtLab High School, Los 
Angeles, California 
 
 
 “Media arts is relevant to today’s 
students because it reflects our 
contemporary, global culture. It 
provides vehicles for all students to find 
success and enjoyment in learning and 
promotes critical thinking processes 
while engaging, real world activities 
that make the content more 
meaningful.” 
John Hughes 
Founder, Rhythm & Hues 
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While general instructional technology continues at all levels of public education, there are increasingly new 
and vigorous experiences in media arts that include cinema, animation, sound imaging design, virtual design, 
interactive design, as well as multimedia and intermedia. This content may be unfamiliar to the general 
public, but practitioners are already involved in its instruction and students are already engaged by it.  New 
media arts standards will bring focus and coherence to the wide variety of experiences in Pre-K through post-
secondary education, ensuring student access to quality, comprehensive, standards-based media arts learning.  
 
What is Media Arts? 
 
Media arts is well known to us through popular forms of film, television, and digital graphics. Though these 
forms may appear as minor extensions of traditional arts and not worthy of establishing a new discipline, 
further examination reveals purely code-based and hybrid combinations that resist easy categorization. 
Recent developments in virtual design, interactive design, and augmented reality are able to immerse us in 
entirely different realms, where programmed phenomena can significantly alter and even totally replace 
actual experience. We must acknowledge that the traditional arts have less experience in representing or 
developing these very unique forms of aesthetic design. Media arts encompasses a broad range of forms, 
tools, processes, and genres that are sometimes nebulous, evolving, and challenging to clearly delineate, yet 
media arts are recognizable and accessible to both to the novitiate and the expert. 
 
Meanwhile, media arts is quickly becoming common and institutionalized under aesthetic categorizations. 
Post-secondary arts programs, arts organizations, and industries are now regularly incorporating media arts 
strategies. As one contemporary example of the growing interest in and acceptance of media arts, the 
National Endowment for the Arts recently funded game design development, and the market for video game 
design has already superseded film.    
 
In this ever-changing and dynamic discipline, primary categories in media arts now include (for further 
explanation, see APPENDIX II): 
 

• Moving Image – Cinema/Video/Animation – narrative, non-narrative, environmental, experimental 
• Imaging Design – digital process-based imagery, code enhanced (e.g. the image has code embedded 

in it for interactive and adaptive purposes) 
• Sound Design –  digital process-based aural synthesis and engineering 
• Interactive Design –  web, game, sensory-tech, creative code 
• Multimedia and Intermedia – additive and hybridizing mixtures 
• Virtual Design – 3D, 4D, 5D (spatial, animated, non-linear, interactive) environments, structures and 

experiences 
 
In contrast to the corporal elements of the traditional art forms, media arts produces work that can exist 
outside usual physical processes.  Media arts in its many forms can be described as: 
 

• serving a nexus-like, or intermediary position in education; media arts serves students both as a 
stand-alone art form and as a form that can integrate with and connect all the arts and other core 
content disciplines;  

• capable of creating synthetic events and experiences that can be immediate and animated or “live” 
and transferred with exactness in representation;  

• an integrative synthesizer; media arts brings together expansive varieties of content and forms for 
tailored and enhanced presentation across platforms (“transmedia”) and experiences (e.g. 
“augmented reality”); 

• ultimately plastic and available to utter pliability; media arts can be reorganized infinitely 
• inter-dimensional; media arts is immersive, virtual, and interactive and address merging and 

emerging dimensions. 
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Media arts can be viewed as a stand-alone art form with unique characteristics and, like other art forms, 
media arts 1) exists as a means of creative expression, 2) involves composition and creation, and 3) is 
characterized by its own history and cultural development. Within this new delineation, media arts can 
facilitate highly engaging projects that include a very broad range of interdisciplinary activities. For example, 
interactive game design alone includes visual composition, character design, story development, 
environmental design, game theory, spatial and temporal calculations, programming, script-writing, 
psychology, marketing, interactive motion physics, 3D surface rendering, and the content knowledge of a 
historical setting. The promise of media arts education is that its adaptive and integrative aspects can be 
utilized towards both the acquisition of content knowledge and enhanced creativity for students. 
 
Artistic and aesthetic practices in media arts specifically provides students with the ability to discriminate 
and manage higher orders of sensory balance and social harmonics, which will be vital in our technologically 
complex transitions. Outcomes of media arts instruction are global in nature, as media arts unites 
communication, experience, and knowledge across cultures and times. Creating media arts standards is the 
first step in preparing students for academic and career success, cultural awareness, and social development. 
Media arts tools and methods will creatively and socially empower the entire spectrum of students within an 
increasingly media-centered culture that is a primary component of 21st Century learning.  
 
What Should Be Taught in Media Arts?  
 
Media arts is a unique medium of artistic expression that can amplify and integrate the four traditional art 
forms by incorporating the technological advances of the contemporary world with an emerging skill set 
available to students and teachers. Media arts students cultivate both artistic abilities and a technological 
aptitude, and must gain the competencies to identify and orchestrate the properties of a range of distinct and 
hybridizing forms and genres. Students should gain fluencies in the evolving languages of interfaces, 
mediation, codes, and conventions, as well as contingent issues of power, persuasion, and cross-cultural 
collaboration, thus empowering them through critically investigating and utilizing the effects and 
possibilities of various media.  
 
Next Steps 

 
1. The Media Arts Writing Team (See APPENDIX III) completes the media arts standards. 
2. NCCAS Leadership reviews the media arts standards for rigor, breadth and depth and to confirm that 

they are of equal status to the dance, music, theatre and visual arts standards.  
3. The development of secondary course codes consistent with and independent art form as well as an 

imbedded practice within other art forms and across the curriculum. (SEE APPENDIX IV). 
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APPENDIX I:  Media Arts Investigation Committee 
 
A summary of the Media Arts Investigation Committee findings include: 
 

• The ubiquity and cultural force of media in society at large is compelling evidence of the importance 
of media arts in the teaching and learning of students and points to rigorous standards to support this 
burgeoning field. 

• Media arts encompasses a broad range of forms, tools, processes and genres which are sometimes 
nebulous, evolving and challenging to clearly delineate but are recognizable to the novitiate and the 
expert. 

• The elements, principles, and conventions of media arts include those applicable to traditional arts 
disciplines, but also expand the spectrum to include skills that are technologically based, multi-
disciplinary, and multimedia specific.  

• Media arts is a unique medium of artistic expression that can amplify and integrate the four 
traditional art forms by incorporating the technological advances of the contemporary world with 
emerging skill sets available to students and teachers.  Media arts students cultivate both artistic 
abilities and a technological aptitude.  The media artist utilizes a fundamental understanding of the 
mediums of analog and digital media to integrate digital technologies with traditional forms of 
artistic expression. The arts are best positioned to take a leadership role in media arts for the benefit 
of the field and all students’ social and cognitive development.  

• “The challenge is, then, to find ways of adapting and modifying the curriculum and teaching practice 
to meet learners’ growing needs in the emerging digital media context, rather than just to integrate 
new technology and media into the existing curriculum in order to ensure relevance or boost 
standards.” - Cassie Hague and Ben Williamson, Futurelab, From “Digital participation, digital 
literacy, and school subjects, A review of the policies, literature and evidence”. 
 

Media Arts Investigation Members:  
                  
1.  Richard Burrows, Director of Arts Education, Los Angeles Unified School District (retired), Arts, Education & 
Community Strategist, Portland, Oregon, NCCAS Leadership Team   
2.  Ana Cardona, Michigan Department of Education, State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education 
(SEADAE) (retired) 
3.  Rhys Daunic, National Association for Media Literacy Education (NAMLE) Board Member, Director of The 
Media Spot 
4.  Lakita Edwards, National Endowment for the Arts, Arts Education Specialist, media arts  
5.  Amy Jensen, Associate Professor in the College of Fine Arts and Communications, Brigham Young 
University,Theatre and Media Education Program, Board Member, American Alliance for Theatre Ed, NCCAS 
Leadership Team  
6.  Richard Jewell, Michigan Media Educational Institute, Academic Development Director, Michigan Motion 
Picture Studios  
7.  AnnRenee Joseph, Washington Department of Education, SEADAE (retired)   
8.  Lynne Kingsley, Co-chair/Executive Director, American Alliance for Theatre and Education  
9.  Colleen Macklin, Center for Transformative Media, Design Director of PETLab (Prototyping Evaluation, 
Teaching and Learning Lab), Parsons School of Design  
10.  Marcia McCaffrey, Co-chair/State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education, National Expectations for 
Learning in Arts Education 
11.  Nancy Norwood, Perpich Center for the Arts         
12.  Pam Paulson, PhD, Perpich Center for the Arts, Senior Director of Policy, Perpich Center for Arts Education, 
NCCAS Leadership Team   
13.  Erin Reilly, New Media Literacies, Research Director, University of Southern California   
14. Jon Winet, Director, The Digital Studio for the Public Humanities, The University of Iowa    
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APPENDIX II:  Media Arts Limited Glossary – Categories and Terminology 
 
Augmented Reality is an overlay of multimedia information on top of the camera view of a situation. 
 
Convergence (from Henry Jenkins’s Convergence Culture) is the coming together of multiple forms of 
communications and media within digital realms, creating a new configuration or even unification of media. 
 
Embodied is of or pertaining to the body. 
 
Imaging design refers to digital process-based image production, whereby light is captured through cameras, 
processed, and conveyed through computer-based formats. This would include digital photography, 
software-based image manipulation, network distribution and screen presentation. Emerging forms include 
interactive, information embedded, and immersive imagery.  
 
Interactive design is the practice of designing sensorimotor, reactive digital products, environments, 
systems, and services. In addition to already mentioned interactive entries above, it encompasses the 
following: interface design, web design, digital and video game design, creative code, 
programmed/networked art, and emerging forms of reactive and responsive technologies that foster new 
hybrids such as “dance midi” and “motion capture”. 
 
Immersive media texts provide environmental, full-sensory, full-surround experiences. They suspend the 
viewer within a synthetic, altered environment 
 
Intermedia are inter-disciplinary arts that occur between genres, that are unlimited by categories and 
delineations. Media arts examples would include digital installation art, interactive installations, multimedia 
theatre, performance video, musical video sculpture, laptop orchestras, transmedia storytelling, experience 
design, etc. 
 
Mediate refers to being conveyed, experienced, or known through media processes and technologies.  
 
Moving Image - Cinema may refer to chemical-based film, motion pictures or movies, filmmaking, all 
forms of video, and cinema 4D, which is a 3D graphics application. It is a series of still or moving images. It 
is produced by recording photographic images with cameras, or by creating images using animation 
techniques or visual effects. They are made up of a series of individual images called frames or images are 
shown rapidly in succession. The illusion the viewer has that motion is occurring is called “persistence of 
vision.” This form has integrated sound as a primary element and is now commonly 3 dimensional. 
Alternative and emerging forms include the following: video art, video projection backdrops, video 
sculpture, video environments for various entertainment and communal spaces, interactive video, ambient 
video, simulcast video, music video, musical video, and video jockeying  (playing musical samples and 
processes in live, improvisational situations). 
 
Moving Image - Animation is the rapid display of a sequence of images of 2-D or 3-D artwork or model 
positions to create an illusion of movement. It can be created and demonstrated in many ways, such as in a 
motion picture or video program. The vast majority of video advertisements incorporate some form of 
animation. Other common and emerging forms include the following: motion design or motion graphics, 
interactive animation for game graphics, flash rendering of reactive interface design for the web, interactive 
and sound responsive animation, stop-motion, animatics (a still image cinematic form), internet advertising, 
etc. 
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Sound design is digital process-based sound production, whereby sound waves are captured, processed and 
conveyed through computer-based formats. This would include digital recording, software manipulation, 
network distribution, and digital presentation. Sound design is used in a broad range of multimedia. This 
includes emerging forms of sound art and interactive sound hybrids.    
 
Multimedia refers to media and content that is a combination of different media forms. The term can be used 
as a noun (a medium with multiple content forms) or as an adjective describing a medium as having multiple 
content forms. The term is used in contrast to media, which falls within communications and can be purely 
informational and utilitarian in nature. Multimedia includes a combination of text, audio, still images, 
animation, video, or interactive content forms. 
 
Virtual design is 2D - 5D (4D = + movement, 5D = + non-linear, interactive movement) computer based 
design of synthetic forms and surfaces, objects, structures and environments. It is common to the fields of 
industrial design, interior design, landscape design, architecture, set design, experience design, virtual reality, 
and the emerging form of augmented reality, which provides layers of information over one’s actual 
perception of an environment. It is beginning to incorporate new sensory aspects including “haptics”, 
whereby one is tactically connected with virtual environments. The olfactory component is being developed 
as well. 
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APPENDIX III:  NCCAS Media Arts Writing Team Members 
 
     Dain Olsen, Chair, ArtLAB High School, Los Angeles Unified School District 
     Jay Davis, Ambassador School of Global Leadership, Los Angeles Unified School District 
     Steven Goodman, Educational Video Center, New York City 
     Scot Hockman, South Carolina Department of Education, Columbia, South Carolina 
     Jeremy Holien, Perpich Center for Arts Education, Golden Valley, Minnesota 
     Anne Kornfeld, Newcomers High School, Long Island, New York 
     Colleen Macklin, Parsons New School for Design, Brooklyn, New York 
     Bradley Moss, Maple Mountain High School, Springville, Utah 
     Michele Nelson, Los Angeles Unified School District 
     Martin Rayala, Ph.D, Kutztown University of Pennsylvania 
     James Reinhard, North Allegheny Schools, Wexford, Pennsylvania 
     Evan Tobias, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona 
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APPENDIX IV:  Draft NCES Proposed Secondary Media Arts Course Descriptions 
 
Media Arts - Introduction 
An introduction to and survey of the creative and conceptual aspects of designing media arts experiences and 
products, including techniques, genres and styles from various and combined mediums and forms, including 
moving image, sound, interactive, spatial and/or interactive design. Typical course topics include: aesthetic 
meaning, appreciation and analysis; composing, capturing, processing and programming of media arts 
products, experiences and communications; their transmission, distribution and marketing; as well as 
contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and considerations.  
 
Media Arts - Digital Imaging  
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing digital imagery and graphics, including 
techniques, genres and styles from fine arts and commercial advertising, internet and multimedia, web 
design, industrial and virtual design. Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and 
analysis; composing, capturing, processing, and programming of imagery and graphical information; their 
transmission, distribution and marketing; as well as contextual, cultural and historical aspects and 
considerations.  
 
Media Arts - Interactive Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing interactive media arts experiences, products 
and services, including reactive (sensory-based [touch, proximity, movement, etc.] devices) and interactive 
technologies, 3D video game animation, interface design, mobile device applications, web multimedia, social 
media based, augmented, and/or virtual reality. Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, 
appreciation and analysis; construction, development, processing, modeling, simulation and programming of 
interactive experiences; their transmission, distribution and marketing, as well as contextual, cultural and 
historical aspects and considerations.  
  
Media Arts - Interactive Game Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing interactive game experiences and products, 
including reactive (sensory-based [touch, proximity, movement, etc.]) devices and interactive technologies, 
interface design, mobile device applications, web multimedia and/or virtual reality games. Typical course 
topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis; game construction and development; game 
theory and dynamics; processing, modeling, simulation and programming of interactive experiences; their 
transmission, distribution, marketing, as well as contextual, cultural and historical aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts - Web Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing interactive, multimedia web sites and 
experiences, products and services, including information architecture, graphic and interface design and web-
based multimedia. Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis; development, 
construction, and programming of virtual, multimedia and interactive experiences; their applications in 
Internet communications; as well as contextual, cultural and historical aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts – Moving Image  
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing moving images for the variety of cinematic, 
film/video and multimedia presentations including: fictional dramas, documentaries, music videos, artistic 
and experimental presentations and/or installations, interactive, immersive and performance media, etc. 
Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis of moving imagery; all processes 
of development including: pre-production planning and organization, production and post-production 
methods, tools and processes; moving image presentation, transmission, distribution and marketing; as well 
as contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and considerations.   
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Media Arts – Moving Image - Animation 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing animated images for the variety of 
storytelling and multimedia presentations including: dramatic narratives, artistic and experimental 
presentations and/or installations, ambient, interactive, immersive and performance media, etc. Typical 
course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis of animation; all processes of 
development including: composition and rendering, animation physics and expressions; techniques, forms 
and technologies; modeling and programming; pre-production planning and organization; production and 
post-production methods, tools and processes; animation presentation, transmission, distribution and 
marketing; as well as contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts – Digital Sound Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing sound for the variety of multimedia and 
popular musical forms, including: artistic and experimental presentations and/or installations; soundtracks for 
moving image; interactive, immersive and performance media, etc. Typical course topics include: aesthetic 
meaning, appreciation and analysis of sound and music; processes of development including: composition, 
sound physics, programming and synthesis; techniques, forms and technologies; production and post-
production methods, tools and processes; sound performance and presentation, transmission, distribution and 
marketing; as well as contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts - Virtual Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing simulative, virtual, 3D media arts 
experiences, products and services, including: environments, structures, objects, architecture and ecologies, 
virtual and augmented reality. Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis; 
construction, development, processing, modeling, simulation and programming of experiences, structures, 
architecture and/or environments; their presentation, transmission, distribution and marketing, as well as 
contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts – Multimedia Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing media arts experiences, products and 
services that combine imagery, text, sound, motion, interactivity and/or virtuality into a unified presentation. 
Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis; composition, development, 
processing and programming of combined physical, interactive and virtual experiences and environments; 
their presentation, transmission, distribution and marketing; as well as contextual, cultural, and historical 
aspects and considerations.   
 
Media Arts – Intermedia Design 
The creative and conceptual aspects of designing and producing inter-disciplinary media arts, intermedia 
and/or transmedia, that merges mediums in diverse combinations and emerging hybrids. Typical course 
topics include: aesthetic meaning, appreciation and analysis; construction, development, processing, 
modeling, simulation and programming of blended physical, interactive, multimedia and virtual experiences 
and/or environments across arts forms, platforms, mediums and technologies; their presentation, 
transmission, distribution and marketing; as well as contextual, cultural, and historical aspects and 
considerations.   
 
Media Arts - Media Arts Theory 
This course covers the conceptual, social and philosophical aspects of the variety, purposes and nature of 
media arts. Typical course topics include: aesthetic meaning; appreciation and analysis of the range of media 
art experiences, styles, genres and forms; limited experience in its production tools, methods and processes; 
the role of media technologies in society and their co-evolution, and contemporary multi-literacies of 
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information, media and digital environments. 
 
Media Arts – Independent Study 
Independent Study courses focus on a specific area of emphasis within Media Arts.  These courses are often 
conducted with instructors or professional artists as mentors, and enable students to independently explore 
specific work of their choice, from the range of forms such as moving image, animation, digital sound, 
virtual design, intermedia, creating a demo reel, etc.  Independent Study courses may serve as an opportunity 
for students to expand their expertise in a particular form or style, to explore a topic in greater detail, or to 
develop more advanced skills. 
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NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 4000/1 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA CONSTITUTION/BYLAWS LEGAL REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Significant changes in the nonprofit community are underway with the January 2012 release of revisions 
to the District of Columbia Nonprofit Corporation Act (the “Act”).  Many organizations, including NAEA, 
were incorporated in the District of Columbia upon their launch given the favorable corporation laws 
offered in DC.  In 2012, the Act was revised to further enhance corporate transparency, encourage 
streamlining of corporate documents, acknowledge and accommodate 21

st
 Century forms of 

communication and doing business, and authorize new forms of governance.   
 
Implementation of the revised Act provided the opportunity for NAEA legal counsel to review NAEA’s 
governing documents including the Articles of Incorporation, Constitution, and Bylaws through a new 
“lens” to ensure that NAEA remains in compliance with applicable statues.   
 
While NAEA’s governing documents are in material compliance with the Act, our legal counsel provided 
guidance for actions to further strengthen NAEA’s compliance with the Act. The following items are 
provided for the Board’s consideration and action with the first item requiring priority attention:  
 
Definition of Quorum   
 
Background 
As detailed in the attached memorandum from Venable, one revision in the Act recasts the minimum 
thresholds for achieving quorums that are necessary for action (for example, votes captured in Board 
elections, votes to amend the Constitution/Bylaws, and votes at Delegates Assembly).   NAEA’s 
Constitution and Bylaws do not define a minimum threshold for a quorum.  Without a defined threshold, 
organizations are subjected to the thresholds of quorum as defined in the new DC Nonprofit Corporation 
Act: a majority of votes entitled to be cast.  To meet the DC Nonprofit Corporation Act’s threshold would 
require NAEA to earn the majority of votes equaling 51% of eligible voters. NAEA’s typical member voter 
response, consistent with voting trends among professional membership associations, is less than 7% - 
far from the 51% required under the new statutes unless NAEA sets minimum quorum thresholds. 
  
To ensure that issues and elections put forth to the NAEA members and/or Delegates Assembly can 
withstand a potential legal challenge to the validity of the action taken, legal counsel recommends that 
NAEA take action to amend the Bylaws by designating a five percent minimum threshold for votes by the 
membership and majority minimum threshold for votes by registered Delegates of the Assembly.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: NAEA amend the Bylaws to designate quorum thresholds for voting to meet the 
District of Columbia nonprofit Corporation Act as follows:  
 
ARTICLE XI – VOTING    

SECTION 2. Quorum.  Five percent (5%) of the members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum 
for action on any matter submitted to a vote of the membership. A majority of the Delegates 
Assembly shall constitute a quorum for action on any matter submitted to a vote of the Delegates 
Assembly.  Neither the membership nor the Delegates Assembly may take action on a matter 
unless a quorum exists with respect to that matter. 
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Other Considerations 
 
NAEA legal counsel noted the following general suggestions for the Board’s consideration and possible 
actions that (1) further promote compliance with procedural requirements in the Act and (2) streamline the 
association’s governing documents.  Please keep in mind that NAEA remains in compliance with the 
revised Act and the following recommendations are presented for consideration but are not required: 
 

1. Consolidation of Constitution and Bylaws:  The Act makes no reference to an organization’s 
Constitution.  Without specific reference to the distinctions between an organization’s Constitution 
and Bylaws, the Act’s provisions are applicable to both governing documents.  A challenge could 
arise in areas where the Constitution and Bylaws conflict with one another. The two documents 
are aligned and not in conflict. 
 

2. Officers:  The Act requires that a corporation have at least one officer responsible for 
management (NAEA President), one officer to oversee finances (NAEA Past-President), and a 
third officer responsible as secretary.  While NAEA secretary duties may be affirmed through a 
Board resolution, the association may consider assigning secretary duties through the Bylaws. 
Assigning the president-elect as secretary is in keeping with the responsibilities designated 
among NAEA Officers (President, Past-President and President-elect). 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  NAEA take action to amend the Bylaws as follows to designate the President-
Elect as Secretary:   
 
ARTICLE I - DUTIES OF THE NAEA BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Section 2:  PRESIDENT-ELECT  It shall be the duty of the President-Elect to assume the duties of 
the President in the event of absence or vacancy in that office; to be an ex officio member of the 
Delegates Assembly; Chair Professional Materials Committee; and to assume THE DUTIES OF 
SECRETARY AND  other duties as determined by the President. 

   
3. Board Committees:  The Act imposes special requirements that govern Board Committees.  

While NAEA’s Executive and Finance Committees comply in practice with the Act’s 
provisions, NAEA may consider explicitly stating the Committee’s duties in the Bylaws. To be 
reviewed and presented to the Board for consideration and action spring 2013.   

 
4. Member Voting by Ballot: Procedures: The Act includes specific procedural requirements for 

ballot voting by members.  For example, the corporation must deliver a ballot to every 
member entitled to vote, and the ballot must provide an opportunity to vote for, against, or 
withhold a vote as well as include the number of responses needed to meet the quorum.  
Counsel suggests this may be addressed through NAEA policy pertaining to member voting 
procedures. To be reviewed and suggested policy language presented to the Board for 
consideration and action spring 2013.   

 
5. Member Voting by Ballot:  Ballots:  NAEA’s Constitution authorizes the use of email or other 

form of electronic balloting in connection with Elections (Article V, Section 3) and 
Amendments (Article IX).  For consistency, NAEA may wish to add language in the Bylaws to 
address electronic balloting. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  NAEA take action to amend the Bylaws, to authorize electronic balloting 
consistent with the Constitution, Article IX, as follows: 
 
ARTICLE XI – VOTING    

Section 2. BALLOTS Votes may be cast by electronic mail ballot or other authorized means of 
electronic transmission.  
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6. 501(c)(3) Language:  Article VIII of NAEA’s Constitution duplicates language from NAEA’s 
Articles of Incorporation, which provides that the organization will not engage in activities 
inconsistent with 501(c)(3) exempt status.  The IRS requires this language to be in the 
organization’s Articles of Incorporation, but it is not necessary to include it in the Bylaws as 
well.  NAEA may wish to delete Article VIII in its entirety for purposes of avoiding 
unnecessary duplication and streamlining the governing documents. 
The Board might consider leaving the language as is since members often review the 
Constitution/Bylaws but few review the Articles of Incorporation. 

 
7. Insurance and Limitation on Liability for Volunteers:  The Act requires that corporations 

maintain a minimum level of liability insurance:  not less than $200,000 per individual claim 
and $500,000 per total claims.  NAEA may consider explicitly stating these limits in the NAEA 
Bylaws to ensure that the organization remains aware of the minimum levels of coverage.  
Alternatively, NAEA may address the minimum limits in the NAEA policy manual.  NAEA’s 
liability coverage provides $1,000,000 per individual claim and $2,000,000 per total claim. To 
be reviewed and suggested policy language presented to the Board that addresses insurance 
and limitation on liability for volunteers for consideration and action spring 2013.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S): The Board review and consider the following actions toward amending 
the Bylaws (Bylaws, ARTICLE IX – AMENDMENTS) 
 
The Bylaws may be amended by majority vote of the Delegates Assembly provided that a proposed 
amendment has been previously approved by the NAEA Board at a regular NAEA Board meeting and 
that copies have been sent to all members of the Delegates Assembly thirty days (30) in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

1. Motion to amend the Bylaws as presented to designate the President-Elect as Secretary:   
 

ARTICLE I - DUTIES OF THE NAEA BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

Section 2:  PRESIDENT-ELECT  It shall be the duty of the President-Elect to assume the duties 
of the President in the event of absence or vacancy in that office; to be an ex officio member 
of the Delegates Assembly; Chair Professional Materials Committee; and to assume THE 
DUTIES OF SECRETARY AND  other duties as determined by the President. 

 
2. Motion to amend the Bylaws as presented to authorize electronic balloting consistent with the 

Constitution, Article IX [Adding a new Article]: 
 
ARTICLE XI – VOTING    

Section 1. BALLOTS Votes may be cast by electronic mail ballot or other authorized 
means of electronic transmission.  

3. Motion to amend the Bylaws as presented to designate quorum thresholds for voting to meet the 
District of Columbia Nonprofit Corporation Act [Adding a new Article]::  

 
ARTICLE XI – VOTING    

SECTION 2. Quorum.  Five percent (5%) of the members entitled to vote shall constitute a 
quorum for action on any matter submitted to a vote of the membership. A majority of the 
Delegates Assembly shall constitute a quorum for action on any matter submitted to a vote of 
the Delegates Assembly.  Neither the membership nor the Delegates Assembly may take 
action on a matter unless a quorum exists with respect to that matter. 
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*Contingent upon Board action, those amendments approved by the Board will be included in 2013 
Delegates Assembly materials for review and action by Delegates during the 2013 Delegates Assembly.   
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National Art Education Association Constitution and Bylaws 
Adopted 1995, Revised 2010 

 
 

PREAMBLE TO THE CONSTITUTION 
 The National Art Education Association through its Constitution sets forth the means by which the 
aspirations of those responsible for programs of art education can be supported and extended. 
 As an organization, we affirm our faith in the power of the visual arts to enrich the lives and endeavors 
of humankind.  In a highly technological society such as ours, the visual arts serve as a humanizing force, 
giving dignity and a sense of worth to the individual.  They provide the means by which aesthetic quality 
and order are derived from the exercise of an individual's creativity and critical understanding. 
 It is our purpose to promote and maintain the highest possible quality of instruction in visual arts 
programs under whatever auspices they are fostered. 
 It shall be our intent to communicate our belief to the organized teaching profession and to the 
community-at-large, to strengthen the position of the visual arts as a discipline in the schools, and to 
affect positively the role of art education in the culture. 
 We dedicate ourselves to aesthetic and humanistic growth and quality performance in art.  With these 
as our goals, we support visual arts and humanities programs that provide depth and breadth of 
experience in art in order to meet the needs, interests, and abilities of the varied individuals we teach. 
 

THE CONSTITUTION 
ARTICLE I - NAME  The organization shall be known as the National Art Education Association. 
 
ARTICLE II - PURPOSES  The purpose of the Association is to promote art education through 
professional development, service, advancement of knowledge, and leadership.  To that end, the 
Association will:  promote quality instruction in visual arts education conducted by certified teachers of art; 
to that end the association will encourage research in art education; hold public discussions; sponsor 
institutes, conferences, and programs; publish articles, reports, and surveys; and work with other related 
agencies in support of art education.  Since the mission of the Association is to be a non-profit education 
organization, it shall only engage in activities consistent with its status as defined in Section 501 (c) (3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or any successor provision thereto. 
 
ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP  Individuals interested in, or engaged in activities concerned with, or related 
to art, art education, or education are eligible for membership. 
 
ARTICLE IV - ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE 
Section l:  ORGANIZATION  The NAEA shall be organized to include national officers, a Board of 
Directors, an Executive Committee, Regional Officers, a Delegates Assembly, Divisions, Affiliated 
Groups. 
 
Section 2:  NATIONAL OFFICERS  The officers of the National Art Education Association shall be a 
President, President-Elect, and Past President. 
 
Section 3:  TERMS OF OFFICE  The term of office of all NAEA Board members will be for two years.  No 
Board member shall simultaneously hold more than one office nor succeed him or herself. 
 
Section 4:  BOARD OF DIRECTORS  The Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as NAEA Board, 
shall be composed of the President, President-Elect, Past President, Regional Vice Presidents, the 
Divisional Directors, and the Executive Director (ex officio without vote).  Two-thirds of the members of 
the NAEA Board shall constitute a quorum.  The NAEA Board shall be the executive authority of the 
Association.  The President shall serve as Chair of the Board and of the Executive Committee. 
 
Section 5:  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  The Executive Committee shall be composed of the President, 
President-Elect, Past President, one Vice President and one Division Director elected from the NAEA 
Board, and the Executive Director (ex officio without vote). 
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Section 6:  REGIONS  A region shall be composed of a group of States/Provinces as recommended by 
the Delegates Assembly and approved by the NAEA Board.  Each region shall have a Vice President, 
Vice President-Elect, and Regional Directors of Divisions. 
 
Section 7:  DIVISIONS  Divisions shall be made up of job-alike groups of the membership.  These shall 
be the Division of Elementary Education, the Division of Middle Level Education, the Division of 
Secondary Education, the Division of Higher Education, the Division of Supervision  and Administration, 
the Division of Museum Education.  Each Division shall have a National Director, National Director-Elect, 
Regional Directors and Regional Directors-Elect. 
 
Section 8:  DELEGATES ASSEMBLY  Delegates Assembly shall be composed of the presidents or 
elected representatives of each state/province art education association.  Operational procedures shall be 
determined by the Assembly.  Affiliated group representation, without vote, may be accommodated in the 
Delegates Assembly.  The Delegates Assembly shall be a recommending body for legislative and policy 
matters for the Association.   
 
Section 9:  AFFILIATE AND ISSUES GROUPS  Organizations that have a structure separate from the 
NAEA will be called “Affiliates.”  Groups within the NAEA which provide interaction among those NAEA 
members of like concerns and encourage the Delegates Assembly and the membership-at-large to 
consider their issues will be called “Issues Groups.” 
 
ARTICLE V - ELECTIONS 
Section l:  ELECTION OF OFFICERS  Elections for the President-Elect and NAEA Division Directors-
Elect shall be held in odd-numbered years, and for Regional Vice Presidents-Elect in even-numbered 
years.  Candidates for office in the NAEA must be members in good standing who have held active 
membership in the Association during the past two previous biennium.  A majority of the votes cast is 
required for election. 
 In the event of vacancy in any office of the Association, officers-elect shall assume the duties of the 
vacated office and the President may appoint, with the approval of the NAEA Board, an interim officer to 
fill the officer-elect vacancy until a new election can take place.  In the event of a vacancy in the office of 
Past President, the President shall appoint an interim Finance Chair from the ranks of previous NAEA 
Presidents, with approval of the NAEA Board. 
 
Section 2:  NOMINATING COMMITTEE  In even numbered years, at least six months prior to an election, 
the NAEA Board shall appoint a nominating committee composed of one member from each of the 
Regions, one member from each Division, two members of the Delegates Assembly, and one member-at-
large who shall serve as Chair.  The committee shall prepare a slate of two candidates for the office of 
President-Elect and two candidates for each Division Director-Elect. 
 In odd numbered years, at least six months prior to the election of the Regional Vice Presidents-Elect, 
the Regional Vice Presidents shall recommend a nominating committee composed of one representative 
from each Region.  The NAEA Board will ratify the committee and designate the Chair.  The committee 
shall prepare a slate of two candidates for each Vice President-Elect.  Each candidate shall have served 
in the Delegates Assembly. 
 
Section 3:  VOTING:  Active, Retired Active, Student, Honorary, and Life members of NAEA shall be 
eligible to vote for the President-Elect.  Members of each Region shall be eligible to vote for the Regional 
Vice President-Elect for their own Region.  Members in each Division shall be eligible to vote for the 
NAEA Division Director-Elect in their division.  The election shall be conducted by electronic mail or other 
authorized means of electronic transmission.  Ballots must be distributed by January 15 of the election 
year and must be received by the Elections Clerk within 40 days after that date.  
 
ARTICLE VI - MEETINGS  The NAEA Board, the Delegates Assembly, the Divisions, and the Regions 
shall meet at the annual national convention of the National Art Education Association.  The NAEA Board 
shall meet at regular intervals throughout the year.  Special meetings of the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Committee may be called by the President. 
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ARTICLE VII - STANDING COMMITTEES  The following standing committees are established:  Finance 
Committee and Professional Materials Committee.  The appointment of membership to these committees 
will be as prescribed in the bylaws and the policy manual.  Special committees shall be appointed as 
needed. 
 
Section l:  FINANCE COMMITTEE  A Finance Committee shall be established by the NAEA Board. 
 
Section 2:  PROFESSIONAL MATERIALS COMMITTEE  A Professional Materials Committee shall be 
established by the NAEA Board. 
 
Section 3:  SPECIAL COMMITTEES  Special committees may be appointed by the President, Chair of 
the  Delegates Assembly, Regional Vice Presidents and the Divisional Directors to undertake special 
assignments.  Special committees shall be appointed on an ad hoc basis and shall serve no longer than 
the term for which they were appointed. 
 
ARTICLE VIII - INCOME AND BENEFITS  No part of the net earnings of the Association shall inure to 
the benefit of any member, sponsor, donor, creator, trustee, officer, employee, or without limitation, any 
other private individual, or to the benefit of any corporation, any private individual or any substantial part 
of the activities of which is carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; 
provided, this shall not prevent payment of reasonable compensation for service actually rendered to or 
for the Association in its purposes. 
 Upon dissolution, all of the assets of the Association shall be turned over to such non-profit, tax-
exempt, charitable, scientific, or educational organization exempt from federal income taxation under 
Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or any successor provision thereto as the final 
Board of Directors of the Association shall select. 
 The Association shall not divert any part of its income or corpus to any member, sponsor, donor, 
creator, trustee, officer, or employee; by lending any part of its income or corpus without the receipt of 
adequate security and a reasonable rate of interest; by paying any compensation in excess of reasonable 
allowance for salaries, or other compensation for personal services actually rendered; by making any 
purchase or security of other property for more than adequate consideration for money or money's worth; 
or by engaging in any other transaction which either directly or indirectly results in such diversion of its 
income or corpus.  The Association shall not use any income for purposes other than the objects herein 
before set forth and shall invest income as per established policy.  The Association shall not act in any 
way or engage in any activity which might affect its right to full tax deduction of the members contributions 
to the Association.  The Association shall be so operated as to be entitled to, and receive all tax 
exemptions, federal and local, which from time to time be granted to charitable, scientific, or educational 
associations of foundations. 
 
ARTICLE IX - AMENDMENTS  Any NAEA member may propose an amendment to the NAEA 
Board.  Upon the NAEA Board's determination of the merit of the proposed amendment, it shall be sent to 
the Delegates Assembly for review at its next regularly scheduled meeting.  The Delegates Assembly 
review recommendation will be returned to the NAEA Board within one year after date of receipt.  After 
review and approval by the Board, the proposed amendment shall be published in the next issue of the 
NAEA News for consideration by the membership.  The amendments shall be voted on by the 
membership and the ballot conducted by electronic mail or other authorized means of electronic 
transmission within 30 days of publication in the NAEA News.  Two-thirds of the votes cast is required for 
passage of an amendment.  

 
 

BYLAWS 
Adopted 1995, Revised 2001 

 
ARTICLE I - DUTIES OF THE NAEA BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Section 1:  PRESIDENT  It shall be the duty of the President to preside at all meetings of the NAEA 
Board; to appoint the chair and members of NAEA special committees with consultation and approval of 
the NAEA Board; to serve as ex officio member of all committees; to establish through the NAEA Board 
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the professional goals and programs for the Association; to inform the membership of the activities of the 
NAEA Board and the concerns of the Association; and to perform such other duties as usually pertain to 
the office of the President. 
 
Section 2:  PRESIDENT-ELECT  It shall be the duty of the President-Elect to assume the duties of the 
President in the event of absence or vacancy in that office; to be an ex officio member of the Delegates 
Assembly; Chair Professional Materials Committee; and to assume THE DUTIES OF SECRETARY AND 
other duties as determined by the President. 
 
Section 3:  PAST PRESIDENT  It shall be the duty of the Past President to serve as Chair of the Finance 
Committee and to assume the duties of the President-Elect in the event of vacancy in that office; and 
assume other duties as determined by the President. 
 
Section 4:  REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENTS  It shall be the duty of the Regional Vice Presidents to serve 
on the Board of Directors, and to act as the Coordinating Board of the Delegates Assembly.  The Vice 
Presidents shall name one of their number to preside over the meeting of the Board of Directors when the 
President, the President-Elect and the Past President are unable. 
 
Section 5:  DIVISION DIRECTORS  It shall be the duty of the Division Directors to serve on the Board of 
Directors, to develop the program for the Division including conferences and other professional activities; 
to appoint Regional Division Directors with consultation of the Regional Vice President; and to work with 
the Regional Division Directors in developing a professional program for their Divisions. 
 
Section 6:  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  The Executive Director shall serve as an ex officio member of the 
Board and shall administer the policies of the Association as determined by the Board of Directors. 
 
ARTICLE II - COORDINATING BOARD OF THE DELEGATES ASSEMBLY  The duties of the 
Coordinating Board of the Delegates Assembly shall be determined by the body in accordance with the 
policies of the NAEA. 
 
ARTICLE III - DUTIES OF NAEA BOARD, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF NAEA BOARD, AND 
OFFICERS OF REGIONS, DELEGATES ASSEMBLY, DIVISIONS, AFFILIATED GROUPS, STANDING 
COMMITTEES, AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES 
Section 1:  THE NAEA BOARD  The NAEA Board shall serve as the executive authority of the National 
Art Education Association.  It shall make policies, and provide such supervision as may be necessary to 
promote the best interests of the Association goals and programs.  It shall determine and approve all 
expenditures and present an annual financial report to the membership.  An Executive Director shall be 
employed by the NAEA Board with duties and compensation determined by the NAEA Board.  The NAEA 
Board shall appoint a Program Coordinator for each national convention. 
 
Section 2:  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF NAEA BOARD  The Executive Committee shall have authority 
to represent and to act for the NAEA Board in the interval between meetings of that body.  The Executive 
Committee shall also serve as the Finance Committee. 
 
Section 3:  REGIONS The Regional Vice Presidents and the States/Province Presidents in the Regions 
shall develop a program of Regional activities and programs.  They shall assist in planning conferences 
and other meetings. 
 
Section 4:  DELEGATES ASSEMBLY  The Delegates Assembly shall study and recommend, through 
plans, reports, or resolutions to the NAEA Board, issues pertinent to the membership of the NAEA and 
the profession at large; shall review amendments to the constitution and bylaws and recommend action to 
the NAEA Board; shall review the fiscal responsibility of the membership with recommendations for any 
changes in dues structure to be made to the NAEA Board;  shall serve as the liaison between the NAEA 
Board and the State/Province Associations; shall recommend Regional boundaries or additional Divisions 
for the Association; and review the Association Policy Manual on a regular basis with a biennial report to 
the NAEA Board. 
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Section 5:  DIVISIONS  The recognized Divisions, through their Development Committees, shall study 
problems relating to members of the group the Division represents; shall propose publications, institutes, 
and conferences which will assist members and shall identify problems and recommend programs to 
meet the problems.  Each Division shall have a National Development Committee composed of the 
National Division Director, the Director-Elect and the Regional Division Directors who shall be appointed 
as indicated in the Policy Manual.  The National Division Director shall serve as Chair of the Committee.  
The Director-Elect of each Division shall assume the duties of the Director in the Director's absence or 
when a vacancy occurs. 
 
Section 6:  AFFILIATED AND ISSUES GROUPS  It shall be the purpose of recognized affiliates and 
issues groups to study problems relating to their area of concern; conduct a program of professional 
activities; and their duty to inform the NAEA Board on an annual basis of concerns, needs, and proposals 
relating to their particular interest. 
 
Section 7:  STANDING COMMITTEES 
 a.  Professional Materials Committee—Responsibilities will be found in the Policy Manual. 
 b.  NAEA Board Finance Committee—The Finance Committee shall review the financial operation of 
the Association and prepare the budget for Board approval.  The committee shall consist of the President, 
President-Elect, Past President, Executive Director (ex officio without vote), and one Vice President and 
one Division Director selected by the NAEA Board.  The NAEA Past President shall serve as Chair. The 
Finance Committee shall have the responsibility for insuring that the Executive Director position is filled, 
contract negotiation, and conducting a performance review of and supporting the Executive Director. 
 
Section 8:  SPECIAL COMMITTEES  The NAEA President, Chair of the Delegates Assembly, Regional 
Vice Presidents and the Division Directors may appoint special committees to undertake special 
assignments. 
 
ARTICLE IV - MEMBERSHIP AND DUES 
Section 1:  AMOUNT OF DUES  The dues for all classes of membership in the Association shall be 
determined in accordance with Association published policy. 
 
Section 2:  CLASSES OF MEMBERSHIP  Unless otherwise specified, all classes of membership are for a 
period of one year.  The following classes of membership are established: 
 a.  ACTIVE  For those individuals engaged in the teaching of art, or the direction of programs of art 
education, or in pursuits closely related to the field.  Active membership provides all the privileges of 
membership including the right to vote and hold office. 
 b.  FIRST YEAR PROFESSIONAL  For new graduates entering their first year of teaching art.  
Membership is good for one year only.  First year professional membership provides all privileges of 
Active membership except the right to hold national Association office. 
 c.  ASSOCIATE  For individuals not actively engaged in the teaching of art. Associate membership 
provides all the privileges of membership except the right to vote and hold office. 
 d.  RETIRED ACTIVE  For individuals who have retired and have been a member of the Association for 
a minimum of five (5) years.  Retired Active membership provides all the privileges of Active membership.  
Those individuals in the Retired Active category at the time of the ratification of this revision will be 
grandfathered.  Upon ratification of these bylaws, this criteria becomes effective. 
 e.  STUDENTS  For undergraduate students and full-time graduate students.  Student membership 
provides the privileges of Active membership except the right to hold national office. 
 f.  INSTITUTIONAL  For institutions directly or indirectly involved in art education. Institutional 
membership provides all the privileges of membership except the right to vote or hold office. 
 g.  HONORARY  Honorary memberships may be conferred upon persons who have made some 
outstanding contribution to art education and whose names have been approved by the NAEA Board.  
This membership is conferred for the life of the member and carries full privileges of Active membership 
 h.  LIFE  Life membership is a limited membership category established to be Active between 1972 and 
1975, to recognize members who made significant financial contributions to the Association.  This 
category carries full privileges of Active membership.  (No longer open for enrollment.) 
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ARTICLE V - MANUAL OF POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  The NAEA Board shall adopt and publish 
policies which govern the procedures of the Association.  Material shall be reviewed biennially by the 
Delegates Assembly and the NAEA Board and changes made as deemed necessary. 
 
ARTICLE VI - ADOPTION OF CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS  After presentation of the proposals for 
reorganizations to the membership and upon the majority approval of the votes cast from the current 
NAEA membership eligible to vote, this Constitution and Bylaws become operative immediately. 
 
ARTICLE VII - FISCAL YEAR  The fiscal year will extend from July 1 to June 30. 
 
ARTICLE VIII - RULES OF ORDER  Robert's Rules of Order (revised) shall be the authority on all 
questions of procedure not otherwise covered in the Constitution and Bylaws. 
 
ARTICLE IX - AMENDMENTS  The Bylaws may be amended by majority vote of the Delegates Assembly 
provided that a proposed amendment has been previously approved by the NAEA Board at a regular 
NAEA Board meeting and that copies have been sent to all members of the Delegates Assembly thirty 
days (30) in advance of the meeting. 
 
ARTICLE X - PUBLICATIONS  Published professional journals, periodicals, and other publications must 
satisfy the needs and unique roles of the association membership.  The purposes and procedures for 
each of these publications are found in the Policy Manual. 

 

ARTICLE XI – VOTING 

SECTION 1. BALLOTS.  Votes may be cast by electronic mail ballot or other authorized means of 
electronic transmission. 

SECTION 2. Quorum.  Five percent (5%) of the members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum for 
action on any matter submitted to a vote of the membership. A majority of the Delegates Assembly shall 
constitute a quorum for action on any matter submitted to a vote of the Delegates Assembly.  Neither the 
membership nor the Delegates Assembly may take action on a matter unless a quorum exists with 
respect to that matter. 
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memorandum 
PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL 

 

TO   Melanie Dixon, Chief Operating Officer 
National Art Education Association 
 

DATE 
  

October 11, 2012 

FROM  Janice M. Ryan EMAIL 
  

jryan@venable.com 

CC  George E. Constantine, III 
Jeffrey S. Tenenbaum 
 

PHONE 
  

202.344.4093 

RE   Member Quorum 

  
 Per your request, Venable has reviewed the articles of incorporation, constitution, and bylaws of the 
National Art Education Association (“NAEA”) for compliance with the new District of Columbia Nonprofit 
Corporation Act (the “Act”).  Overall, NAEA’s governing documents are in material compliance with the 
Act. Under separate cover, we have provided comments and general suggestions for NAEA’s 
consideration designed to promote compliance with new procedural requirements of the Act in the near-
term, and to streamline and consolidate the organization’s governing documents where possible in the 
long term.  The suggestions provided do not necessitate immediate revision of NAEA’s governing 
documents, with one exception, which is the subject of this memorandum.  Due to a change to the Act’s 
default provision governing the minimum quorum threshold necessary for member and delegate action, 
we recommend that NAEA consider amending the NAEA bylaws to specify a member quorum of five 
percent of the members eligible to vote, and a delegate quorum of at least ten percent of the delegates 
assembly, as described below.   
 

I. General Legal Framework. 

 NAEA is incorporated under the laws of the District of Columbia. As such, its internal legal affairs are 
governed by District of Columbia law. In 2010, the District of Columbia adopted substantial revisions to its 
business organizations statutes, including the statute governing nonprofit corporations (i.e., the Act).  See 
D.C. Code 29-401.01 et seq.  As a result, a substantially revised Act became applicable to NAEA 
effective January 1, 2012. 
 
 NAEA has three primary governing documents—articles of incorporation, a constitution, and bylaws. 
The articles of incorporation serve as NAEA’s overarching charter document, establishing NAEA as a 
legal entity in the District of Columbia; the provisions of the articles are superseded only by the Act. The 
constitution and bylaws, in turn, lay out the basic rules by which NAEA is governed and operates on a 
day-to-day basis, including the basic governance rules pertaining to the composition and rights of the 
membership, the composition and election of the board of directors and officers, the conduct of meetings 
of the membership and the board, the authorization and establishment of the delegates assembly, 
committees, and similar core governance matters.  
 
 Under the Act, no distinction is made between an organization’s constitution and bylaws. In fact, the 
statute makes no reference to a constitution.  Regardless of the name used, rules adopted which are 
intended to regulate and govern the internal affairs of the corporation and which are in the nature of 
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bylaws are considered to have the legal status of bylaws (i.e., rules other than the articles of incorporation 
or board-adopted policies).  Thus, any of the Act’s provisions applicable to bylaws apply equally to 
NAEA’s constitution and bylaws documents.     
 
 NAEA’s governing documents and operations must at all times remain consistent with the 
requirements of the Act. The Act’s provisions governing how a nonprofit corporation carries out its affairs 
fall into one of the following three categories: (1) mandatory rules, which cannot be altered by the 
corporation; (2) permissive rules, which may be elected by the corporation; and (3) default rules, which 
apply unless the corporation has chosen to provide for a different rule in its articles or bylaws.   
 

II. The Act’s Member Quorum Requirement. 

 Under the Act, members may take action only if a quorum exists with respect to the matter voted 
upon.  See DC Code § 29-405.24.  The Act supplies a default rule for the minimum number of members 
who shall be required to be present for purposes of a quorum.  Unless the corporation specifies a 
different quorum threshold in its governing documents, the Act’s default threshold applies.   
 
 The default threshold for member action also applies to any votes by a delegates assembly, unless 
the corporation specifies a different rule in its governing documents for such votes. See DC Code § 29-
401.02(8); -404.30; -406.12(b).  Note, however, that the quorum thresholds specified by the corporation in 
its governing documents for action by the membership and by the delegates assembly need not be the 
same.  
 
 The default quorum of the new Act is significantly higher than the previous statutory default quorum.  
Effective January 1, 2012, the default quorum necessary for member or delegate action is a majority of 
votes entitled to be cast, whereas previously the default quorum necessary for member or delegate action 
was at least one tenth of the votes entitled to be cast. The new Act does not include an express transition 
or grandfather provision permitting organizations to operate under the previous default quorum threshold 
until such time as they may amend their bylaws to specify a different quorum threshold.  
 
 NAEA’s governing documents do not specify a quorum necessary for member or delegate action; 
they only reference the necessary approval thresholds. For example, Article V, Section 1 of the 
constitution specifies that a majority of votes cast by the members is necessary to elect a candidate, and 
Article IX of the constitution specifies that two thirds of votes cast by the members are necessary to 
approve an amendment to the constitution. Similarly, Article IX of the bylaws specifies that a majority of 
votes cast by the delegates assembly is necessary to approve an amendment to the bylaws. 
 
 Because NAEA’s governing documents do not specify a quorum for member or delegate action, the 
Act’s default quorum applies to all member and delegate votes.  Under the Act’s new, higher default 
quorum threshold, this means that at least a majority of members or delegates entitled to vote on any 
matter must cast votes in order for the member or delegate action to be valid.  Specifically, to amend the 
constitution, NAEA must receive ballots from at least a majority of members entitled to vote on the 
amendment, and two thirds of the votes cast must be cast in favor. Additionally, an individual may be 
elected to an officer position if NAEA receives ballots from at least a majority of members entitled to vote 
in the election, and a majority of the votes cast are cast in favor.    
 

III. Analysis and Recommendation. 

 
A. Amend the NAEA Bylaws to Specify a Member and Delegate Quorum. 

 It will ordinarily be quite challenging for a membership society of NAEA’s size to achieve more than 
fifty percent participation by members eligible to vote.  We understand that it is not uncommon to have 
between six and eight percent of eligible members cast ballots on matters submitted to the NAEA 
membership for a vote. This is not an uncommon rate of participation for membership votes among 
membership societies generally; however, it would be insufficient participation to meet even the previous 
statutory default quorum of ten percent.    
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 In order to ensure that matters submitted to NAEA members or delegates can withstand a potential 
legal challenge to the validity of the action taken, we recommend adding specific member quorum and 
delegate quorum provisions to the NAEA bylaws.  We recommend choosing a quorum threshold for each 
body that is both reasonable and achievable.  The quorum should be sufficiently high to ensure that 
important decisions are not made by too few of the membership or delegates assembly, yet should not be 
set so high as to make it effectively impossible for the membership or delegates assembly to take action.   
 
 The Act’s previous default quorum of ten percent is a commonly-used threshold for member action, 
though many organizations choose a lower threshold, and any threshold the organization chooses to 
specify in its bylaws is legally permissible.  Based on historical rates of participation by NAEA members in 
matters submitted to the membership for a vote, we would recommend choosing a quorum threshold of 
five percent of eligible voters.  A higher quorum threshold—at least ten percent and perhaps as high as a 
majority—would be appropriate for the delegates assembly given its relatively smaller make-up and 
greater rate of participation by delegates in matters submitted to the assembly for its consideration and 
approval. 
 

B. Procedure for Amending the NAEA Bylaws. 

 According to Article IX of the NAEA bylaws, the bylaws may be amended by majority vote of the 
delegates assembly, provided that the proposed amendment is first approved by the NAEA board of 
directors at a regular NAEA board meeting, and that copies of the proposed amendment are distributed to 
all members of the delegates assembly thirty days in advance of the meeting.  We recommend 
conducting the vote on the proposed bylaws amendments according to the Act’s new default quorum, 
assuming it is reasonably achievable to have at least a majority of the delegates assembly participate in 
the vote.  
 

C. Carrying out Membership and Delegates Assembly Votes Prior to Amending the 

Bylaws. 

 Before the bylaws are amended, there is some risk that a membership vote held in the meantime 
could be challenged as legally invalid if participation by at least a majority of the members entitled to vote 
is not achieved in accordance with the Act’s current default quorum requirement.  Persons who might be 
entitled to bring such a challenge could include directors, officers or members dissatisfied with a particular 
outcome of such a vote.   
 
 To the extent that any such vote is uncontroversial or involves an uncontested election, the risk of 
legal challenge is likely minimal.  Additionally, an ambiguous clause of the Act’s provision on action by 
ballot may provide the basis for a potential argument that a quorum is not necessary for director elections 
conducted by ballot, rather than at a meeting.  See DC Code § 29-405.09(c) (providing that action by 
members on matters other than director elections is valid only if the number of ballots cast is at least 
equal to the quorum required to be present at a meeting); but see DC Code § 29-405.27 (requiring a 
quorum for director elections).  To the extent any challenge to a director election is raised, NAEA may be 
able to point to this clause in support of its claim that the action was validly taken notwithstanding the 
Act’s new and higher default quorum. 

1
 

 
 Assuming the risk of legal challenge is minimal, proceeding with elections in the manner conducted 
by the organization to-date—even if majority participation is unachievable—is likely preferable to 
disrupting the organization’s ordinary election schedule.  However, we recommend conducting votes 
according to the Act’s new default quorum to the extent that majority participation in a vote of the 
membership or delegates assembly is reasonably achievable before the bylaws can be amended. 
 

*  *  * 

                                            
1
 Given its ambiguity, however, we do not recommend relying on this clause for purposes of compliance with the Act’s 

requirements going forward. 
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E      
NAEA Board of Directors Item Number: 4000/2 
 
 
ITEM:  NAEA INTERIM HEADQUARTERS LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 Information  Discussion  Action 
 
BACKGROUND: 

In follow up to the July Board of Directors meeting – and in response to NAfME’s proposed lease renewal 
rates for NAEA’s interim headquarters in Reston, Virginia, - NAEA staff successfully negotiated more 
favorable rates that are reasonable and in alignment with the marketplace.  

As you may recall, NAfME originally proposed an 11% increase in NAEA’s lease rate. The revised 
renewal rates, for the Committee’s consideration, however provide for a modestly planned increase for 
each of the upcoming three years: 

Period Cost Per Sq Foot Increase % Monthly Rent Difference 

Current $18.00  $5,021.25  

Aug. 12 – Jul. 13 $18.63 3.5% $5,197.77 $176.52/month 

Aug. 13 – Jul. 14 $19.37 4.0% $5,406.17 $208.39/month 

Aug. 14 – Jul. 15 $20.24 4.5% $5,649.08 $249.91/month 

In conversation with the real estate broker that assisted with the sale of NAEA’s former Headquarters 
building, current rates in Reston for comparable space range from $22 - $24/per square foot. The 
completion of a nearby Metro station (a leading component of Washington, DC’s public transportation 
systems) in 2013, is expected to further increase rental rates in Reston. Based on market data and 
projected trends – and in response to the favorable re-negotiated rates from NAfME, NAEA staff 
recommends Committee approval to execute the NAfME Lease Agreement addendum, as outlined 
above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Ratification to approve the Interim Headquarters Lease Agreement (as included 
in the Consent Agenda). 
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